## The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence

**Edited by** Stefania Cella, Paolo Cotrufo and Le Breton David

**Published in** Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Pediatrics





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-1183-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-1183-1

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

## Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

## What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence

## **Topic editors**

Stefania Cella — University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Paolo Cotrufo — University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Le Breton David — Université de Strasbourg, France

## Citation

Cella, S., Cotrufo, P., David, L. B., eds. (2023). *The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-1183-1

## 🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

# Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence Stefania Cella and Paolo Cotrufo
- 06 Relationship Between Weight Status and Self-Image Mediated by Pubertal Timing and Athletic Competence: A Cohort Study With Taiwanese Adolescents Jen-Hao Kuo, Josue Jaru Ubeda Herrera, Chia-Yi Liu, Ting-Hsuan Lee, Carol Strong, Chung-Ying Lin, Yun-Hsuan Chang, Yi-Ching Lin, Yi-Ping Hsieh and Meng-Che Tsai
- 14 Stressful life events and non-suicidal self-injury among Chinese adolescents: A moderated mediation model of depression and resilience Chang Wei, Zhiyong Li, Tao Ma, Xiaxia Jiang, Chengfu Yu and Qian Xu
- 23 Generation COVID-19 and bodily disorders: Hyperbolic narratives and a developmental psychopathology perspective Alessandra D'Agostino, Emanuela Saveria Gritti and Chiara Gagliardi
- 30 Tattoo discrimination in Mexico motivates interest in tattoo removal among structurally vulnerable adults Victoria D. Ojeda, Christopher Magana, Omar Shalakhti, Adriana Carolina Vargas-Ojeda and Jose Luis Burgos
- 41 The relationship between negative life events and quality of life in adolescents: Mediated by resilience and social support Yinshuang Tang, Yingjie Ma, Jinglin Zhang and Hong Wang
- 50 Body mass index and quality of life in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome: Dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders as mediators

Nadia Barberis, Danilo Calaresi, Marco Cannavò and Valeria Verrastro

60 Symptom association between social anxiety disorder, appearance anxiety, and eating disorders among Chinese University students: A network analysis to conceptualize comorbidity

> Yu Jin, Shicun Xu, Chang Chen, Amanda Wilson, Desheng Gao, Yan Ji, Xi Sun and Yuanyuan Wang

72 Association between subjective degree of influence in class and thinness among adolescents in Japan Nanako Ishikawa, Yuna Koyama, Satomi Doi, Aya Isumi and Takeo Fujiwara

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Wulf Rössler, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

\*CORRESPONDENCE Paolo Cotrufo ⊠ paolo.cotrufo@unicampania.it

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 19 January 2023 ACCEPTED 23 January 2023 PUBLISHED 09 February 2023

#### CITATION

Cella S and Cotrufo P (2023) Editorial: The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence. *Front. Public Health* 11:1148279. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1148279

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Cella and Cotrufo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Editorial: The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence

#### Stefania Cella and Paolo Cotrufo\*

Observatory on Eating Disorders, Department of Psychology, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Caserta, Italy

#### KEYWORDS

body-focused disorders, anorexia, NSSI, self-image, tattooing, social insecurity

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

The importance of the body-mind relationship in mental functioning and development of body-focused disorders in adolescence

The interest in the body as a theater representing the psychic scene had changed. Bodies emaciated, obese, cut, burned, mutilated; hyper-tattooed bodies, pierced everywhere, naked or in disguise; Marvel superhero bodies, giants of muscles trained daily, surgically modified bodies, unrecognizable faces that end up resembling each other because they are children of the same plastic surgeon; physically young older people and the huge anti-aging cosmetics industry. The body that in the last 50 years has become the bearer of the symptom appears as a concrete body, no longer an expression of psychological symbolism, now seems to represent the subjectivity of those who inhabit it concretely. It seems that the body must be modified in symptoms and fashion trends to adapt to the needs of subjectification of individuals. The papers on body-focused disorders that you will find in this special issue probably refer to a further change in body-mind relation. After all, these are "problems" of the body which are nevertheless determined by people's conscious choices, especially adolescents. The voluntary malnutrition that we observe in anorexia, the binge eating and self-induced vomiting in bulimia, the selfcutting in non-suicidal self-injuries (NSSI), the choice of hyper-tattooing the body, together with the addiction to cosmetic surgery or body-building, seem to be the new ways to express a psychological discomfort through a sort of omnipotent control over one's body. The body turns out to be disciplined, it must submit to the will of a psychism and an idea of itself that finds self-expression in manipulating the body and its image. The problem of the appearance of our body seems to have become of extreme importance at different levels, it affects all of us.

This Research Topic focuses on the mind-body relationship, comprising a prospective study and seven empirical papers.

Wei et al. recruited 643 Chinese adolescents and found that depression mediates the relationship between stressful life events and non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI). Moreover, resilience was found to moderate such a pathway: the adverse impact of stressful life events on NSSI through depression was weaker in adolescents with higher levels of resilience. These findings echo the importance of the emotion regulation processes, suggesting new directions for intervention and prevention.

Kuo et al. utilized a longitudinal cohort of adolescents [i.e., Taiwan Youth Project (1)] to investigate the relationship between weight status and self-image. The cross-sectional analysis demonstrated that those with a higher BMI were more likely to report a lower level of self-image. Moreover, pubertal timing and athletic performance significantly mediate the pathway from weight status and self-image among females, whilst only athletic competence mediated such association within males. The longitudinal association showed that males' BMI and athletic competence at baseline significantly predicted self-image at 9-years follow-up, while only BMI at baseline was predictive of long-term self-image among females. Such a pattern of results suggests the crucial role of pubertal development in the mind-body linkage, highlighting the role of masculine and feminine sex-role ideals in constructing self-image.

Using a mixed-method design, Ojeda et al. collected data from 278 tattooed Mexican adults attending a free healthcare clinic in Tijuana's Zona Norte to assess tattoo removal motives among economically disadvantaged individuals. Overall, 69% of participants were interested in undergoing free tattoo removal services due to their appearance consequences, such as employment barriers, stigmatization, and discrimination. Also, having tattoos negatively impacted participants' mental health, contributing to feelings of discomfort and shame. Findings shed light on the body perception within a sample of structurally vulnerable adults and its impact on wellbeing, and social and work functioning.

Also, concerns about physical appearance have a negative impact on quality of life (QoL) among women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS; n = 435). Barberis et al. showed the mediating role of dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptoms in the relationship between BMI and QoL. Therefore, such results highlight the potential importance of harmful relationships with one's own body and food, explaining why weight issues may be linked to different levels of QoL in PCOS individuals.

In their cross-sectional study, Ishikawa et al. used a large sample of adolescents (n = 9.998) to investigate the association between the subjective degree of influence (DOI) and thinness. Results showed that DOI was associated with the risk of being thin during adolescence, which is one of the main risk factors for eating disorders.

Using a network analysis approach, Jin et al. investigated the association between social anxiety disorder (SAD), appearance anxiety, and eating disorders (ED) in a sample of Chinese university students. Results demonstrated that appearance anxiety was associated with both ED and SAD, although showing different patterns of associations across genders. These findings provide preliminary evidence to guide the formation of body-positive interventions for young people. Tang et al. carried out an in-depth study of adolescents' QoL. Findings demonstrated that negative life events were negatively related to QoL. However, resilience and social support weakened and reduced the adverse effects of negative life events on adolescents, mediating the pathway. Therefore, health intervention should address these factors during adolescence, as a period characterized by the tendency for increased exposure to adverse life events and a gradual decline in QoL satisfaction.

In the perspective study by D'Agostino et al., the authors emphasize the body's function for the adolescent as a primary means for the regulation of the self-other relationship and the development of a greater sense of self-agency. Although scientific studies have highlighted an increase in body disorders (e.g., non-suicidal self-injury and eating disorders) among adolescents during the pandemic, results should be interpreted with caution. Overestimating the associaTion between bodily disorders and the pandemic risks obscuring the complex network of factors involved in such relationships. Consequently, they concluded that there is a need to conceptualize such disturbances from a developmental psychopathological perspective.

We hope that the reader will find in this Research Topic a useful reference to a better and broader understanding of the importance of the body in mental functioning and body-focused disorders (i.e., eating disorders, non-suicidal self-injury).

## Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Tsai MC, Strong C, Lin CY. Effects of pubertal timing on deviant behaviors in Taiwan: a longitudinal analysis of 7th- to 12th-grade

adolescents. J Adolesc. (2015) 42:87–97. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2015. 03.016



## Relationship Between Weight Status and Self-Image Mediated by Pubertal Timing and Athletic Competence: A Cohort Study With Taiwanese Adolescents

Jen-Hao Kuo<sup>1</sup>, Josue Jaru Ubeda Herrera<sup>2,3</sup>, Chia-Yi Liu<sup>1</sup>, Ting-Hsuan Lee<sup>1</sup>, Carol Strong<sup>4</sup>, Chung-Ying Lin<sup>5</sup>, Yun-Hsuan Chang<sup>6,7,8,9</sup>, Yi-Ching Lin<sup>10</sup>, Yi-Ping Hsieh<sup>11</sup> and Meng-Che Tsai<sup>3,12\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Medicine, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Business Administration, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pediatrics, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> Department of Public Health, National Cheng Kung University Hospital, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>6</sup> Institute of Allied Health Sciences, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>6</sup> Institute of Genomics and Bioinformatics, College of Life Sciences, National Chung Hsin University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>7</sup> Health and Counseling Center, National Chung Hsing University, Taichung, Taiwan, <sup>8</sup> Institute of Gerontology, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup> Institute of Behavioral Medicine, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan, <sup>10</sup> Department of Early Childhood and Family Education, College of Education, National Taipei University of Education, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>11</sup> Department of Social Work, College of Nursing and Professional Disciplines, University of North Dakota, Grand Forks, ND, United States, <sup>12</sup> Department of Medical Humanities and Social Medicine, College of Medicine, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Annarosa Cipriano, Second University of Naples, Italy Muhammad Yazid Jalaludin, University of Malaya, Malaysia

> \*Correspondence: Meng-Che Tsai ache93@yahoo.com.tw

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 06 March 2022 Accepted: 23 May 2022 Published: 22 July 2022

#### Citation:

Kuo J-H, Ubeda Herrera JJ, Liu C-Y, Lee T-H, Strong C, Lin C-Y, Chang Y-H, Lin Y-C, Hsieh Y-P and Tsai M-C (2022) Relationship Between Weight Status and Self-Image Mediated by Pubertal Timing and Athletic Competence: A Cohort Study With Taiwanese Adolescents. Front. Public Health 10:890751. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.890751 **Background:** Self-image reflects overall self-acceptance in developing adolescents. Using a representative cohort of Taiwanese youth, this study aims to explore the relationship between weight status, pubertal timing, athletic competence, and adolescent self-image.

**Methods:** Data come from the Taiwan Youth Project that comprised a longitudinal cohort of adolescents (N = 2690, 51% males, Mage =  $13.3 \pm 0.5$  years) surveyed annually from seventh grade. Self-image was measured by perceived satisfaction with appearance and physique. Weight status was proxied by self-reported body mass index (BMI; kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Pubertal timing was defined using the Pubertal Developmental Scale, which mainly measured physical changes in puberty. Athletic competence was assessed by experiences with participation in competitive sports and self-perceived talent for sports. Linear regression analysis was applied to test for an association between BMI and self-image. In order to test for mediating roles of pubertal timing and athletic competence, Hayes' PROCESS macro on SPSS was conducted applying 5,000 bootstrap resamples with 95% confidence intervals of the indirect effect.

**Results:** BMI was inversely associated with self-image in both males ( $\beta = -0.074$ , [-0.095, -0.053]) and females ( $\beta = -0.095$ , [-0.122, -0.069]). The boot-strapped 95% confidence intervals indicated statistically significant mediating effects of pubertal timing ( $\beta = -0.008$ , [-0.015, -0.001]) and athletic competence ( $\beta = -0.006$ , [-0.011, -0.002]) in the link between BMI and self-image in females, whilst only athletic

6

competence mediated this association ( $\beta = -0.006$ , [-0.009, -0.002]) in males. Moreover, BMI at baseline were also associated with long-term self-image in males ( $\beta = -0.037$ , [-0.057, -0.017]) and females ( $\beta = 0.132$ , [0.073, 0.190]).

**Conclusions:** Understanding the mediating factors may help enhance adolescents' self-image by providing guidance on healthy weight and physical activity behaviors according to different stages of pubertal progression.

Keywords: self-image, body image, weight status, pubertal timing, athletic performance

## INTRODUCTION

Self-image lies on a continuum from a favorable and positive subjective perception to an unfavorable and negative subjective perception of oneself, which comes from a phenomenological organization of individual experiences and ideas in all aspects of self-influence (1). Self-image is practically determined by one's perceived appearance, physique, and the importance of the appearance and physique associated with one's performance within social groups (2). Particularly during adolescence, physical appearance is crucial to the perceptual self-image (3), and adolescents experience the process of transformation of old selfimages with new ones, which involves the adaptability of the individual reorganization (4). Therefore, a positive self-image is correlated with more adaptive adolescents who are easier to internalize the new personal construct, while a negative selfimage is in connection with less adaptive adolescents who face the difficulties of restructuring, resulting in the risk of personal dissonance and intrapersonal conflicts (5). More specifically, selfimage is considered a vital driver of prosocial behavior and an essential indicator of health status (6), because of its relevance to depressive symptoms (7), suicidal ideation (8), eating disorders (9), and substance use disorders (10).

Puberty is usually marked by sexual maturation and physical growth that may have relevance to psychosocial adaptations during adolescence. Previous studies have shown early puberty to be associated with negative impacts on self-image in both males and females (11-13). Especially in female adolescents, poor selfimage is potentially related to external manifestations resulting from early sexual maturation (14). They may be concerned about their physical selves due to cultural expectations for physical attractiveness at the age of initiating dating (15). Besides the cultural perspective on perceptual body image, pubertal hormones interact with the neurocognitive changes related to the social emotion region of the brain (16). Therefore, once the biological changes initiated by pubertal hormones are perceived, adolescents may adjust their body shape to keep up with social standards of high muscle mass and slenderness for boys and girls, respectively (17). That being said from a biobehavioral perspective, the pursuance of an ideal body shape may diverge because of different hormonal actions in females and males, as boys might work out for an ideal muscle and girls might chase or keep up with a slender body shape under social pressures (18). In addition, weight status proxied by the body mass index (BMI) has also been proven to be associated with self-image (19). An increase in BMI typically predicts dissatisfaction with one's body, and this correlation may become more manifested as children become adolescents during pubertal growth (20). Although the impacts of pubertal timing and weight status on adolescent self-image are usually discussed independently, these two predictors are physiologically intertwined potentially due to the interaction between the adipokines (e.g., leptin) and the kisspeptin systems (21). Particular pubescent transformations, including early pubertal timing and high BMI, have been found to be correlated in growing adolescents and result in worse self-reported health (22). Given a well-established link between obesity and early pubertal timing, whether this link suggests the mediating role of pubertal timing in the association between weight status and self-image may require more research to prove.

Moreover, athletic competence is another salient factor when adolescent self-image is concerned. Pubertal development and weight status at the same time have strong implications on athletic competence during adolescence (23). It has been observed that variations in maturity influence athletic competence (24). Youths who are experts in sports tend to have more rapid and advanced sexual maturation as compared with the general population (25). Gender differences have also been noted in this relationship in that early-maturing boys tend to have higher muscular strength than late-maturing boys at all ages between 11 and 17 years, while early-maturing girls may perform only slightly better than late maturing girls in early adolescence (26). Along with weight status, athletic activity also plays a critical role in adolescents' physical and psychological health (27). Regardless of sex or age, some studies suggest that those who participate in sports acquire positive benefits in self-image (28). Sports participation, which may be beneficial for neurogenesis and neurotrophin in brain plasticity correlated with self-efficacy (29), can lead to more positive attitudes about one's own body and self-image (30). After searching for previous similar studies, it was noted that there is no prior research investigating the association between weight status, pubertal timing, athletic competence, and adolescent self-image, and therefore more research is needed to fill this gap in the literature.

## **The Present Study**

In Taiwan, only a few cross-sectional studies have indicated negative effects of overweight status on self-image (31, 32). However, these studies failed to describe the potential mediation mechanism linking weight status and self-image, except for one study that mainly focused on the mediating role of social class background (33). Therefore, this study is aimed toward examining whether there is a significant association between

weight status and adolescent self-image and if so, whether pubertal timing and athletic competence may play mediating roles in this relationship. Further, we tested the longitudinal effects of these salient factors on later self-image using a longitudinal representative youth cohort.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Population**

The data used in this study were retrieved from the Taiwan Youth Project (TYP), which was launched by the Institute of Sociology, Academia Sinica, Taiwan (34). In brief, two cohorts of 7thand 9th-grade students were recruited in 2000 and followed up annually. The participants were recruited from northern Taiwan, including Taipei City, New Taipei City (called Taipei County before 2010), and Yilan County, using a multistage-stratified and class-clustered selection procedure with randomly selected schools and classes. Finally, 40 schools (Taipei City: 16 schools; New Taipei City: 15 schools; Yilan County: 9 schools) and 81 classes in each grade were chosen. All participants consented to participate in the TYP. We only included a subset of data (N = 2,690) on the same cohort of seventh graders that collected items related to self-image from wave 1 (Mage =  $13.3 \pm 0.5$  years in 2000) and wave 9 (Mage = 22.3  $\pm$  0.5 years in 2009) and thus were deemed valid for the analysis. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the National Cheng Kung University Hospital.

## Measures

### Weight Status

The body mass index (BMI) was calculated based on self-reported body heights and weights. BMI is a value of a person's leanness or corpulence derived from their height and weight, and it has been proven to have high specificity in diagnosing obesity and related comorbidities in children and teenagers over other indicators (35). The formula is BMI = kg/m<sup>2</sup>, where kg is a person's weight in kilograms, and m<sup>2</sup> is their height in meters squared.

## **Pubertal Timing**

Pubertal timing was assessed based on the items in the Pubertal Developmental Scale (PDS), which measures selfperceived physical changes, including height spurts, body hair development, skin changes, breast growth/deepening of the voice, and menarche/facial hair development (36, 37). This score was chosen because of its benefit in terms of assessing neuroendocrine changes in this phase of life. This scale does not have illustrations of pubertal stages; it does not mention genitalia, nor does it involve being seen naked or palpated. Thus, this scale is extensively used in the literature because it is less embarrassing for youngsters and is cheaper and easier to administer than Tanner ratings (38). Except for menarche, which was a dichotomous item ("yes" or "no"), all other items were rated using a 4-point Likert scale. Aligned with prior research, we added the PDS scores and standardized them within samesex and same-age cohorts (in years) to represent pubertal timing among the participants (39) where a higher score represented earlier pubertal timing.

## Athletic Competence

As for athletic competence, the participants were asked to report on their experiences with participation in competitive sports on behalf of their school before and after entry to junior high school and their self-perceived talent for sports. Perceived talent for sports and athletic competence has been shown to be correlated with actual physical fitness and physical activity participation (40, 41), and thus it was used to represent the level of physical fitness that was not measured in the dataset. Every response to these three questions was a dichotomous item ("yes" or "no"), which in the data analysis is presented as 1 = yes and no = 0, and then added to create a single scale that indicates the degree of athletic competence (range 0–3), where a higher score represents a higher level of athletic competence (Cronbach's alpha = 0.661).

## Self-Image

Given the rapid biological and cognitive changes occurring during puberty, physical appearance is essential to consider when studying self-image during adolescence (3, 42). Self-image was measured using two items that assessed perceived satisfaction with appearance and physique. Each item was rated on a 4-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 (strongly unsatisfied) to 4 (strongly satisfied), and then added to create a single scale that indicated the degree of self-image, where a higher score represents a higher level of self-image (Spearman-Brown coefficient = 0.796).

## Covariates

Socioeconomic covariates included parental education and family incomes. The parent with the most education of the two parents was used as the reference for parental education. Monthly family income was subdivided into three groups: "New Taiwanese dollar (NTD) 30,000 or less," "NTD 30,001–60,000," and "NTD 60,001" or more.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Using the cross-section data at wave 1, we examined the sequential relationship among BMI, pubertal timing, athletic competence, and self-image. Firstly, linear regression analyses were applied to test for an association between BMI and self-image. Further, to test for an indirect effect of BMI on self-image via potential mediators (i.e., pubertal timing and athletic competence), these variables were included in a series of regression analyses with self-image as the outcome variable. The significance of the mediation effect of BMI and athletic competence on the association between pubertal timing and selfimage was examined using the bootstrap method with 5,000 repeated random samples. In total 95% confidence intervals of the indirect effect were calculated, which provides evidence of a statistically significant indirect effect when the interval does not contain zero (43). Specifically, we tested three indirect paths linking pubertal timing to self-image: (1) BMI  $\rightarrow$  pubertal timing  $\rightarrow$  self-image, (2) BMI  $\rightarrow$  athletic competence  $\rightarrow$  self-image, and (3) BMI  $\rightarrow$  pubertal timing  $\rightarrow$  athletic competence  $\rightarrow$  self-image (Figure 1). Given that pubertal timing and BMI were assessed at the same wave, we conducted another mediation analysis on the path from pubertal timing via BMI and athletic performance to self-image, in order to examine the reverse causality between



**FIGURE 1** | Mediation analysis on pubertal timing and athletic competence in the association between BMI and self-image stratified into male (A) and female (B) samples. \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; BMI indicates body mass index.

pubertal timing and BMI (see the **Supplementary Materials**). As to examining the long-term effects of BMI on self-image at wave 9, a full linear regression model included BMI, pubertal timing, athletic competence, and self-image at wave 1 as the independent variables. All the regression and mediation models were analyzed using gender-stratified subsamples and adjusted for parents' education and household income. We conducted statistical analyses using SPSS V.25.0 (SPSS, Chicago, Illinois, USA). The mediation analysis was performed using PROCESS macro 3.5 for SPSS developed by Preacher and Hayes (44).

## RESULTS

## **Demographic Characteristics**

Of the 2,690 participants, 51.2% were males, and 48.8% were females, with an average age of 13.3 (± 0.5) years at wave 1 (**Table 1**). The PDS score in females was 11.36 (± 2.10), and in males, it was 9.50 (± 2.27). At wave 1, a slightly higher level of self-image was observed in the males (score =  $5.02 \pm 1.46$ ) as compared to the females ( $4.45 \pm 1.48$ ), but this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.06). In addition, the majority (N = 1,055, 39.2%) of monthly family income ranged between 30,001 and 60,000 NTD, and most of the (N = 1,066, 39.6%) parents had attained a senior high school education. Generally, males had higher levels of athletic performance and self-image than their female peers.

## The Cross-Sectional Effect of BMI on Self-Image and Sequential Mediation Analysis of Pubertal Timing and Athletic Competence at Wave 1

Using a linear regression model (**Table 2**), we found that BMI was inversely associated with self-image in both males ( $\beta = -0.074$ , [-0.095, -0.053]) and females ( $\beta = -0.095$ , [-0.122, -0.069]). That is, those who had a higher BMI were more likely to report a lower level of self-image. Meanwhile, there was also a positive association between BMI and pubertal timing in both males ( $\beta = 0.015$ , [0.001, 0.030]) and females ( $\beta = 0.074$ , [0.056, 0.092]) and a negative association between BMI and athletic competence in both males ( $\beta = -0.030$ , [-0.045, -0.014]) and females ( $\beta = -0.030$ , [-0.049, -0.011]) (**Figure 1**). Analyzing the indirect effects with the bootstrapped 95% confidence intervals (**Table 2**), results revealed that pubertal timing ( $\beta = -0.008$ , [-0.015, -0.001]) and athletic performance ( $\beta = -0.006$ , [-0.011, -0.001])

TABLE 1	Demographic	information	of participants	(N = 2,690).
---------	-------------	-------------	-----------------	--------------

	Male (N = 1,378)	Female ( <i>N</i> = 1,312)	<i>p</i> -value
Variables of interest, mean (S.D.)			
Pubertal timing (range 5–20)	9.50 (2.27)	11.36 (2.10)	0.06
Body mass index	20.43 (4.07)	19.58 (3.22)	0.10
Athletic competence (range 0-3)	1.05 (1.08)	0.89 (1.02)	0.03
Self-image, wave 1 (range 1-7)	5.02 (1.46)	4.45 (1.48)	0.04
Self-image, wave 9 (range 1-7)	4.65 (1.14)	4.24 (1.18)	0.03
Covariates, N (%)			
Monthly family income (NTD)			0.68
≦30,000	230 (16.7)	213 (16.2)	
30,001-60,000	532 (38.6)	523 (39.9)	
≧60,001	487 (35.3)	453 (34.5)	
Missing	129 (9.4)	123 (9.4)	
Parents' education			0.68
Junior high or lower	443 (32.1)	407 (31.0)	
Senior high	512 (37.2)	554 (42.2)	
College or higher	323 (23.4)	294 (22.4)	
Missing	100 (7.3)	57 (4.3)	

-0.002]) significantly mediated the relationship between BMI and self-images in females. That is, individuals with a higher BMI value were likely to have earlier pubertal timing and poorer athletic competence which were both associated with poor self-image (**Figure 1**). Among the males, we only found athletic competence to mediate the association between BMI and self-image ( $\beta = -0.005$ , [-0.009, -0.002]). Nevertheless, the results also suggested that after accounting for the mediating roles, BMI still had a negative impact on self-image (male:  $\beta = -0.069$ , [-0.090, -0.048]; female:  $\beta = -0.082$ , [-0.109, -0.054]).

Alternatively, we conducted a mediation analysis on the path from pubertal timing via BMI and athletic performance to self-image, given a potential reverse causality between pubertal timing and BMI (**Supplementary Figure S1**). We found that pubertal timing was inversely associated with self-image in females ( $\beta = 0.173 \ [-0.261, -0.085]$ ) but not in males (**Supplementary Table S1**). Meanwhile, the association between pubertal timing and BMI ( $\beta = 0.256$ , [0.009, 0.503]) and athletic competence ( $\beta = 0.208$ , [0.143, 0.273]) was statistically significant in the males, but the association remained significant only between pubertal timing and BMI ( $\beta = 0.767$ , [0.577, 0.957]) in **TABLE 2** | Bootstrap test on the effect of pubertal timing and athletic competence on the association between BMI and self-image stratified by gender.

	Males B (95% CI)	Females B (95% CI)
Total effect	-0.074** (-0.095, -0.053)	-0.095** (-0.122, -0.069)
Direct effect	-0.069** (-0.090, -0.048)	-0.082** (-0.109, -0.054)
Indirect 1	0.000 (-0.001, 0.002)	-0.008* (-0.015, -0.001)
Indirect 2	-0.005* (-0.009, -0.002)	-0.006* (-0.011, -0.002)
Indirect 3	0.001* (0.000, 0.001)	-0.000 (-0.001, 0.001)

\*p < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.01.

Indirect 1, BMI  $\rightarrow$  Pubertal timing  $\rightarrow$  Self-image.

Indirect 2, BMI  $\rightarrow$  Athletic competence  $\rightarrow$  Self-image.

Indirect 3, BMI  $\rightarrow$  Pubertal timing  $\rightarrow$  Athletic competence  $\rightarrow$  Self-image. BMI, body mass index.

TABLE 3 | Regression analysis on the predictors of self-image at wave 9.

	Males B (95% CI)	Females B (95% CI)		
Pubertal timing	-0.050 (-0.131, 0.032)	0.014 (-0.072, 0.100)		
BMI	-0.037** (-0.057, -0.017)	-0.079** (-0.106, -0.052)		
Athletic competence	0.110** (0.037, 0.182)	0.033 (-0.049, 0.116)		
Self-image at wave 1	0.145** (0.090, 0.201)	0.132** (0.073, 0.190)		

\*\* $P \leq 0.01$ . BMI, Body Mass Index; CI, confidence interval.

the females. Further, the mediation analysis indicated significant total and indirect (via BMI) effects of pubertal timing on self-image among the female subjects.

## The Longitudinal Association Between Pubertal Timing/ BMI/ Athletic Competence at Wave 1 and Self-Image at Wave 9

Adjusting for self-image at wave 1, we found that pubertal timing was not related to self-image at wave 9 in either males or females (**Table 3**). In the males, the self-image at wave 9 was related to both BMI ( $\beta = -0.037$ , [-0.057, -0.017]) and athletic competence ( $\beta = 0.110$ , [0.037, 0.182]) at wave 1. In the females, the self-image at wave 9 was only related to BMI at wave 1 ( $\beta = 0.132$ , [0.073, 0.190]). the *p*-value in the males was 0.05 and was 0.001 in the females, supporting the hypothesis tested in this study.

## DISCUSSION

To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to characterize the mediating role of pubertal timing and athletic competence in the relationship between weight status and self-image using a representative cohort of Taiwanese youth. Overall, we found that a high BMI was linked to negative self-image in both genders. Moreover, athletic competence mediated the abovementioned association in both genders since a linkage between increased BMI levels and decreased athletic performance was found to further lead to low self-image. Meanwhile, pubertal timing was only found to be a significant mediator among the females, which was reflected by earlier pubertal timing that was associated with a high BMI level leading to low self-image. Furthermore, the effect of weight status at baseline on self-image remained significant even in young adults.

Overall, our findings were consistent with prior research in that weight status is considered an important predictor of self-image, whereas our study further found the mediation pathway (45). Diving into the role of pubertal timing in this relationship, the results of this analysis indicated that earlier pubertal timing was associated with increased BMI and poor selfimage, where the mediation effect was significant, particularly among the female participants. Correspondingly, prior research has shown that self-image declines in females during early adolescence because of the external manifestations of puberty, such as breast development and menarche (14). In addition, girls may feel devalued when they experience earlier pubertal development and increases in weight (46). This sense of selfdevaluation may be aggravated in adolescent girls since they are primarily targeted with stereotypes about their ideal body shape and figure from various sources such as television or the Internet. Neuropsychological research may explain this bodymind linkage because girls with early puberty tend to have higher emotional reactivity, higher heart rate variability, and poorer physical competence, thus leading to poorer self-perception (47, 48). However, a comparative pattern appeared to be insignificant among male adolescents. In a previous study, it was found that males at all age levels tend to relate their body shape, such as the size of their shoulders, to masculinity, and thus they are generally satisfied with body changes inherent in pubertal development (49). In addition, the previous research on this topic reinforces the belief that the social standard of being muscular and slender exists among Taiwanese teenagers and may influence the incidence of body dissatisfaction in this age group (50).

A different covariant that was linked in this study is the mediating role of athletic competence. We found that a higher BMI was associated with poor athletic performance that was further linked to a poor self-image in both genders. Our findings corresponded to the findings of a prior study that showed BMI and leisure-time physical activity were two salient predictive factors of body satisfaction (51). Extending from this common observation, our results indicated that when adolescents develop earlier, they may acquire sports advantages that can be translated into negative or positive assets contributing to the construction of a positive self-image, which may mitigate the negative impacts brought about by BMI scores suggesting they are overweight or obese. However, this relationship was noted only in boys, but not in girls. Physiologically speaking, boys after entering puberty usually gain strength because of higher levels of testosterone, which results in better neuromuscular adaptation (52). The advantage of this change during puberty can be also seen in body changes that enable subjects to enroll in different physical activities. This was supported by a study indicating that early-maturing players have advantageous anthropometrical and physiological development that facilitates domination in sports (53). Another study also showed that biological maturation can be used to predict athletic competence during adolescence because of increased muscular power and high energy that can be applied in sports (54). In terms of biological mechanisms,

physical fitness would have blunt effects on hormonal stressresponsive systems, such as the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis and the sympathetic nervous system, which contribute to reduced emotional and metabolic reactivity as well as increased positive mood and wellbeing. Also, the anti-inflammatory effects of exercise can promote behavioral and metabolic resilience, which exert a positive effect on mental health (55). Further, participation in sports programs may have a positive immediate effect on self-image, notably if the chosen activity is some form of team sport that can give the adolescents some peer support in terms of good opinions about their self-image (56). Therefore, we tentatively conclude that there is a critical mediating role of athletic competence in the relationship between weight status, pubertal timing, and self-image.

In the alternative mediation analysis investigating the path from pubertal timing via BMI and athletic performance to selfimage, we only found significant total effects of pubertal timing on self-image in adolescent girls. Meanwhile, a large portion of the impacts were contributed by the indirect link via weight status, highlighting its importance as a determinant of adolescent self-image. Further, in the regression analyses examining the long-term effects on self-image, we found that an earlier level of self-image during adolescence may predict later evaluations of self-image in young adulthood. BMI in both genders and athletic competence in boys were found to be the other significant predictors of the level of a positive self-image in young adulthood, whereas pubertal timing was shown as no longer relevant after a multivariate adjustment. This finding also suggests a persistent effect of weight status on self-image as adolescents grow up. It is worth noting that low self-image may persist if it occurs earlier in adolescence. It is therefore necessary to identify the risks and strengths, such as encouraging participation in sports and a positive attitude toward the weight gain inherent in pubertal development among early-maturing adolescents, in order to build a healthier self-image.

## Implications

Our study identified a potential linkage between weight status and self-image via pubertal timing and athletic competence, where gender differences were clearly noted. The implications of the findings can be 3-fold: Firstly, at the onset of puberty, children should be educated about the potential physical changes they will undergo related to hormonal surges. As the age at pubertal onset has skewed toward being earlier in recent years, and obese children are more likely to be affected (57), such information may need to be provided earlier. Secondly, providing dietary and physical activity guidance or designing age-appropriate nutritional menus and physical education classes may help mitigate the negative impacts brought by being overweight and obese and thus help these individuals build a positive selfimage. The school, as the major developmental milieu in which adolescents spend long hours studying and interacting with their peers (58), may also play an active role in reducing the sale of unhealthy food and sugared drinks and promoting physical activities on campus (59). Third, information about physiological body changes should be addressed in the school settings or the media, in order to raise awareness about the importance of accepting oneself and providing ways to increase self-esteem. Last but not least, attention should be given to the influence of exposure to media overemphasizing slimness and fitness. Because body dissatisfaction can be developed in this kind of media environment, adolescents should be provided with education related to media literacy (60). The results highlight the need for parents, teachers, and healthcare providers to assess adolescents' self-image and provide guidance on pubertal progression and physical activity based on different weight statuses.

## Limitations

Our sample has its strength in being a longitudinal cohort study design with a large number of participants and a cluster-based sampling strategy. However, our study had some limitations. First, the study was restricted to a limited choice of questions relevant to self-image. Using two items to evaluate such a complex construct of self-image might be simplistic. Although satisfaction with appearance and physique largely account for self-image during adolescence (61), more questions may be needed to measure the different dimensions of self-image. Secondly, athletic competence was constructed using only three self-reported items rather than standardized fitness tests, such as dashes for speed, vertical and standing long jumps, and distance throwing used to measure coordination and explosive strength (24). These objective measurements may improve or complement the representativeness of physical performance and may require further clarification. Third, the data collected were dated and might not represent the current situation. Readers should be cautious of this time gap between data collection and the proposed secondary data analysis. Despite this, the strength of our study is its longitudinal cohort study design due to collecting prospective observational data over the entire course of the subjects' adolescent period. Analyzing old archived data has arguably been an alternative approach to refining existing literature and inspiring new ideas (62). The analysis should be able to provide some mechanistic explanations regarding the link between weight status and adolescent self-image.

## CONCLUSION

The results found that adolescents with a higher BMI were more likely to have a lower self-image, and this association could persist into young adulthood. Dissecting sequential mediation mechanisms, we further found that a higher BMI was associated with lower perceived athletic competence and thus further linked to pooer self-image. The finding on the role of pubertal timing was mixed, though. While a higher BMI was linked to an earlier pubertal timing that further led to lower self-image in females, an earlier pubertal timing might contribute to better perceived athletic competence and higher self-image in males. Obtaining knowledge of the mediating factors linking adolescent body and mind may help guide healthy weight and physical activity behaviors according to different stages of pubertal progression.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found at: The TYP dataset is archived in the Survey Research Data Archive, managed by the Institute of

Sociology, Academia Sinica, Taiwan. It requires registration, although it is free and open to the public, when accessing the dataset. All the waves can be found by following this link: https://srda.sinica.edu.tw/browsingbydatatype\_result.php? category=surveymethodtype=2csid=1.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

J-HK and M-CT conceived the study and drafted the manuscript. J-HK, JUH, and C-YL conducted the analysis, while CS, M-CT, and C-YL supervised the analysis. T-HL, Y-CL, Y-HC, and Y-PH contributed the development of study and critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by a research grant awarded to M-CT from the Ministry of Science and Technology,

## REFERENCES

- Bailey JA. Self-image, self-concept, and self-identity revisited. J Natl Med Assoc. (2003) 95:383.
- Spear BA, Barlow SE, Ervin C, Ludwig DS, Saelens BE, Schetzina KE, et al. Recommendations for treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity. *Pediatrics*. (2007) 120:S254–88. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-2329F
- 3. Peng S. Self-image and psychological well-being among Chinese adolescents. University of Missouri–St. Louis. (2012).
- Naccache L, El Karoui I, Salti M, Chammat M, Maillet M, Allali S. Comment notre cohérence subjective se construit-elle? Le modèle de la dissonance cognitive. Bull l'Académie Nat Médecine. (2015) 199:253–9. doi: 10.1016/S0001-4079(19)30968-9
- Harmon-Jones E, Harmon-Jones C. Cognitive dissonance processes serve an action-oriented adaptive function. *Behav Brain Sci.* (2020) 43:e38. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X19002176
- Jordan J, Leliveld MC, Tenbrunsel AE. The moral self-image scale: Measuring and understanding the malleability of the moral self. *Front Psychol.* (2015) 6:1878. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01878
- Di Blasi M, Cavani P, Pavia L, Lo Baido R, La Grutta S, Schimmenti A. The relationship between self-Image and social anxiety in adolescence. *Child Adolesc Ment Health.* (2015) 20:74–80. doi: 10.1111/camh.12071
- Laukkanen E, Honkalampi K, Hintikka J, Hintikka U, Lehtonen J. Suicidal ideation among help-seeking adolescents: association with a negative selfimage. Arch Suicide Res. (2005) 9:45–55. doi: 10.1080/13811110590512930
- Erkolahti RK, Saarijärvi S, Ilonen T, Hagman H. Self-image of anorexic and bulimic female adolescents. Nord J Psychiatry. (2002) 56:447–50. doi: 10.1080/08039480260389370
- Naumovska A, Bonevski D. Self image and frequent alcohol use in middle adolescence. J US-China Med Sci. (2012) 9:38–44. doi: 10.17265/1548-6648/2012.01.005
- Nacinovich R, Buzi F, Oggiano S, Rossi S, Spada S, Broggi F, et al. Body experiences and psychopathology in idiopathic central precocious and early puberty. *Minerva Pediatr.* (2016) 68:11–8.
- Mercader-Yus E, Neipp-López MC, Gómez-Méndez P, Vargas-Torcal F, Gelves-Ospina M, Puerta-Morales L, et al. Anxiety, self-esteem and body image in girls with precocious puberty. *Rev Colomb Psiquiatr*. (2018) 47:229– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.rcpeng.2017.05.015
- Lee JE, Ahn HY, Choi HS. A study of body image, self-esteem and depression in girls with precocious puberty and normal girls. *Adv Sci Techno Lett.* (2015) 116:21–5.

Taiwan (108-2629-B-006-002), National Cheng Kung Unviersity Hospital (NCKUH-10602007) and by a Summer Research Project Grant awarded to J-HK from the College of Medicine at National Cheng Kung University (NCKUMCS2019014).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Taiwan Youth Project was sponsored by the Academia Sinica (AS-93-TP-C01) and directed by Dr. Chin-Chun Yi. The Center for Survey Research of the Academia Sinica is responsible for the data distribution. We thank Dr. Yi and everyone else at the Academia Sinica and the Taiwan Youth Project for providing the data and for all the other assistance they provided.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.890751/full#supplementary-material

- Slap GB, Khalid N, Paikoff RL, Brooks-Gunn J, Warren MP. Evolving self-image, pubertal manifestations, and pubertal hormones: Preliminary findings in young adolescent girls. J Adolescent Health. (1994) 15:327–35. doi: 10.1016/1054-139X(94)90606-8
- Pritchard ME, King SL, Czajka-Narins DM. Adolescent body mass indices and self-perception. *Adolescence*. (1997) 32:863–72.
- Goddings AL, Burnett Heyes S, Bird G, Viner RM, Blakemore SJ. The relationship between puberty and social emotion processing. *Dev Sci.* (2012) 15:801–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-7687.2012.01174.x
- Headley S. A longitudinal study of pubertal timing and extreme body change behaviors among adolescent boys and girls. *Youth Studies Australia*. (2005) 24:62–3.
- Pletsch K, Johnson MK, Tosi CB, Thurston CA, Riesch SK. Self-image among early adolescents: revisited. J Commun Health Nurs. (1991) 8:215–31. doi: 10.1207/s15327655jchn0804\_4
- Mäkinen M, Marttunen M, Komulainen E, Terevnikov V, Puukko-Viertomies LR, Aalberg V, et al. Development of self-image and its components during a one-year follow-up in non-referred adolescents with excess and normal weight. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health.* (2015) 9:1–9. doi: 10.1186/s13034-015-0038-7
- Coelho EM, Padez C, Moreira P, Rosado V, Mourão-Carvalhal I. BMI and self-perceived body shape in Portuguese children. *Rev Psicol Deporte.* (2013) 22:371-6.
- Reinehr T, Roth CL. Is there a causal relationship between obesity and puberty? *Lancet Child Adolescent Health.* (2019) 3:44–54. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30306-7
- Hoyt LT, Niu L, Pachucki MC, Chaku N. Timing of puberty in boys and girls: implications for population health. SSM-population Health. (2020) 10:100549. doi: 10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100549
- Anderson CB, Måsse LC, Zhang H, Coleman KJ, Chang S. Ethnic, gender, and BMI differences in athletic identity in children and adolescents. *J Phys Activity Health.* (2011) 8:200–9. doi: 10.1123/jpah.8.2.200
- 24. Beunen G, Malina RM. Growth and biologic maturation: relevance to athletic performance. *The young athlete.* (2008) 1:3–17. doi: 10.1002/9780470696255.ch1
- Bastos F, Hegg R. The relationship of chronological age, body build, and sexual maturation to handgrip strength in schoolboys ages 10 to 17 years. In: *JAP Perspectives in Kinanthropometry*. Champaign: Human Kinetics. (1986) p. 45–9.
- Malina RM. Secular trends in growth, maturation and physical performance: a review. Anthropol Rev. (2004) 67:3–31. doi: 10.5040/9781492596837.ch-029

- Neumark-Sztainer D, Paxton SJ. Hannan, J., Haines J, and Story M, Does body satisfaction matter? Five-year longitudinal associations between body satisfaction and health behaviors in adolescent females and males. *J Adolescent Health.* (2006) 39:244–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2005.12.001
- Markland D, Ingledew DK. The relationships between body mass and body image and relative autonomy for exercise among adolescent males and females. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* (2007) 8:836–53. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2006.11.002
- Voss MW, Vivar C, Kramer AF, van Praag H. Bridging animal and human models of exercise-induced brain plasticity. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2013) 17:525– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.08.001
- Eide R, The relationship between body image, self-image and physical activity. Scandinavian J Soc Med. (1982) 29:109–112.
- Lee J-I, Yen C-F. Associations between body weight and depression, social phobia, insomnia, and self-esteem among Taiwanese adolescents. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci.* (2014) 30:625–30. doi: 10.1016/j.kjms.2014.09.005
- 32. Noh JW, Kwon YD, Yang Y, Cheon J, Kim J. Relationship between body image and weight status in east Asian countries: comparison between South Korea and Taiwan. BMC Public Health. (2018) 18:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5738-5
- Chen HC. The self-image of Taiwanese adolescents: Gender and social class comparisons. The University of Arizona. (1993).
- Tsai MC, Strong C, Lin CY. Effects of pubertal timing on deviant behaviors in Taiwan: a longitudinal analysis of 7th-to 12th-grade adolescents. J Adolesc. (2015) 42:87–97. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.03.016
- Reilly JJ. Diagnostic accuracy of the BMI for age in paediatrics. *Int J Obesity*. (2006) 30:595–597. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0803301
- Gau SF, Soong WT, Tsai WY. and Chiu Y,N., A Chinese version of a selfadministered rating scale for pubertal development. *Taiwanese J Psychiatry*. (1997) 11:128–40.
- Lee CT, Tsai MC, Lin CY, Strong C. Longitudinal effects of self-report pubertal timing and Menarcheal age on adolescent psychological and behavioral outcomes in female youths from Northern Taiwan. *Pediatr Neonatol.* (2017) 58:313–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2016.04.004
- Pompéia S, Zanini GD, Freitas RS, Inacio LM, Silva FC, Souza GR, et al. Adapted version of the Pubertal Development Scale for use in Brazil. *Rev* Saude Publica. (2019) 53:56. doi: 10.11606/s1518-8787.2019053000915
- Carskadon MA, Acebo C, A. self-administered rating scale for pubertal development. J Adolescent Health. (1993) 14:190–5. doi: 10.1016/1054-139X(93)90004-9
- Jaakkola T, Washington T. Measured and perceived physical fitness, intention, and self-reported physical activity in adolescence. *Adv Phys Educ.* (2011) 1:16. doi: 10.4236/ape.2011.12004
- Plante TG, Chizmar L, Owen D. The contribution of perceived fitness to physiological and self-reported responses to laboratory stress. *Int J Stress Manag.* (1999) 6:5–19. doi: 10.1023/A:1021906202898
- 42. Choi M-S, Kim E-Y. Body image and depression in girls with idiopathic precocious puberty treated with gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogue. *Ann Pediatric Endocrinol Metabolism.* (2016) 21:155. doi: 10.6065/apem.2016.21.3.155
- 43. Tsai MC, Strong C, Chen WT, Lee CT, Lin CY. Longitudinal impacts of pubertal timing and weight status on adolescent Internet use: Analysis from a cohort study of Taiwanese youths. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0197860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0197860
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF. SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behav Res Methods, Instr Comput.* (2004) 36:717–31. doi: 10.3758/BF03206553
- Alsaker FD. Pubertal timing, overweight, and psychological adjustment. J Early Adolescence. (1992) 12:396–419. doi: 10.1177/0272431692012004004
- O'Dea JA, Abraham S. Association between self-concept and body weight, gender, and pubertal development among male and female adolescents. *Adolescence*. (1999) 34:69.
- 47. Wojniusz S, Callens N, Sütterlin S, Andersson S, De Schepper J, Gies I, et al. Cognitive, emotional, and psychosocial functioning of girls treated with pharmacological puberty blockage for idiopathic central precocious puberty. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1053. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01053
- Schoelwer MJ, Donahue KL, Didrick P, Eugster EA. One-year follow-up of girls with precocious puberty and their mothers: do psychological assessments

change over time or with treatment? Horm Res Paediatr. (2017) 88:347-53. doi: 10.1159/000479688

- Siegel JM, Yancey AK, Aneshensel CS, Schuler R. Body image, perceived pubertal timing, and adolescent mental health. J Adolescent Health. (1999) 25:155–65. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(98)00160-8
- Wright MR. Body image satisfaction in adolescent girls and boys: A longitudinal study. J Youth Adolescence. (1988). 18:71–83. doi: 10.1007/BF02139247
- Chen LJ, Fox KR, Haase AM, Ku W. Correlates of body dissatisfaction among Taiwanese adolescents. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 19:172–9. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2010.19.2.03
- 52. Almeida-Neto PF, de Matos DG, Pinto VC, Dantas PM, Cesário TD, da Silva LF, et al., Can the neuromuscular performance of young athletes be influenced by hormone levels and different stages of puberty? *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:5637. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17165637
- Itoh R, Hirose N. Relationship among biological maturation, physical characteristics, and motor abilities in youth elite soccer players. J Strength Condition Res. (2020) 34:382–8. doi: 10.1519/JSC.00000000003346
- Kramer T, Huijgen BC, Elferink-Gemser MT, Visscher C. Prediction of tennis performance in junior elite tennis players. J Sports Sci Med. (2017) 16:14.
- Silverman MN, Deuster PA. Biological mechanisms underlying the role of physical fitness in health and resilience. *Interface Focus*. (2014) 4:20140040. doi: 10.1098/rsfs.2014.0040
- Bluechardt MH, Wiener J, Shephard RJ. Exercise programmes in the treatment of children with learning disabilities. *Sports Med.* (1995) 19:55–72. doi: 10.2165/00007256-199519010-00005
- Huang JY, Li CS, Chang HP. The age distribution among children seeking medical treatment for precocious puberty in Taiwan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6765. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186765
- Tsai MC, Chou YY, Lin SJ, Lin SH. Factors associated with adolescents' perspectives on health needs and preference for health information sources in Taiwan. *Arch Dis Child.* (2013) 98:9–15. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2012-301629
- Lowry R, Galuska DA, Fulton JE, Wechsler H, Kann L. Weight management goals and practices among US high school students: associations with physical activity, diet, and smoking. J Adolescent Health. (2002) 31:133–44. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00408-6
- Swami V, Taylor R, Carvalho C. Body dissatisfaction assessed by the Photographic Figure Rating Scale is associated with sociocultural, personality, and media influences. *Scand J Psychol.* (2011) 52:57–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2010.00836.x
- Marcoux D. Cosmetics, skin care, and appearance in teenagers. In: Seminars in Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery. WB Saunders. (1999). doi: 10.1016/S1085-5629(99)80022-4
- Dunn SL, Arslanian-Engoren C, DeKoekkoek T, Jadack R, Scott LD. Secondary data analysis as an efficient and effective approach to nursing research. West J Nurs Res. (2015) 37:1295–307. doi: 10.1177/0193945915570042

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kuo, Ubeda Herrera, Liu, Lee, Strong, Lin, Chang, Lin, Hsieh and Tsai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY

Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### REVIEWED BY

Marina Miscioscia, University of Padua, Italy Annarosa Cipriano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE

Xiaxia Jiang 269666419@qq.com Qian Xu 380718865@qq.com

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 15 May 2022 ACCEPTED 15 July 2022 PUBLISHED 04 August 2022

#### CITATION

Wei C, Li Z, Ma T, Jiang X, Yu C and Xu Q (2022) Stressful life events and non-suicidal self-injury among Chinese adolescents: A moderated mediation model of depression and resilience. *Front. Public Health* 10:944726.

doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.944726

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wei, Li, Ma, Jiang, Yu and Xu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Stressful life events and non-suicidal self-injury among Chinese adolescents: A moderated mediation model of depression and resilience

Chang Wei<sup>1,2</sup>, Zhiyong Li<sup>3</sup>, Tao Ma<sup>2</sup>, Xiaxia Jiang<sup>1,4\*</sup>, Chengfu Yu<sup>5</sup> and Qian Xu<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Research Center for Rural Educational and Cultural Development of Key Research Base of Humanities and Social Sciences in Hubei Province, School of Education, Hubei University of Science and Technology, Xianning, China, <sup>2</sup>School of Psychology, South China Normal University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>3</sup>College of Education Science, Hubei Normal University, Huangshi, China, <sup>4</sup>School of Psychology, Central China Normal University, Wuhan, China, <sup>5</sup>School of Education, Guangzhou University, Guangzhou, China

Stressful life events are associated with an increased risk of non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) in adolescence, but the mechanisms explaining this association are unclear. Based on the experiential avoidance model of NSSI, and the protective factor model of resilience, the current study tested depression as a mediator and resilience as a moderator of this association. Chinese adolescents (N = 643;  $M_{age} = 15.91$ ; 52.10 % female), anonymously completed self-report measures in classrooms. Results showed that stressful life events was linked to adolescent NSSI in part because of adolescent depression, and resilience was a protective factor that buffered this effect. These findings can inspire practitioners to pay attention to the interaction of risk factors and protective factors when providing prevention and intervention for adolescent NSSI.

#### KEYWORDS

adolescents, stressful life events, resilience, depression, non-suicidal self-injury

## Introduction

Non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) is a perplexing behavior problem. It involves deliberately and directly destroying one's body tissue without suicidal intention, most commonly by cutting or carving oneself (1). Much of the research on NSSI has focused on adolescents, who show a higher rate of NSSI than other age groups (2). The prevalence of adolescent NSSI in China is estimated to be from 15.0 to 41.5% in community samples (3–6). The largest of these studies, with a sample of 18,900 Chinese junior and senior high school students, found that the prevalence of NSSI was 28.5% (5).

NSSI is known to be associated with adolescents' mental health problems (7, 8). In addition, although people do not engage in NSSI with suicidal intent, the behavior is closely related to suicidal behavior (9). Longitudinal results have shown that NSSI is a predictor of adolescents' suicidal behavior, not only a simple correlate (10). The high prevalence and the clinical significance of NSSI in adolescents motivate us to identify risk and protective factors that can inform effective prevention and intervention.

## Stressful life events and adolescent NSSI

Stressful life events refer to all kinds of negative events in individual life, which can have a negative impact on individuals' physical and mental health (such as family conflicts, classmate disputes, economic distress, death of relatives, and failure in examination) (11, 12). Previous research showed that stressful life events are strongly correlated with adolescents' risky behaviors (13, 14), consistent with general strain theory (15). In line with this theory, stressful life events have been shown to be associated with adolescent NSSI in correlational studies (16–18) and longitudinal studies (19–21). For example, in a longitudinal study, Baetens et al. (19) found that adolescents' stressful life events were significantly positively associated with NSSI 18 months later.

These studies document a direct link between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI. However, the underlying mechanism of this association, and the factors that may mitigate the risk, remain largely unexplored. Based on the experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22) and the protective factor model of resilience (23), the current research tested depression as a mediator, and resilience as a moderator, of the relationship between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI.

#### Depression as a potential mediator

Depression is an emotional disorder that causes a persistent feeling of sadness and loss of interest, which is thought be caused in part by an inability to cope with stressful events (24). The first part of the mediation pathway in our model is the association between stressful life events and depression. The experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22) maintains that adolescents who experience stressful life events are more likely to have negative emotions such as depression, which in turn lead to NSSI. There is empirical evidence that stressful life events could increase the risk of adolescent depression (17, 52). In one longitudinal study of 1,094 Chinese adolescents, Chen et al. (52) found that peer victimization (a stressful life event) positively predicted depression six months later.

The second part of the mediation pathway that we tested was the association between adolescent depression and NSSI. It is generally assumed that NSSI serves the function of distracting the individual from emotional pain, an idea expressed by the experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22). Two longitudinal studies have shown a link between depression and later NSSI among adolescents (25, 53). For example, Wu et al. (25) found that depressive symptoms were correlated with NSSI one year later in a sample of 813 Chinese adolescents. Previous research also demonstrated that negative emotions could mediate the association between stressful life events and NSSI. For example, in a longitudinal study, Zhu et al. (6) found that anxiety symptoms mediated the relationship between cybervictimization and NSSI in a sample of 1987 adolescents in Chinese. Similarly, in a sample of 2464 Italian adolescents, Cipriano et al. (16) found that anger expression mediated the relationship between parental rejection and direct and indirect forms of NSSI.

Thus, based on theory and empirical research, we assert that depression is an important intermediary factor in the process by which stressful life events increase the risk of adolescent NSSI.

## Resilience as a moderator

Not all adolescents who experience stressful life events, and not all adolescents who experience depression, engage in NSSI. This suggests that there may be factors that lower the risk of NSSI even under these adverse conditions. One of these factors could be the adolescent's resilience. Resilience refers to an individual's ability to positively adapt to the environment even through adversity, including two critical conditions: exposure to significant adversity (such as exposure to community violence, parent mental illness, and poverty) and positive adaptation (good academic performance, positive relationships with teachers or classmate) (26, 27). According to the protective factor model of resilience (23), resilience can reduce the effects of environmental risk on negative outcomes. In our study, these ideas correspond to the environmental risk due to stressful life events and the negative outcomes of depression and NSSI.

There is also evidence that resilience could be an important influence on the mediation process of interest in the current study. There are several studies that can inform our hypotheses. Wang and Liu (28) found that resilience weakened the impact of stressful life events on delinquency in a sample of 306 Chinese adolescents whose parents had moved away in search of work. Ye et al. (29) found that resilience weakened the impact of peer victimization on depression in a sample of 721 Chinese children. Wu et al. (30) found that resilience buffered the association between depression and NSSI in a sample of 813 adolescents. In the current research, we examined whether



resilience buffered the risk effects of stressful life events on adolescent NSSI.

## The present study

On the basis of the experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22) and the protective factor model of resilience (23), this study tested a moderated mediation model in which stressful life events are a risk factor for adolescent NSSI *via* depression, and resilience is a protective factor against NSSI. The proposed model can be seen in Figure 1.

It should be noted that the current study was conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic. During this period several studies showed a negative impact of COVID-19 on adolescents' psychology (48, 49) and behavior (31–33). Thus, the stressful life events reported by the adolescents were occurring in the context of overarching, long term stress. In this respect their scores on the measure of stressful life events may be an underestimate of their true stress. Scores on the other study variables might also be affected by life during the pandemic; depression and NSSI might be higher, and resilience might be lower. This is an unfortunate but unique opportunity to study this group of adolescents, who can be considered high-risk because of their experiences related to COVID-19. Thus, this study exaned the prevalence rate of NSSI among adolescents during the COVID-19 epidemic.

We proposed the following hypotheses: (1) The prevalence rate of NSSI among adolescents will be higher during the COVID-19 epidemic than it was before the pandemic; (2) stressful life events will be positively associated with adolescent NSSI; (3) depression will mediate the association between stressful life events and NSSI; (4) resilience will weaken the direct and indirect relations between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI. Specifically, resilience will buffer the direct effect of stressful life events on NSSI, and will buffer the association between stressful life events and depression.

## Methods

## Participants

A random cluster sampling method was used to recruit students from a middle school in Hubei Province, in central China. A total of 643 students participated in our study. No adolescents had obvious mental or physical illness. The average age was 15.91 years old (SD = 0.74; age range: 14–17 years). There were 335 girls (52.1%) and 308 boys (47.9%), and 78.5 % had one or more sibling.

## Procedure

This research was approved by the Ethics Committee of Hubei University of Science and Technology. The data were collected from March to April 2022. Parents provided written informed consent and adolescents provided assent. The adolescents were told that they could withdraw from the study at any time without penalty. They were also told that their responses would be kept confidential. All the data collected were anonymous. The questionnaires were administered by the researchers of this study and trained graduate students under their supervision. All participants completed the self-report measures in their classrooms.

## Measures

#### Stressful life events

The number of stressful life events was measured with the Chinese Language Adolescent Life Events Scale (12). Participants were asked to report the seriousness of each listed event in the past year (such as "family conflicts," and "classmate disputes"). There are 27 items on the scale, and each item is scored on a 6-point scale (0 = none to 5 = very serious). Mean scores were used for analysis, with higher scores indicating higher severity of stressful life events. Cronbach's alpha in this study was 0.93.

#### Depression

Depression was measured with the Chinese version (34) of the Center for Epidemiological Studies-Depression Scale (35). Participants were asked to assess how often they experienced depressive symptoms in the past week (such as "I feel depressed," "I feel lonely," and "It's hard for me to concentrate"). There are 20 items on the scale, and each item is rated on a 4-point scale (0 = <1 to 3 = 5-7 days). Mean scores were used for analysis, with a higher score indicating a higher level of depression. Cronbach's alpha in this study was 0.85.

#### Resilience

Resilience was measured with the Resilience Scale for Chinese Adolescents (36). This questionnaire includes 27 items (such as "After experiencing setbacks, I generally become more mature and experienced") covering five dimensions: goal focus, interpersonal assistance, family support, emotional control, and positive cognition. Each item is rated on a 5-point scale (1 = almost always untrue to 5 = almost always true). Mean scores were used for analysis, with higher scores indicating a higher level of resilience. Cronbach's alpha in this study was 0.76.

### NSSI

We assessed twelve NSSI behaviors (37) selected from the Deliberate Self-Harm Inventory (38), such as cutting, carving, burning, and severely scratching oneself. These 12 items were chosen because they are common forms of NSSI among adolescents (1), and have been shown to have good psychometric properties in previous studies of Chinese adolescents (25, 30, 37, 39). Participants were asked to report how often they had engaged in NSSI in the past year. Each item is rated on a 6-point scale (0 = never to 5 = 5 or more times). The 12 item scores were added, with higher scores indicating a higher frequency of NSSI. Cronbach's alpha in this study was 0.91.

### **Control variables**

There are significant gender differences in NSSI among adolescents, with girls being more at risk than boys (40, 41). NSSI is also associated with age (1, 2). The students all came from neighborhoods near the school, and so they had a similar socioeconomic status. Therefore, the analyses controlled for age and gender (0 = female; 1 = male).

## Statistical analyses

We used SPSS 21.0 to generate descriptive statistics and correlations. Mediation and moderation effects were calculated in Mplus 8.3. Missing data were handled *via* the full information maximum-likelihood (FIML) estimation method. We used bootstrapping with 2000 iterations to test the significance of each direct and indirect path. By convention, the model fit is considered good when  $\chi^2/df < 5$ , CFI >0.90, TLI >0.90, RMSEA < 0.08, and SRMR < 0.08 (42).

## Results

### Preliminary analyses

The results showed that 237 of the 643 adolescents endorsed one or more NSSI behaviors in the past 12 months, an estimated 12 month prevalence of 36.9%. The means, standard TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics and correlations for all variables.

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6
1. Gender	1.00					
2. Age	0.07	1.00				
3. SLE	0.03	0.05	1.00			
4. Resilience	-0.02	0.05	-0.25***	1.00		
5. Depression	-0.08*	0.04	0.43***	-0.39***	1.00	
6. NSSI	0.04	0.05	0.22***	-0.15***	0.31***	1.00
Mean	0.48	15.91	1.27	3.23	0.73	1.33
SD	0.50	0.74	0.75	0.39	0.43	3.54

\*p < 0.05, \*\*\*p < 0.001. Gender was dummy coded as 1 = male, 0 = female. SLE, stressful life events; NSSI, non-suicidal self-injury.



standardized regression coefficients. Path coefficients between control variables (age and gender) and each of the variables in the model are not displayed. Of the paths involving control variables, gender (dummy coded as 1 = male, 0 = female) was significantly related to depression (b = -0.10, SE = 0.04, p < 0.01). \*p < 0.05. \*\*\*p < 0.001.

deviations, and correlation coefficients for all research variables are displayed in Table 1. Stressful life event scores were positively correlated with depression (r = 0.43, p < 0.001) and NSSI (r = 0.22, p < 0.001); depression was also positively correlated with NSSI (r = 0.31, p < 0.001). Resilience was negatively correlated with stressful life events (r = -0.25 p < 0.001), depression (r = -0.39, p < 0.001) and NSSI (r = -0.15, p < 0.001).

## Mediation effect of depression

The hypothesized mediation model showed a good fit to the data,  $\chi^2/df = 2.23$ , CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.96, RMSEA = 0.04, and SRMR = 0.02. Figure 2 displays the results for each path in the proposed model. Stressful life events positively predicted depression (b = 0.43, SE = 0.03, p < 0.001) and NSSI (b = 0.10, SE = 0.04, p < 0.05), and depression positively predicted NSSI (b = 0.27, SE = 0.05, p < 0.001). Bootstrapping analyses showed that depression partially mediated the pathway from stressful life events to NSSI (indirect effect = 0.12, SE = 0.03, 95% CI = [0.07, 0.17]).



## Moderated mediation

The moderated mediation model represented in Figure 3 revealed a good fit to the data:  $\chi^2/df = 1.36$ , CFI = 0.99, TLI = 0.99, RMSEA = 0.02, and SRMR = 0.02. Stressful life events (b = 0.09, SE = 0.04, p < 0.05) and depression (b = 0.26, SE = 0.06, p < 0.001) were significantly associated with NSSI. Stressful life events (b = 0.35, SE = 0.03, p < 0.001) and resilience (b = -0.32, SE = 0.04, p < 0.001) were significantly associated with depression. More importantly, resilience significantly moderated the impact of stressful life events on depression (b = -0.10, SE = 0.04, p < 0.05) and NSSI (b = -0.08, SE = 0.03, p < 0.05).

We conducted simple slopes tests to better understand the results regarding resilience as a moderator. As depicted in Figure 4, the relationship between stressful life events and depression was significant at both high (at 1 SD above the mean) and low (at 1 SD below the mean) levels of resilience, but the association was weaker when resilience was high. To be specific, when youth showed lower resilience, the relation between stressful life events and depression was significant (b =0.24, SE = 0.03, p < 0.001). However, when youth showed higher resilience, this relation was weaker, although still statistically significant (b = 0.13, SE = 0.03, p < 0.001). Figure 5 shows the relationship between stressful life events and NSSI at low (at 1 SD below the mean) and high (at 2 SD above the mean) levels of resilience. When youth showed lower resilience, the relation between stressful life events and NSSI was significant (b = 1.44, SE = 0.29, p < 0.001). However, when youth showed higher resilience, this relation was non-significant (b = 0.37, SE = 0.32,  $p>\!0.05$  ). Namely, resilience weakened the effects of stressful life events on depression and NSSI.

## Discussion

The results showed that the prevalence of adolescent NSSI in our sample was 36.9%, which is similar to the rates of 32% (43) and 40.9% (33) reported in other samples of adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is higher than the rate of 20.8% (37) reported in a sample of adolescents before the COVID-19 outbreak, in a study using the same NSSI measurement tool as in our study. Because of the high prevalence and clinical significance of these behaviors, the topic is worthy of more attention during the COVID-19 pandemic. In the current study we tested factors that increased and decreased the risk of NSSI in a sample of Chinese adolescents aged 14–17.

Although previous studies have demonstrated that depression could mediate the link between stressful life events and NSSI, resilience as an important moderator is the major strength of this work. Previous research has focused on just parts of the moderated mediation model we test in the current study. Wang and Liu (28) studied whether resilience buffered the association between stressful life events and delinquency. Other researchers (29) showed that that resilience weakened the impact of peer victimization on depression. None of these studies has established that resilience buffered the direct and indirect relations between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI. Guided by the experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22) and the protective factor model of resilience (23), the current research filled in these gaps by examining the mediating role of depression, and the moderating role of resilience, in the links between stressful life events and NSSI. The results supported our hypotheses concerning the environmental context in which NSSI occurs, and the role of individual differences in navigating that environment.



#### FIGURE 4

Interactive effect of stressful life events and resilience on depression. Resilience is graphed for two groups of participants: high resilience (1 SD above the mean) and low resilience (1 SD below the mean).



## Stressful life events and NSSI

The findings supported our hypothesis that adolescents who experienced stressful life events are more likely to engage in NSSI. This result confirmed the findings from previous studies that showed a significant positive correlation between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI (16–18, 44). This result also is consistent with what would be expected based on the general strain theory (15). These findings suggest that reducing stressful life events would be beneficial in reducing adolescent NSSI.

## The mediating role of depression

The findings supported our hypothesis that depression mediates the association between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI. Thus, depression appears to be one of the explanatory mechanisms that might explain why adolescents who experience stressful life events are more likely to engage in NSSI. These results are consistent with those from previous studies that found that stressful life events could increase the risk of depression (17, 21, 51, 52). Our results suggest that we should pay more attention to adolescents who have experienced stressful life events and teach them how to alleviate their depressive moods.

Our results also suggest that depression in response to stressful life events could in turn increase the risk of NSSI. According to the experiential avoidance model of NSSI (22), negative emotions usually precede NSSI, and adolescents may engage in NSSI as a means of avoiding these emotions. Our findings are consistent with this model and with other research showing that negative emotions (such as depression, anxiety, and anger expression) are a particularly significant trigger of adolescent NSSI (6, 16, 30, 44, 45, 53). Our results, together with those of earlier research, provide evidence of a mediated pathway in which stressful life events increase the risk of negative emotions, which in turn increases the risk of NSSI.

## The moderating role of resilience

Consistent with our hypothesis and with the protective factor model of resilience (23), we found that resilience moderated the mediation effect of depression in the relationship between stressful life events and NSSI. To be specific, high levels of resilience significantly weakened the impact of stressful life events on depression and on NSSI. These findings were in alignment with previous studies that found that resilience buffered the association between stressful life events and adolescents' negative outcomes (28–30).

According to the resilience theory (23), resilience may be a buffer against stress because it helps adolescents who experience stressful life events to mobilize their internal protective resources (such as coping skills and self-efficacy) and external protective resources (such as parental support and adult mentoring). In addition, adolescents with high levels of resilience have a positive outlook on life, and see adversity (such as stressful life events) as temporary (46). These characteristics should leave them less prone to depression and NSSI in the face of stressful life events.

## Limitations and future directions

First, this research was conducted using a cross sectional study design. Future studies can adopt a longitudinal design

with multiple time points to further explore the bidirectional relationships between stressful life events, resilience, depression and NSSI. Second, because all data were based on adolescents' self-reports, the associations may be inflated due to shared method bias. Future research should use a variety of methods (such as interviews) and information sources (such as peers) to collect data. Third, this study only tested the mediating role of depression in the relationship between stressful life events and adolescent NSSI, and future research can test the mediating roles of other emotions such as anxiety (6), anger expression (16), and shame (47). Moreover, this study only explored one moderator, namely resilience, and future research can test whether other factors such as regulatory emotional self-efficacy (50) protect against the effects of stressful life events on adolescents' depression and NSSI. Fourth, the sample was recruited from one school in Central China, and the results need to be replicated in other Chinese and non-Chinese samples. Finally, Covidrelated life events and stress, family status, and financial problems have not been assessed and need to be assessed in further studies.

## Implications for practice

The current research has two important implications for prevention and intervention. First, depression appears to be a mechanism linking stressful life events to adolescent NSSI, and reducing depression may help to prevent the influence of stressful life events on NSSI. For instance, schools can teach students to master positive and effective emotion regulation methods by starting mental health courses, which can help reduce depression in time. Second, the results showed that resilience was a protective factor that buffered against the effect of stressful life events. Interventionists can improve the level of adolescents' resilience by developing social skills, self-efficacy, and academic skills (23).

## Conclusions

The current study contributes to the relevant literature by highlighting the roles of depression and resilience in the relationship between stressful life events and NSSI among Chinese adolescents. Results showed that depression is a potential mechanism linking stressful life events to adolescent NSSI, and resilience may be a protective factor that buffers against this risk process. Specifically, the adverse impact of stressful live effects on NSSI through depression was weaker in adolescents with higher resilience. These findings can inspire practitioners to pay attention to the interaction of risk factors and protective factors when providing prevention and intervention for adolescent NSSI.

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Hubei University of Science and Technology. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## Author contributions

CW, ZL, and XJ conceived and designed the research. CW and QX collected and analyzed the data. CW, TM, QX, and CY reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## Funding

This study was supported by the Philosophy and Social Sciences Research Project of Hubei Provincial Department of Education (21Y211), the Hubei Educational Science Planning Project (2021GB109), and the Research Project of the Research Center for Rural Educational and Cultural Development, Key Research Base of Humanities and Social Sciences in Hubei Province (2021NJZD03 and 2018-19JZ15).

## Acknowledgments

We gratefully acknowledge the adolescents who participated in our research and the school administrators who facilitated the study.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Nock MK. Self-injury. Annu Rev Clin Psychol. (2010) 6:339– 63. doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131258

2. Swannell SV, Martin GE, Page A, Hasking P, St John NJ. Prevalence of nonsuicidal self-injury in nonclinical samples: Systematic review, metaanalysis and meta-regression. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2014) 44:273–303. doi: 10.1111/sltb.12070

3. Gu HL, Ma PY, Xia TS. Childhood emotional abuse and adolescent nonsuicidal self-injury: the mediating role of identity confusion and moderating role of rumination. *Child Abuse Neg.* (2020) 106:104474. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104474

4. Wang Y, Qin Y, Xiao C, Lin X. The relationship between interparental conflict and adolescents' self-injury: a moderate mediation model. *Psychol Dev Ed.* (2016) 32:377–84. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2016.03.1

5. Zhao S, Hu J, Li D, Wan Y, Zhao L, Fang J, et al. Associations of being bullied and non-suicidal self-injury with suicidal behaviors among Chinese adolescents. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 23:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-02166-9

6. Zhu J, Chen Y, Su B, Zhang W. Anxiety symptoms mediates the influence of cybervictimization on adolescent non-suicidal self-injury: the moderating effect of self-control. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 285:144–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021. 01.004

7. Cipriano A, Cella S, Cotrufo P. Nonsuicidal self-injury: a systematic review. Front Psychol. (2017) 8:1946. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01946

8. Hepp J, Carpenter RW, Störkel LM, Schmitz SE, Schmahl C, Niedtfeld IA, et al. systematic review of daily life studies on non-suicidal self-injury based on the four-function model. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2020) 82:101888. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020. 101888

9. Kiekens G, Hasking P, Boyes M, Claes L, Mortier P, Auerbach RP, et al. The associations between non-suicidal self-injury and first onset suicidal thoughts and behaviors. J Affect Disord. (2018) 239:171–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.06.033

 Mars B, Heron J, Klonsky ED, Moran P, O'Connor RC, Tilling K, et al. Predictors of future suicide attempt among adolescents with suicidal thoughts or non-suicidal self-harm: a population-based birth cohort study. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:327–37. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30030-6

11. Hou L, Liu Y. The influence of stressful life events of college students on subjective well-being: the mediation effect of the operational effectiveness. *Open J Soc Sci.* (2016) 4:70–6. doi: 10.4236/jss.2016.46008

12. Liu X, Liu L, Yang J, Chai F, Wang A, Sun L, et al. Reliability and validity test of adolescent life events scale. *Chinese J Clin Psychol.* (1997) 5:34–6.

13. Kiive E, Laas K, Vaht M, Veidebaum T, Harro J. Stressful life events increase aggression and alcohol use in young carriers of the GABRA2 rs279826/rs279858 A-allele. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2017) 27:816–27. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.02.003

14. Li D, Zhang W, Li X, Zhou Y, Zhao L, Wang Y, et al. Stressful life events and adolescent Internet addiction: the mediating role of psychological needs satisfaction and the moderating role of coping style. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2016) 63:408–15. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.05.070

15. Agnew R. Foundation for a general strain theory of crime and delinquency. Criminology. (1992) 30:47-88. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-9125.1992.tb01093.x

16. Cipriano A, Claes L, Gandhi A, Cella S, Cotrufo P. Does anger expression mediate the relationship between parental rejection and direct and indirect forms of non-suicidal self-injury? *J Child Fam Stud.* (2020) 29:3575–85. doi: 10.1007/s10826-020-01844-9

17. Lan T, Jia X, Lin D, Liu X. Stressful life events, depression, and nonsuicidal self-injury among chinese left-behind children: moderating effects of self-esteem. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:244. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019. 00244

18. Xin M, Yang X, Liu K, Naz Boke B, Bastien L. Impact of negative life events and social support on nonsuicidal self-injury among Chinese Middle School students. *Am J Mens Health.* (2020) 14:1557988320937124. doi: 10.1177/1557988320937124

19. Baetens I, Greene D, Van Hove L, Van Leeuwen K, Wiersema JR, Desoete A, et al. Predictors and consequences of non-suicidal self-injury in relation to life, peer, and school factors. *J Adolesc.* (2021) 90:100–8. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2021.06.005

20. Gao Y, Wang H, Liu X, Xiong Y, Wei M. Associations between stressful life events, non-suicidal self-injury, and depressive symptoms among Chinese rural-to-urban children: a three-wave longitudinal study. *Stress Health.* (2020) 36:522–32. doi: 10.1002/smi.2954

21. Steinhoff A, Bechtiger L, Ribeaud D, Eisner M, Shanahan L. Stressful life events in different social contexts are associated with selfinjury from early adolescence to early adulthood. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:487200. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.487200

22. Chapman AL, Gratz KL, Brown MZ. Solving the puzzle of deliberate self-harm: the experiential avoidance model. *Behav Res Ther.* (2006) 44:371–94. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2005.03.005

23. Fergus S, Zimmerman MA. Adolescent resilience: a framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. *Annu Rev Public Health.* (2005) 26:399–419. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.26.021304.14 4357

24. Gotlib IH, Hammen CL. *Handbook of Depression, 2nd ed.* New York: Guilford Press (2008).

25. Wu, N, Hou, Y, Chen, P, and You, J. (2019). Peer acceptance and nonsuicidal self-injury among Chinese adolescents: a longitudinal moderated mediation model. *J Youth Adolesc.* 48, 1806–17. *doi: 10.1007/s10964-019-01093-0* 

26. Luthar, S. S, Cicchetti, D, and Becker, B. (2000). The construct of resilience: a critical evaluation and guidelines for future work. *Child Dev.* 71, 543– 62. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/1132374 doi: 10.1111/1467-8624. 00164

27. Luthar SS. Resilience in development: a synthesis of research across five decades. *Devl Psychop*. (2015) 20:739–95. doi: 10.1002/9780470939406.ch20

28. Wang Q, Liu X. Stressful life events and delinquency among Chinese rural left-behind adolescents: the roles of resilience and separation duration. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2020) 117:105320. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105320

29. Ye Z, Chen L, Harrison SE, Guo H, Li X, Lin D, et al. Peer Victimization and depressive symptoms among rural-to-urban migrant children in china: the protective role of resilience. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:01542. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01542

30. Wu N, Hou Y, Zeng Q, Cai H, You J. Bullying experiences and nonsuicidal self-injury among chinese adolescents: a longitudinal moderated mediation model. *J Youth Adolesc.* (2021) 50:753–66. doi: 10.1007/s10964-020-01380-1

31. Lantos JD, Yeh HW, Raza F, Connelly M, Goggin K, Sullivant SA, et al. Suicide risk in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pediatrics*. (2022) 149:e2021053486. doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-053486

32. Lin, M-. P. (2020). Prevalence of internet addiction during the COVID-19 outbreak and its risk factors among junior high school students in Taiwan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 17, 8547. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228547

33. Tang WC, Lin MP, You J, Wu JYW, Chen KC. Prevalence and psychosocial risk factors of nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-01931-0

34. Chen Z, Yang X, Li X. Psychometric features of CES-D in Chinese adolescents. *Psychol Dev Educ.* (2009) 17, 443–5. Available online at: https://kns.cnki.net/kcms/

35. Radloff LS. The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl Psychol Meas.* (1977) 1:385–401. doi: 10.1177/014662167700100306

36. Hu Y, Gan Y. Development and psychometric validity of the resilience scale for Chinese adolescents. *Acta Psychol Sinica*. (2008) 40:902–12. Available online at: https://kns.cnki.net/kcms/

37. Ren Y, Lin MP, Liu YH, Zhang X, Wu JYW, Hu WH, et al. The mediating role of coping strategy in the association between family functioning and nonsuicidal self-injury among Taiwanese adolescents. *J Clin Psychol.* (2018) 74, 1246–57. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22587

38. Gratz KL. Measurement of deliberate self-harm: preliminary data on the deliberate self-harm inventory. *J Psychopathol Behav.* (2001) 23:253-63. doi: 10.1023/A:1012779403943

39. You J, Leung F. The role of depressive symptoms, family invalidation and behavioral impulsivity in the occurrence and repetition of non-suicidal selfinjury in Chinese adolescents: a 2-year follow-up study. *J Adolesc.* (2012) 35:389– 95. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2011.07.020

40. Meng L, Qu D, Bu H, Huo L, Yang Qi L, Yang J, et al. The psychosocial correlates of non-suicidal self-injury within a sample of adolescents With mood disorder. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 11:768400. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.768400

41. Rahman F, Webb RT, Wittkowski A. Risk factors for self-harm repetition in adolescents: a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2021) 88:102048. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102048

42. Hoyle RH. Handbook of Structural Equation Modeling. New York: Guilford Press (2012).

43. Turner BJ, Robillard CL, Ames ME, Craig SG. Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation and deliberate self-harm in Canadian adolescents during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2022) 67:403–6. doi: 10.1177/07067437211036612

44. Cipriano A, Cella S, Cotrufo P. Non-suicidal self-injury among Italian adolescents: the role of parental rejection, self-concept, anger expression, and body investment. *Clin Neuropsychiatry.* (2020) 17:330-8. doi: 10.36131/cnfioritieditore20200602

45. Prinstein MJ, Heilbron N, Guerry JD, Franklin JC, Rancourt D, Simon V, et al. Peer influence and nonsuicidal self injury: longitudinal results in community and clinically-referred adolescent samples. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2010) 38:669–82. doi: 10.1007/s10802-010-9423-0

46. Salami SO. Moderating effects of resilience, self-esteem and social support on adolescents' reactions to violence. *Asian Soc Sci.* (2010) 6:101-10. doi: 10.5539/ass.v6n12p101

47. Hack J, Martin G. Expressed emotion, shame, and non-suicidal self-injury. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2018) 15:890. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15050890

48. Zhang Y, Bao X, Yan J, Miao H, Guo C. Anxiety and depression in Chinese students during the COVID-19 pandemic: a meta-analysis. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 17:697642. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.697642

49. Chen X, Qi H, Liu R, Feng Y, Li W, Xiang M, et al. Depression, anxiety and associated factors among Chinese adolescents during the COVID-19 outbreak: a comparison of two cross-sectional studies. *Transl Psychiat*. (2021) 11:148. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01271-4

50. Liu S, You J, Ying J, Li X, Shi Q. Emotion reactivity, nonsuicidal self-injury, and regulatory emotional self-efficacy: a moderated mediation model of suicide ideation. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 266:82–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.083

51. Zhang W, Wang H, Yu C. The internet bullying and adolescents' non-suicidal self injury: the role of depression and parent-child communication. *Chinese J Youth Soc Sci.* (2021) 40:88–96. doi: 10.16034/j.cnki.10-1318/c.2021.05.014

52. Chen Z, Feng Y, Song W, Liu X. The relationship of parent-child separation, peer victimization and depression in adolescents: a longitudinal study. *Psychol Dev Educ.* (2021) 37:429–38. doi: 10.16187/j.cnki.issn1001-4918.2021.03.14

53. Liu ZZ, Tein JY, Jia CX, Liu X. Depression as a mediator between frequent nightmares and non-suicidal self-injury among adolescents: a 3-wave longitudinal model. *Sleep Med.* (2020) 4642. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.11.015

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### REVIEWED BY Annarosa Cipriano,

University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Alessandra D'Agostino alessandra.dagostino@uniurb.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 23 June 2022 ACCEPTED 25 July 2022 PUBLISHED 12 August 2022

#### CITATION

D'Agostino A, Gritti ES and Gagliardi C (2022) Generation COVID-19 and bodily disorders: Hyperbolic narratives and a developmental psychopathology perspective. *Front. Public Health* 10:976584. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.976584

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 D'Agostino, Gritti and Gagliardi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Generation COVID-19 and bodily disorders: Hyperbolic narratives and a developmental psychopathology perspective

Alessandra D'Agostino<sup>1</sup>\*, Emanuela Saveria Gritti<sup>2</sup> and Chiara Gagliardi<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Humanities, University of Urbino Carlo Bo, Urbino, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy

Starting from spring 2020, newspapers headlines and studies have suggested that the COVID-19 pandemics had a negative impact especially on the mental health of children and adolescents, so that terms like "lost generation" or "generation COVID-19" have been used to define youth in time of pandemic crisis. Similarly, international health agencies reported an increase in depression and anxiety among adolescents in COVID-19 time, but also a rise in bodily disorders, such as non-suicidal self-injury and eating disorders. However, scientific data on this matter are not as clear as they seem and theoretical-clinical proposals regarding the processes involved are lacking. Focusing specifically on bodily disorders in adolescents during COVID-19, the aim of this perspective paper is to review this issue and propose a novel viewpoint on it. Firstly, data regarding frequency and phenomenology of bodily disorders in adolescence before and during the pandemic will be presented to underline possible discrepancies, gaps, or hyperbolic descriptions in the literature published after the COVID-19 outbreak. Secondly, a specific theoretical-clinical perspective will be proposed, that is, a developmental psychopathology perspective which attempts to frame these phenomena in a more nuanced and complex way, taking into account the role of developmental processes in adolescence age and its difficulties in the specific, subjective life-context of the individual, when intertwining with vulnerability factors and stressful life events. As such, the function of the body for the adolescent as a primary mean for regulating the self-other relationship and developing a greater sense of self-agency will be highlighted. The final objective is to help the clinician in developing both a critical thinking about the data that are shared in public outlets and an intervention that takes into account the complexity of contemporary psychopathological phenomena.

#### KEYWORDS

bodily disorders, non-suicidal self-injury, eating disorders, adolescents, COVID-19, developmental psychopathology

## Introduction

Since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, media and journals have highlighted an increasingly serious alarm regarding its negative effects on the mental health of young people, so that terms like "lost generation" or "generation COVID-19" have been used to identify youth in time of pandemic crisis, that is, those who have had points of transition in their life disrupted (1–5).

Similarly, WHO (6) and other international health agencies (7), together with a certain number of studies (8–14) reported an increase in depression and anxiety among adolescents in COVID-19 time, but also a rise in bodily disorders, such as non-suicidal self-injury and eating disorders. These data, if absolutized, shed a dark light on the future of mental health of youth. However, things are not always as simple as they seem, especially when psychopathology is at stake.

Focusing specifically on bodily disorders in adolescents during COVID-19, the aim of this perspective paper is to review this issue and propose a novel viewpoint on it. Firstly, data regarding frequency and phenomenology of bodily disorders in adolescence before and during the pandemic will be presented to underline possible discrepancies, gaps, or hyperbolic descriptions in the literature published after the COVID-19 outbreak. Secondly, a specific theoreticalclinical perspective will be proposed, that is, a developmental psychopathology perspective which attempts to frame these phenomena in a more nuanced and complex way, taking into account the role of developmental processes in adolescence age and its difficulties in the specific, subjective life-context of the individual, when intertwining with vulnerability factors and stressful life events. As such, the function of the body for the adolescent as a primary mean for regulating the self-other relationship and developing a greater sense of self-agency will be highlighted.

The final objective is to help the clinician in developing both a critical thinking about the data that are shared in public outlet and an intervention that takes into account the complexity of contemporary psychopathological phenomena.

## Bodily disorders in adolescents during pandemic time: What do we know so far?

From a quickly glance at the media and newspapers headlines dated 2020–22 (15–17), and especially the Italian ones (18–23), the impression is of a real explosion of psychopathological phenomena related to the body in adolescents, since the COVID-19 pandemic has begun. In particular, non-suicidal self-injury (NSSI) (24), i.e., deliberately injuring one's own body tissue without suicidal intent, such as cutting or burning, and eating disorders (EDs), i.e., disturbed eating-related behaviors, such as anorexia or bulimia nervosa, appear to have increased dramatically in the young population over the past 2 years. But is the current situation really explosive or is there a hyperbole in its narration? To clarify things, it is necessary to look at the data provided by recent scientific literature. The main findings can be divided into three topics: (a) epidemiological data; (b) risk factors; (c) access to healthcare.

*First of all, epidemiological data.* Regarding NSSI, as underlined by Plener (25), there is currently a lack of knowledge

of the impact of COVID-19 specifically on the prevalence of NSSI in adolescents, as most of the studies do not clearly distinct suicidal from non-suicidal behaviors. The few existing ones across different countries find an increase during the pandemic compared to pre-pandemic time, with cutting as the most prevalent method. For example, Zetterqvist et al. (26), analyzing life-time prevalence of NSSI in high school students in Sweden at three different time points, report very similar percentages of NSSI in 2011 and 2014 (17.2 vs. 17.7%), and an increase to 27.6% during the 2020-2021 period; however, authors specify that it is not clear if that increase is due to the pandemic or it appeared already before its onset. Similarly, Tang et al. (27) highlight a NSSI prevalence of 40.9% among 1.060 junior high school students in Taiwan during the COVID-19 outbreak (cutting = 21.6%), a rate estimated as increasingly higher than that found in previous international investigations on adolescent samples (rates between 13 and 36%). However, they also specify that no causal relationships could be determined due to the cross-sectional nature of the study. Interestingly, in most of the studies the prevalence of NSSI is significantly higher in girls and transgender/non-binary adolescents rather than in boys, and this seems valid in both pre- and post-pandemic times.

Regarding EDs, some studies report an increase in the number and severity of new and pre-existing adolescents suffering with eating disorders during the pandemic compared to pre-pandemic time, particularly for anorexia nervosa. For example, Taquet et al. (28), analyzing the electronic health records (EHR) of 5.2 million US people aged under 30 (mean age = 15.4 years), find that, after a decrease in the early portion of 2020 (which could reflect the marked reduction in all diagnoses made in EHR network during that period), the incidence of a first diagnosis of an ED has increased of 15.3% throughout the rest of 2020 compared to previous years, such that the relative risk had exceeded 1.5 by the end of the year. However, authors specify that the increase was limited to girls and mostly related to anorexia nervosa diagnoses. Moreover, Gao et al. (29), in a systematic review of recent studies on ED patients and COVID-19, observe that women and young people had greater concern about their body image and appearance, more difficulties in regulating eating, and a greater risk of worsening ED symptoms during the lockdowns. Conversely, authors also underline that some participants with anorexia nervosa reported relieving symptoms during the same period, probably thanks to e-therapy, more stable family relationships, and fewer social stressors. Finally, Graell et al. (30), conducting a study on Spanish young people with EDs, find that the patients with most severe psychopathology (25%) presented both NSSI and reactivation of ED symptoms.

Secondly, risk factors. Regarding this matter, just a few studies so far have tried to identify the mediating/moderating effect of risk factors in the relationship between pandemic and emerging or worsening of NSSI or EDs. As for NSSI, Robillard et al. (13), for example, using a sample of Canadian adolescents,

24

report that the relationship between COVID-19 pandemic stress and NSSI was fully mediated by two dimensions of emotion regulation (ER) difficulties, namely non-acceptance of emotional responses and limited access to ER strategies. Similarly, Tang et al. (27), using a sample of Taiwan teenagers, suggest that the NSSI group during the pandemic mostly consisted of girls scoring significantly higher in neuroticism, depression, impulsivity, alexithymia, virtual social support, dissatisfaction with academic performance, and lower in subjective wellbeing, self-esteem, actual social support, as well as family function than the non-NSSI group. As for EDs, Cooper et al. (31), for example, recommend to take into account two types of risk factors that may increase ED risk during and following the COVID-19 pandemic: (a) eating-disorder specific risk factors (i.e., food insecurity, fatphobic messaging, and restricted healthcare access); (b) broader risk factors (i.e., stressful life events, anxiety, social isolation and decreased social support, trauma and abuse, perfectionist expectations, and gender role stress). Similarly, Linardon et al. (32), in a systematic scoping review of research on COVID-19 impact on EDs, find that those most susceptible to symptoms escalation and mental health worsening during pandemic were: confirmed eating disorder patients, atrisk populations (young women, athletes, parent/carers), and individuals highly anxious or fearful of COVID-19.

Thirdly, access to healthcare. Regarding NSSI, findings from different countries report a significative reduction in the use of psychiatric services by children and young people during the early phase of the pandemic. For example, Ougrin et al. (33), in a retrospective cohort study examining the differences in hospital emergency psychiatric presentations for non-suicidal self-injury of children and adolescents during the COVID-19 lockdown in March-April 2020 compared with the same period in 2019, find a noticeable decrease in recorded emergency presentations and in inpatient psychiatric admissions during the COVID-19 lockdown. Similarly, Yunus et al. (34), in a systematic review analyzing studies published between January 2020 and March 2021, show a considerable reduction in the use of psychiatric services by children and young people aged 0-24 during the initial phase of the pandemic, compared to pre-pandemic time. According to Chen (35), this reduction could be merely due to the lockdown restrictions, but also to other reasons, such as fear of being infected by COVID-19 or reduction of psychosocial risk factors during lockdown, such as less academic pressure and peer bullying and increased parental care. However, as highlighted by Plener (25) and remarked by Zetterqvist (26), most of the studies on this topic do not clearly separate suicidal from non-suicidal behaviors, so any specifically inference on the latter is risky and incorrect.

Regarding EDs, available literature is lacking systematic reviews, whereas single published studies report an increase in the healthcare access by teens with eating disorders during the pandemic, compared to pre-pandemic time. For example, Otto et al. (36), collecting data on patients aged 10–23 years admitted to their children's hospital in Michigan for restrictive EDs from March 2017 through March 2021, find that medical admissions among adolescents with EDs increased significantly during the COVID-19 pandemic, with the number of admissions during the first 12 months of the pandemic more than double the mean for the previous 3 years. Similarly, Lin et al. (37), analyzing monthly summary data on ED admissions to young medical services in children's hospital in Boston from January 2018 to February 2021, highlight that inpatient admissions, hospital bed-days, and outpatient care-related inquiries increased on average over time postpandemic compared to pre-pandemic time. However, outpatient assessments decreased precipitously initially following COVID-19-related limitations, and rose quickly back to baseline. This latter finding is in line with the reduction of access to healthcare services by young people presenting non-suicidal self-injury, reported by the aforementioned studies. Nevertheless, such studies do not allow data generalization, as they reflect the experience of a single institution in a specific geographic area having also specific COVID-19 conditions and restrictions, as the authors themselves specify in their final considerations.

## Beyond the pandemic: The role of the body for the adolescent and an integrative framework to understand

This quick and certainly not exhaustive overview of the most relevant data available on bodily disorders in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic highlights a far more complex and nuanced scenario than what appears from newspapers headlines.

*First of all, increase is not (sudden) explosion.* The fact that NSSI and EDs in young people may have increased during the pandemic does not mean that they are born in pandemic time. Rather, it means that such phenomena must be evaluated in a much broader time perspective, as they were already widespread in the young population long before the pandemic, and probably also underestimated due to the social stigma frequently related to these disorders, that might obstruct help-seeking behaviors and contribute to decreased visibility and poor general awareness of these disorders in society (35, 38). The scientific community has been signaling an alarm in this sense for at least 10 years (39, 40), but media attention has only recently risen significantly.

Secondly, correlation is not causation. The fact that bodily disorders in adolescents have potentially increased *during* the pandemic does not mean automatically that they have increased *because of* the pandemic. Various mediating/moderating factors could be involved in this relationship, but they have not been considered in the published studies. This issue brings out another closely related one: significant methodological limits in the clinical studies published during the COVID-19 pandemic years call for caution in interpreting findings (6, 41, 42). In fact, most of them were observational, involved convenient samples, underwent shorter peer-review evaluation, and made comparison to pre-pandemic experiences that were retrospective recall or comparison to pre-pandemic cohorts without adequate control of differences between samples.

Thirdly, and most importantly, psychopathology is a complex matter involving multiple factors to account for single phenomena. According to cited findings, not all adolescents have experienced bodily disorders during the pandemic, and those who encountered difficulties in this regard have done it in different ways. For example, at-risk subgroups of adolescents (i.e., adolescents with pre-existing mental difficulties) are identified in all studies as the most prone to bodily disorders during the lockdown, although some of them report relieving rather than worsening symptoms during the same period, thanks to better family conditions and fewer social stressors. So, understanding such behaviors is not so simple and there is need to open up the perspective. In other words, psychopathological conditions must be located in the complex intertwining of lifecontext and mind-body relationship of the individual. Reasons and meanings must also be explored.

For all these reasons and given the urgency of developing a tailored intervention for these contemporary conditions, we propose to place bodily disorders in adolescents during the pandemic within the theoretical-clinical framework of developmental psychopathology perspective. Developmental psychopathology is an interdisciplinary field that has been developed between late 1970s and early 1980s (43, 44) and can be defined as "an evolving scientific discipline whose predominant focus is elucidating the interplay among the biological, psychological, and social contextual aspects of normal and abnormal development across the life span" [(45), p.1]. This field is distinct from clinical child psychology and focuses on the origins and courses of individual patters of behavioral maladaptation, with a particular attention to both risk and protective factors that delineate pathways of risk and resilience (46), thus painting a more complicated, flexible picture of psychopathology emerging through the combination of many factors shifting across time, some of which are deeply rooted in our biology (i.e., genetic) and others exist in our outside environments (i.e., parenting). Today developmental psychopathology is considered "an integrative framework that links different scientific disciplines, theories, and research strategies to understand better how individuals adapt and develop risk for psychopathology" [(47), p.19].

This kind of integrative framework is especially useful for understanding psychopathology in youth (47). In fact, adolescence is a particularly compelling phase of development, carrying a heavy load of developmental tasks to perform, due to the intensity of the biological, psychological and social changes faced and calling for a profound reorganization of the identity. Adolescent is no longer a child but not yet an adult. "Consequently, the flux and renegotiation inherent in this developmental period increase the potential for both internal and external conflict" [(48), p.6]. For all these reasons, adolescence has been defined as a period of "storm and stress" (49), and the problems in adjustment presented by a few were generalized as normative experiences for all adolescents (50). Certainly, the storm and stress of adolescence is neither universal nor inevitable (48). Nevertheless, adolescence does generate more psychological turmoil than either childhood or adulthood (51), thus bringing considerable stressors and compromising health (52).

Not surprisingly, literature and research underline a rise in rates of psychopathology during this phase (47, 53). Particularly, externalizing (e.g., aggression and conduct disorders) and internalizing problems (i.e., depression and anxiety) are two empirically derived dimensional constructs that have been used frequently to operationalize adolescent problems (54, 55), and that may be just transient symptoms disappearing in adulthood or, rather, start during childhood and continue into adolescence and beyond (56). Also, new problems such as personality disorders and eating disorders appear for the first-time during adolescence (57, 58). So, adolescence is a period characterized by both continuity and change in psychopathology (47, 56).

The body of the adolescent is the catalyst of all this "continuity and change." As suggested by Diem-Wille [(59), p.4], also referring to Freud (60): "There is no period—aside from the time in the womb—when the body alters as much as in puberty. Bodily changes are subject neither to a person's will nor their control, erupting and eliciting fiery emotions in the adolescent." Especially during this period of fundamental physical change, the body is most intimately linked to the ego (59). As Freud [(61), p.253] underlines: "The ego is always a body ego."

Since all dimensions from the relatively peaceful latency period are in flux, the adolescent now finds a kind of refuge in his body, even though it is also a source of insecurities and fears as it rapidly changes. If he/she suddenly knows nothing about himself /herself (values, desires, position in the world), at least he/she can control his/her own body, or, better, that is the illusion.

Following this perspective, the body can be seen as an instrument -the one closest to hand- for the adolescent to adapt to the many internal/external changes, and its possible symptoms as a way for him/her to regulate the relationship between self and the world in a very turbulent time of life. This could be particularly true and violent in young people experiencing more severe psychopathology, for example those with comorbid internalizing and externalizing problems, who resemble a severe at-risk state in which the predictive value for psychopathology increases over time (56). In fact, in the developmental psychopathology view, disorders and diseases must be seen not as a static condition but as a dynamic transaction between intra and extra organismic forces, or as consequences of the active efforts of each individual to adapt to their environment (62). According to our perspective, bodily disorders (especially NSSI and EDs) can be located within this frame of meaning.

In fact, over the years several authors, clinicians, and scientists from different theoretical points of view have developed reflections and models to understand these behaviors. They all agree that bodily disorders have a specific function in the psychic economy of a person with a specific vulnerability in terms of body-mind integration and living specific environmental challenges. They are an immediately effective method, through the body, of regulating one's affective/cognitive experience and/or influencing one's social environment in a desired way, being maintained by intrapersonal or interpersonal vulnerability factors with reinforcement processes (63-72). In this view, bodily disorders in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic acquire a completely different depth compared to what appears from the newspapers: not incomprehensible "bolts from the blue," but emerging phenomena within a complex dynamic of internal-external factors regulation in the subjective experience of a person in effort to relate to his/her life-context. We suggest to explore this whole network of risk and protective factors within a long-time span to understand complex clinical phenomena in present time and their possible course in the future.

## Discussion

A number of headlines referring to scientific studies have raised an alarm about a possible increase of bodily disorders, particularly NSSI and EDs, in adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as highlighted in this paper, several issues call for caution in interpreting these data.

First of all, the true picture of mental health among young people is more complex than that portrayed in the news headlines (1). A hyperbolic style in recent news dramatically relating increased bodily disorders to the pandemic *per se* risks to obscure the complex network of factors influencing such relationship. The same can be said of studies highlighting the correlation between COVID-19 and increased disturbances without using the methodological complexity necessary to derive cause-and-effect relationships.

Secondly, the social stigma, often connected with this kind of disturbances, has not at all or little been considered in the present circumstances. As previously underlined, considerable stigma and self-stigmatization associated to NSSI and EDs might inhibit help-seeking behavior and contribute to poor general awareness of these disorders in society (38). In this sense, the pandemic might have exacerbated trends already present but not visible in the adolescent population, thus highlighting the status of adolescents' mental health (1) and legitimatizing somehow help-seeking behaviors (e.g., bodily disorders), previously held back by greater shame and fear. Thirdly, risk and protective factors are imperative to map the course of these disorders and delineate psychopathological patterns that are dynamic and individual, rather than static and collective. So, conceptualizing such disturbances in a developmental psychopathology perspective can be helpful for bringing prevention and developing tailored treatments. It can also be useful for better identification of adolescents who are more prone to be resilient despite increasing current stressors, and those for whom, instead, increased exposure to stress could result in amplified psychological problems.

In conclusion, the pandemic has certainly had wide-ranging effects on young people, but we need to be more accurate to explore reasons and meanings in individual paths in order to understand questions concerning eventual psychopathology, as developmental plasticity and resilience typical of that stage of life give us room for optimism (5).

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## Author contributions

AD conceptualized the work, designed the paper, and wrote the manuscript. ESG helped in conceptualizing the work, searching for literature and revising the manuscript. CG helped in revising the manuscript and preparing the submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Hafstad GS, Augusti E-M. A lost generation? COVID-19 and adolescent mental health. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:640–1. doi: 10.1016/ S2215-0366(21)00179-6

2. United Nations. *Human Rights Day* | *United Nations*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.un.org/en/observances/human-rights-day. (accessed April 26, 2022).

3. Fore HH. Generation COVID: Respond. Recover. Reimagine. A Visual Journey of COVID-19 and Children Around the World. Unicef. (2021). Available online at: https://sites.unicef.org/generation-covid/. (accessed May 24, 2022).

4. Shoichet CE. Meet Gen C, the COVID Generation. CNN. (2021). Available online at: https://edition.cnn.com/2021/03/11/us/covid-generation-gen-c/index. html. (accessed April 20, 2022).

5. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health. A roadmap of recovery for the COVID generation. Editorial. *Lancet Child Adol Health*. (2022) 6:215. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00179-6

6. World Health Organization. *Mental Health and COVID-19: Early Evidence of the Pandemic's Impact: Scientific Brief.* (2022). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-2019-nCoV-Sci\_Brief-Mental\_health-2022.1s (accessed May 13, 2022).

7. UNICEF. The Impact of COVID-19 on the Mental Health of Adolescents and Youth. (2020). Available online at: https://www.unicef.org/lac/en/impact-covid-19-mental-health-adolescents-and-youth (accessed May 13, 2022).

8. Ammermen BA, Burke TA, Jacobucci R, McClure K. Preliminary investigation of the association between COVID-19 and suicidal thoughts and behaviors in the U.S. J Psychiatric Res. (2021) 134:32–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.12.037

9. Carosella KA, Wiglesworth A, Silamongkol T, Tavares N, Falke CA, Fiecas MB, et al. Non-suicidal self-injury in the context of COVID-19: The importance of psychosocial factors for female adolescents. *J Affect Disord Rep.* (2021) 4:100–37. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2021.100137

10. Craig SG, Ames ME, Bondi BC, Pepler DJ. Canadian adolescents' mental health and substance use during the COVID-19 pandemic: associations with COVID-19 stressors. *Can J Behav Sci.* (2022). doi: 10.1037/cbs0000305

11. Cost KT, Crosbie J, Anagnostou E, Birken CS, Charach A, Monga S, et al. Mostly worse, occasionally better: impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of Canadian children and adolescents. *Eur Child Adol Psychiatry.* (2021) 31:671–84. doi: 10.1007/s00787-021-01744-3

12. Hamza CA, Ewing L, Heath NL, Goldstein AL. When social isolation is nothing new: a longitudinal study psychological distress during COVID-19 among university students with and without preexisting mental health concerns. *Can Psychol Psychol Canad.* (2020) 62:20–30. doi: 10.1037/cap0000255

13. Robillard CL, Turner BJ, Ames ME, Craig SG. Deliberate self-harm in adolescents during COVID-19: the roles of pandemic-related stress, emotion regulation difficulties, and social distancing. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 304:114–52. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114152

14. Singh S, Roy D, Sinha K, Parveen S, Sharma G, Joshi G. Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on mental health of children and adolescents: a narrative review with recommendations. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 293:113429. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113429

15. Beer T. Self-Harm Claims Among U.S. Teenagers Increased 99% During Pandemic, Study Finds. Forbes. (2021). Available online at: https://www.forbes. com/sites/tommybeer/2021/03/03/self-harm-claims-among-us-teenagers-increased-99-during-pandemic-study-finds/ (accessed May 16, 2022).

16. Richtel M. "It's Life or Death": The Mental Health Crisis Among U.S. Teens. The New York Times. (2022). Available online at: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/ 04/23/health/mental-health-crisis-teens.html (accessed May 11, 2022).

17. Donnelly L. Big rise in Eating Disorders Among Children Since COVID Pandemic. The Telegraph. (2021). Available online at: https://www.telegraph.co. uk/news/2021/09/30/three-four-teenage-girls-suffer-potential-eating-problems/ (accessed May 11, 2022).

18. Benedetti M. Covid e autolesionismo tra i giovanissimi: un'epidemia nella pandemia. RomaIT. (2022). Available online at: https://www.romait.it/covid-e-autolesionismo-tra-i-giovanissimi-unepidemia-nella-pandemia.html (accessed May 11, 2022).

19. Montrella S. *Così la pandemia ha travolto gli adolescenti. AGI.* (2022). Available online at: https://www.agi.it/cronaca/news/2022-03-22/covidpandemia-ragazzi-autolesionismo-suicidio-ricoveri-16076383/ (accessed May 11, 2022). 20. Giacinti SG. Disturbi alimentari, dati allarmanti: aumentati del 40% i casi nei primi sei mesi di pandemia. RaiNews. (2022). Available online at: https:// www.rainews.it/articoli/2022/03/disturbi-alimentari-dati-allarmanti-aumentatidel-40--i-casi-nei-primi-sei-mesi-di-pandemia\$-\$8bc25cce-9c4a-4e6f-ae17-04e3266b9475.html (accessed May 11, 2022).

21. Pini V. Disturbi alimentari e COVID: +36% di casi e +48% di ricoveri durante la pandemia. La Repubblica. (2022). Available online at: https://www.repubblica.it/salute/2022/05/02/news/disturbi\_alimentari\_e\_covid\_36\_di\_casi\_e\_48\_di\_ricoveri\_durante\_la\_pandemia-347781519/ (accessed May 11, 2022).

22. Gianni A. Tristi, Disorientati, autolesionisti: adolescenti piegati dalla pandemia. Il Giorno. (2021). Available online at: https://www.ilgiorno.it/cronaca/adolescenti-pandemia-1.7157015 (accessed May 12, 2022).

23. Gobbi B. Il neuropsichiatra: "Il Covid è stato un detonatore, tra i ragazzi è boom di ricoveri". Il Sole 24 ORE. (2021). Available online at: https://www. ilsole24ore.com/art/il-neuropsichiatra-il-covid-e-stato-detonatore-i-ragazzi-eboom-ricoveri-AEdWQOC (accessed May 12, 2022).

24. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5-TR.* Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association Publishing (2022).

25. Plener PL. COVID-19 and nonsuicidal self-injury: the pandemic's influence on an adolescent epidemic. *Am J Public Health.* (2021) 111:195-6. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2020.306037

26. Zetterqvist M, Jonsson LS, Landberg Å, Svedin CG. A potential increase in adolescent nonsuicidal self-injury during covid-19: a comparison of data from three different time points during 2011–2021. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 305:114208. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.114208

27. Tang W-C, Lin M-P, You J, Wu JY-W, Chen K-C. Prevalence and psychosocial risk factors of nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 1:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s12144-021-01931-0. [Epub ahead pf print].

28. Taquet M, Geddes JR, Luciano S, Harrison PJ. Incidence and outcomes of eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Brit J Psychiatry.* (2022) 220:262-4. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2021.105

29. Gao Y, Bagheri N, Furuya-Kanamori L. Has the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown worsened eating disorders symptoms among patients with eating disorders? A systematic review. *J Public Health.* (2022) 29:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s10389-022-01704-4. [Epub ahead of print].

 Graell M, Morón-Nozaleda MG, Camarneiro R, Villaseñor Á, Yáñez S, Muñoz R, et al. Children and adolescents with eating disorders during COVID-19 confinement: difficulties and future challenges. *Eur Eating Disord Rev.* (2020) 28:864–70. doi: 10.1002/erv.2763

31. Cooper M, Reilly EE, Siegel JA, Coniglio K, Sadeh-Sharvit S, Pisetsky EM, et al. Eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic and quarantine: an overview of risks and recommendations for treatment and early intervention. *Eating Disord.* (2020) 30:1–23. doi: 10.1080/10640266.2020.1790271

32. Linardon J, Messer M, Rodgers RF, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M. A systematic scoping review of research on COVID–19 impacts on eating disorders: a critical appraisal of the evidence and recommendations for the field. *Int J Eating Disord.* (2021) 55:3–38. doi: 10.1002/eat.23640

33. Ougrin D, Wong BH, Vaezinejad M, Plener PL, Mehdi T, Romaniuk L, et al. Pandemic-related emergency psychiatric presentations for self-harm of children and adolescents in 10 countries (PREP-kids): a retrospective international cohort study. *Eur Child Adol Psychiatry.* (2022) 31:1–13. doi: 10.1007/s00787-021-01741-6

34. Wan Mohd Yunus WMA, Kauhanen L, Sourander A, Brown JSL, Peltonen K, Mishina K, et al. Registered psychiatric service use, self-harm and suicides of children and young people aged 0–24 before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review. *Child Adol Psychiatry Mental Health.* (2022) 16:15. doi: 10.1186/s13034-022-00452-3

35. Chen R. The complex picture of self-harm during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* (2021) 6:100–23. doi: 10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100123

36. Otto AK, Jary JM, Sturza J, Miller CA, Prohaska N, Bravender T, et al. Medical admissions among adolescents with eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Pediatrics.* (2021) 148:e2021052201. doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-052201

37. Lin JA, Hartman-Munick SM, Kells MR, Milliren CE, Slater WA, Woods ER, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the number of adolescents/young adults seeking eating disorder-related care. *J Adol Health.* (2021) 69:660–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2021.05.019

38. Zipfel S, Schmidt U, Giel KE. The hidden burden of eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2022) 9:9-11. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(21)00435-1

39. Brown RC, Plener PL. Non-suicidal self-injury in adolescence. Curr Psychiatry Rep. (2017) 19:20. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0767-9

40. Galmiche M, Déchelotte P, Lambert G, Tavolacci MP. Prevalence of eating disorders over the 2000–2018 period: a systematic literature review. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 109:1402–13. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy342

41. Pierce M, McManus S, Jessop C, John A, Hotopf M, Ford T, et al. Says who? The significance of sampling in mental health surveys during COVID-19. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:567–8. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30237-6

42. Jung RG, Di Santo P, Clifford C, Prosperi-Porta G, Skanes S, Hung A, et al. Methodological quality of COVID-19 clinical research. *Nat Commun.* (2021) 12:943. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-21220-5

43. Rutter M, Garzemy N. Developmental Psychopathology. 4a Ed. New York, NY: Wiley (1983). p. 775–911.

44. Cicchetti D. The emergence of developmental psychopathology. *Child Dev.* (1984) 55:1.

45. Cicchetti D, Cohen DJ. Developmental Psychopathology Volume One: Theory and Method. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (2015).

46. Sroufe LA, Rutter M. The domain of developmental psychopathology. *Child Dev.* (1984) 55:17. doi: 10.2307/1129832

47. Venta A. Developmental Psychopathology. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley (2021).

48. Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA. A developmental psychopathology perspective on adolescence. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2002) 70:6–20. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.70.1.6

49. Hall GS. Adolescence: its psychology and its relation to physiology, anthropology, sociology, sex, crime, religion and education. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1904) 61:375–81. doi: 10.1176/ajp.61.2.375

50. Freud A. Adolescence. *Psychoanalytic Study Child.* (1958) 13:255-78. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1958.11823182

51. Resnick MD. Protecting adolescents from harm. Findings from the national longitudinal study on adolescent health. *JAMA*. (1997) 278:823–32. doi: 10.1001/jama.1997.03550100049038

52. Seiffge-Krenke I. Does adolescents' psychopathology change in times of change? J Adol. (2017) 61:107-12. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2017.09.010

53. Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd JN. Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2008) 9:947-57. doi: 10.1038/ nrn2513

54. Achenbach TM, Rescorla L. Manual for the ASEBA School-Age Forms & Profiles: An Integrated System of Multi-Informant Assessment. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families (2001).

55. Ara E. Internalizing and externalizing problems in adolescents analyzing the gender difference. *Int J Res Soc Sci.* (2016) 6:328–37.

56. Blok E, de Mol CL, van der Ende J, Hillegers MHJ, Althoff RR, Shaw P, et al. Stability and change of psychopathology symptoms

throughout childhood and adolescence. *Child Psychiatry Human Dev.* (2021). doi: 10.1007/s10578-021-01212-8. [Epub ahead of print].

57. Sharp C, Vanwoerden S, Wall K. Adolescence as a sensitive period for the development of personality disorder. *Psychiatric Clin North Am.* (2018) 41:669–83. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2018.07.004

58. Shulman S, Scharf M. Adolescent psychopathology in times of change: the need for integrating a developmental psychopathology perspective. *J Adol.* (2018) 65:95–100. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.03.005

59. Gertraud Diem-Wille, Mcquade B. Psychoanalytic Perspectives on Puberty and Adolescence: The Inner Worlds of Teenagers and Their Parents. Abingdon, NY: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group (2021).

60. Freud S. Three essays on the theory of sexuality. In: Strachey J, editor. *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud, Volume VII.* London: Hogarth Press (1905).

61. Freud S. The ego and the id. In: Strachey J, editor. *The Standard Edition of the Complete Psychological Works of Sigmund Freud*, *Volume XIX*. London: Hogarth Press (1923).

62. Pazzagli C. Psicopatologia evolutiva: una nuova prospettiva. In: Rossi Monti M, editor. *Percorsi di psicopatologia. Fondamenti in evoluzione*. Roma: FrancoAngeli (2001). p.71–95.

63. Chatoor I, Ganiban J, Surles J, Doussard-Roosvelt J. Physiological regulation and infantile anorexia: a pilot study. J Am Acad Child Adol Psychiatry. (2004) 43:1019–25. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000126977.64579.4e

64. Krueger DW. Body self. Psychoan Study Child. (2001) 56:238– 59. doi: 10.1080/00797308.2001.11800675

65. David Le Breton. La peau et la trace: sur les blessures de soi. Paris: Éditions Métailié (2003).

66. Nock MK, Prinstein MJ. A functional approach to the assessment of self-mutilative behavior. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (2004) 72:885–90. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.72.5.885

67. Nock M. Understanding Nonsuicidal Self-Injury: Origins, Assessment, and Treatment. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2009).

68. Rossi Monti M, D'Agostino A. L'autolesionismo. Roma: Carocci (2009).

69. D'Agostino A, Rossi Monti M. Clinica del corporeo ovvero psicopatologia della contemporaneità. *La Camera Blu Rivista Di Studi Di Genere*. (2016) 14:20–41. doi: 10.6092/1827-9198/3917

70. Le Breton D. Les scarifications comme régulation du rapport au monde. *La Camera Blu Rivista Di Studi Di Genere*. (2016) 14:9-19. doi: 10.6092/1827-9198/3994

71. Weinbach N, Sher H, Bohon C. Differences in emotion regulation difficulties across types of eating disorders during adolescence. *J Abnor Child Psychol.* (2017) 46:1351–8. doi: 10.1007/s10802-017-0365-7

72. Michel D, Venta A. "Eating disorders". In: Venta A., Sharp C., Fletcher, JM, Fonagy, et al. *Developmental Psychopathology*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley (2021). p. 252–278.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

REVIEWED BY Annarosa Cipriano, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy Marco Scotto Rosato, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Victoria D. Ojeda vojeda@health.ucsd.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Health Education and Promotion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 11 March 2022 ACCEPTED 11 July 2022 PUBLISHED 18 August 2022

#### CITATION

Ojeda VD, Magana C, Shalakhti O, Vargas-Ojeda AC and Burgos JL (2022) Tattoo discrimination in Mexico motivates interest in tattoo removal among structurally vulnerable adults. *Front. Public Health* 10:894486. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.894486

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ojeda, Magana, Shalakhti, Vargas-Ojeda and Burgos. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Tattoo discrimination in Mexico motivates interest in tattoo removal among structurally vulnerable adults

## Victoria D. Ojeda<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Christopher Magana<sup>1</sup>, Omar Shalakhti<sup>1</sup>, Adriana Carolina Vargas-Ojeda<sup>3</sup> and Jose Luis Burgos<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup>Facultad de Medicina y Psicología, Universidad Autónoma de Baja California, Tijuana, Baja California, Mexico

Tattoos are less prevalent in Mexico and tattooed persons are frequently stigmatized. We examine the prevalence and correlates of interest in receiving tattoo removal services among 278 tattooed Mexican adults living in Tijuana, Mexico who responded to interviewer-administered surveys, including openended questions. Overall, 69% of participants were interested in receiving free tattoo removal services, 31% reported facing employment barriers due to their tattoos, and 43% of respondents regretted or disliked some of their tattoos. Having a voter identification card, reporting moderate/severe depression symptoms and believing that tattoo removal would remove employment barriers were independently associated with interest in tattoo removal. Our findings suggest that there is substantial interest in tattoo removal services. Publicly financed tattoo removal services may help disadvantaged persons gain access to Mexico's labor market and it may positively impact other life domains such as mental well-being and interactions with law enforcement.

#### KEYWORDS

Mexico, tattoo removal, tattoo stigma, migration, deportation

## Introduction

Tattooing is practiced around the world and is considered a form of art and body modification (1). Tattoos have been used as a form of self-expression, during rites of passage, to convey information about relational ties among community subgroups and about the tattooed individual; tattoos have also been used as a form of punishment (1). Over the past several decades, tattoos have gained in popularity in the United States (U.S.) and elsewhere (2). In Mexico, an estimated 12 million individuals are tattooed (3). However, tattoos may be associated with anti-social behaviors and tattooed individuals may experience negative reactions from the community (4–10). Tattoo-related stigma may create additional barriers for resettlement, among the thousands of migrants deported from the U.S. (i.e., deportees), many of whom settle in the Mexican border city of Tijuana which lies adjacent to California, U.S. (11, 12). For example, tattooed adults living in Tijuana have reported discrimination in employment, housing, as

well as negative interactions with local law enforcement due to their tattoos (13–16). This study examines interest in receiving tattoo removal among structurally vulnerable adults in Tijuana, as this service may help reduce stigma experienced by tattooed community members.

Deportees residing in Tijuana face a unique risk environment that can challenge their emotional, physical and social well-being (13, 15–19). In addition, politicians and law-enforcement agencies in the U.S. have portrayed undocumented immigrants as a threat to public safety (20–23) influencing Mexicans' perceptions of deportees (9, 15, 24, 25). In Mexico, deportees often face discrimination from community members and the police, who may view them as criminals (13–16, 19). Stigma associated with tattoos may exacerbate the social precarity and vulnerability experienced by deportees in Mexican communities (4, 7–9, 15, 16).

Stigma is recognized to be a socially constructed concept that is characterized by multiple dimensions. Goffman's pioneering work initially documented the ways in which community members' treatment and perception of individuals may vary when individuals' characteristics deviate from what is deemed to be expected and the norm (26). Stigma is thus conceptualized as being created when an individual has a visible or non-visible undesirable trait that modifies an individual's relationship with other community members. Stereotyping may occur because of perceived or actual differences and the affected person's status in society may be adversely impacted (26). Additional work by Link and Phelan advance our understanding of stigma by highlighting the influence of institutions and other power structures, such as policies, in supporting the stigmatization and exclusion of individuals or groups of individuals who are deemed to not conform to the broader society's norms (26, 27). Stigma has been found to extend to the affected individual resulting in selfstigma and to that person's close contacts through stigma by association (28, 29). A growing body of work has recognized that interpersonal and structural discrimination can adversely influence health outcomes and well-being including self-esteem and self-efficacy (27, 30).

Tattoos may be stigmatized when they are visible or contain markers of stigmatized affiliations or images that are viewed as being anti-social (e.g., gang symbols) (1, 31–33). Individuals with tattoos placed near their face or hands may be judged to be of poor character (6, 34, 35), discriminated against by employers (6, 36), or harassed by police (16). Tattoo-related stigma may create feelings of regret, lead some to hide their tattoos in order to avoid discrimination or generate an interest in tattoo removal (15, 16, 37–41). While laser tattoo removal is effective (42), it is also a financially burdensome and time consuming procedure (43). The prohibitive costs of professional tattoo removal services may lead some individuals to resort to amateur methods to remove their tattoos (1, 44), which are often ineffective and can have harmful side effects including pain and scarring (38, 45, 46).

In the United States, a limited number of free or subsidized tattoo removal programs for structurally vulnerable populations (e.g., former gang members, probationers) are available (14, 44, 47). Laser tattoo removal may aid in reducing social stigma, improve social relationships, improve labor market participation, and improve the well-being of structurally vulnerable populations (44, 48, 49). However, less is known about the experiences or characteristics of tattooed Mexicans, including migrants and deportees, the prevalence of tattoo regret, interest in receiving tattoo removal, and reasons for seeking this service. These topics are the focus of this investigation which was conducted with a large sample of economically disadvantaged tattooed Mexican adults in Tijuana, Mexico; a large proportion of whom are migrants. We hypothesized that tattooed deported migrants and unemployed persons would be most interested in undergoing laser tattoo removal. Analyses were stratified by participants' interest in receiving tattoo removal in order to shed light on the characteristics of those who believe they may benefit from this service. Findings can inform the implementation of programs to support tattooed persons' integration into society and may have relevance for other communities where tattooed persons are stigmatized (50-52).

## **Methods**

## Participants and data collection

This mixed-methods cross-sectional study is based on data collected between January-May 2013. A convenience sample of 584 Mexican adults ages 18+ participated in the study; persons who were younger than age 18 based on self-report or who could not provide informed consent were excluded from joining the study. This analysis is limited to 278 tattooed Mexican adults (47% of the full sample, data not shown) attending a free healthcare clinic in Tijuana's *Zona Norte* [red light district] <1 mile of the U.S.-Mexico border.

In brief, participants responded to an intervieweradministered questionnaire (15, 16) designed to understand the health and social needs of disadvantaged persons in the region, including migrants (i.e., deported, internal, and crossnational migrants). Eligibility criteria for this analysis were: (1) Mexico-born age  $\geq$ 18 years old; (2) seeking any service at the study site; (3) speaking Spanish or English, and 4) having  $\geq$ 1 tattoo. All participants who met these criteria were invited to participate; those interested in joining the study provided their signed informed consent and received refreshments and \$10 compensation for their time. This study was approved by the University of California, San Diego Human Research Protection Program and the Ethics Boards of the Health Frontiers in Tijuana Clinic and the Autonomous University of Baja California Medical School.

## Measures

#### Quantitative data

The survey was developed by the researchers, with the exception of the depression scale, for application to this unique setting; it has been used to support prior research (15, 16). Trained bilingual interviewers administered the survey. Data collection lasted  ${\sim}45$  min and interviewers entered participants' responses in tablet computers utilizing Qualtrics survey software (Provo, UT, US). Socio-demographic factors included age, gender, and U.S. migrant status (never migrated; deported migrant; non-deported migrant). Risk Environment measures consider the following conditions: recent drug use or injection drug use (i.e., past 6 months; both yes/no), recent trading sex (past 6 months), ever incarcerated in the USA or Mexico or both countries (yes/no). Social exclusion variables included: possession of a Mexican federal voter identification card (yes/no), covered by Seguro Popular (yes/no) a federal public health insurance program which covers impoverished persons (53), and depression symptoms (none to mild vs. moderate to severe) per the Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) depression short form (PROMIS-D-8; 8b short form) (54, 55). Recent homeless status was defined by where participants slept most frequently in the prior 6 months: those who slept in migrant shelters, churches, streets, public parks, vacant lots, or the Tijuana River canal were classified as homeless. Participants responded to diverse adverse encounters: "During the last 6 months... a) have you ever been threatened or harassed by police, federal agents or army members in Tijuana? b) denied a job in Tijuana, c) denied access to housing or a shelter or other place that you can sleep or live in Tijuana? Respondents also identified potential access to social support, responding to the question: "Do you have friends or family in Tijuana"? (yes/no). These data are shown in Table 1.

We characterize participants' tattoos (Table 2), including the total number of tattoos (1; 2–3;  $\geq$ 4), tattoo visibility (forearms, hands, face, neck; versus not on these locations), tattoo imagery/content (text/names; animals/nature-images; religious images; death/skulls; weapons/gang symbols). Participants reported their feelings about the tattoos (i.e., does not like some or all tattoos vs. likes all tattoos or is indifferent about them), whether they believe that they have experienced barriers to employment because of their tattoos (yes/no), and beliefs that removing tattoos would reduce barriers to employment (yes/no).

For the dependent variable, participants were asked: "Imagine that in the next 6 months there was a free service here [at the clinic] to remove tattoos, do you think you would be interested in using those services?" (yes/no).

#### Qualitative data derived from the survey

The questionnaire included several open-ended questions. Participants interested in removing some or all of their tattoos were asked: "*Currently, what are all the reasons for which you DO want to remove your tattoos*?" Interviewers entered participants' responses (n = 156) for those who responded in the affirmative into the survey software verbatim.

#### Analysis

Descriptive statistics were generated using STATA v16 to characterize participants' sociodemographic, tattoo-related, and vulnerability characteristics; analyses were stratified by interest in receiving free tattoo removal at the clinic where the study was conducted (Tables 1, 2). For categorical variables, we employed Pearson chi-square tests to assess statistical significance between groups. Variables attaining significance levels of p < 0.10 in binary analyses were considered for inclusion in multivariable logistic regression models that assessed the relationship between each independent variable and interest in receiving free tattoo removal services at the clinic. We controlled for migrant status given the pervasiveness of tattoos among U.S. migrants (Table 4).

Qualitative text data were entered into a spreadsheet and two authors utilized the methodology of "Coding Consensus, Co-occurrence, and Comparison," based on grounded theory techniques (56, 57) to code responses and identify emergent themes; conflicts in coding were discussed and resolved (56). Some responses were assigned multiple codes. The main themes are described and illustrative quotes are provided in English and Spanish (Table 3). The authors translated all quotes into English. We provide percentages for each theme to illustrate its significance within the text responses (58). Participants who indicated that they did not want to remove their tattoos were asked why they did NOT want to remove their tattoos and themes emerging from participants' responses (n = 89) are summarized in the text (data not shown in table). The responses to both questions represent 245 responses (i.e., 88% of tattooed participants); participants were not required to respond to these questions, though most did.

## Results

## Participant characteristics

Table 1 presents sociodemographic characteristics and exposure to the risk environment among a sample of tattooed Mexicans (n = 278), stratified by interest in receiving free tattoo removal at the study site. Overall, 69% of participants were interested in receiving free tattoo removal services. Participants were largely non-elderly between the ages of 18–47 years (77%) and 79% were male. Most participants had a history of migration to the U.S., and 67% of participants reported a history of deportation from the U.S. With respect to the risk environment, 60% of participants reported recent drug use, 36% recently injected drugs and 17% recently traded sex. The

			Interested in free tattoo removal at clinic				
	Overall sample (n = 278, 100%)		No, not interested ( <i>n</i> = 85, 31%)		Yes, interested ( <i>n</i> = 193, 69%)		
Sociodemographics	%	N	%	Ν	%	Ν	<i>p</i> -value
Age							
18 to 36	37%	103	41%	35	35%	68	0.63
37 to 47	40%	110	36%	31	41%	79	
$\geq \! 48$	23%	65	22%	19	24%	46	
Gender							
Female	21%	59	16%	14	23%	44	0.20
Male	79%	219	84%	71	77%	149	
US migrant status							
Never migrated to U.S.	15%	43	8%	7	19%	36	0.09
Deported US migrant	67%	186	73%	62	64%	124	
Non-deported US migrant	18%	49	19%	16	17%	33	
Risk environment							
Recent drug use <sup>a</sup>	60%	168	69%	59	56%	109	0.04
Recent injection drug use <sup>a</sup>	36%	99	45%	38	32%	61	0.04
Recently traded sex <sup>a</sup>	17%	48	15%	13	18%	35	0.56
Ever incarcerated (Mexico, USA, or both)	80%	221	79%	67	80%	154	0.85
Social exclusion							
IFE Mexican voter identification card	37%	104	25%	21	43%	83	<0.01
Has Seguro Popular (Public Health Insurance)	33%	93	25%	21	37%	72	0.04
Has moderate to severe depression	34%	94	24%	20	38%	74	0.02
Recently homeless <sup>a</sup>	53%	146	56%	48	51%	98	0.38
Threatened by law enforcement in Tijuana <sup>a</sup>	49%	135	46%	39	50%	96	0.55
Denied employment in Tijuana <sup>a</sup>	44%	122	36%	31	47%	91	0.10
Denied housing in Tijuana <sup>a</sup>	17%	48	15%	13	18%	35	0.56
Lacks friends or family in Tijuana	67%	185	64%	54	68%	131	0.48

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of Mexican tattooed adults (n = 278) receiving free medical care, stratified by interest in receiving free laser tattoo removal at the study site, Tijuana, Mexico, 2013.

Percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding; comparisons which are significant at p < 0.05 are denoted in bold type.

<sup>*a*</sup>Reflects a behavior or experience occurring in the 6 months prior to study participation.

majority of participants (80%) reported ever being incarcerated in the U.S., Mexico, or both countries. Measures of social exclusion are also reported in Table 1. Approximately onethird of participants (37%) reported having an IFE voter card at the time of interview and 33% were enrolled in Seguro Popular which is Mexico's universal health insurance program. Symptoms of moderate to severe depression were reported by 34% of participants. More than one-half of participants (53%) were recently homeless, 17% were recently denied housing, and 49% reported recently being threatened by local law enforcement. Connections to the labor market were also assessed and 44% reported being recently denied employment, while local social support was low: 67% lacked friends or family in Tijuana.

## Interest in tattoo removal stratified by participant characteristics

We examined interest in tattoo removal by participants' characteristics. There were no statistically significant differences in interest in tattoo removal by age, gender, or U.S. migrant status (Table 1). Similarly, of the risk environment characteristics examined, there were no differences in interest in tattoo removal among those who recently traded sex or were recently incarcerated. Of Social Exclusion variables, interest in tattoo removal did not vary by report of recent homelessness or threats by law enforcement, being denied access to employment, or lacking friends or family in Tijuana. However, participants interested in tattoo removal were less likely than those who

TABLE 2 Tattoo characteristics and participants' perceptions, reported by Mexican tattooed adults (n = 278) receiving free medical care, stratified by interest in receiving free laser tattoo removal at the study site, Tijuana, Mexico, 2013.

			Interested in free tattoo removal at clinic				
	Overall sample $(n = 278, 100\%)$		No, not interested ( <i>n</i> = 85, 31%)		Yes, interested ( <i>n</i> = 193, 69%)		
Tattoo characteristics	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	N	<i>p</i> -value
Number of tattoos							
1 tattoo	27%	75	33%	28	24%	46	0.29
2–3 tattoos	30%	83	27%	23	31%	60	
$\geq$ 4 tattoos	44%	122	40%	34	46%	89	
Has visible tattoos	37%	102	34%	29	38%	73	0.56
lattoo imagery/content <sup>a</sup>							
Text or names	70%	195	69%	59	70%	136	0.86
Animals or nature	32%	89	31%	26	33%	63	0.74
Religious	17%	47	19%	16	16%	31	0.57
Death or skulls	12%	32	11%	9	12%	23	0.75
Weapons or gang symbols	8%	22	7%	6	8%	16	0.73
Participant perceptions							
Participant does not like some or all tattoos	43%	120	6%	5	60%	115	< 0.01
Has experienced barriers to employment because of tattoos	31%	85	20%	17	35%	68	0.01
Believes removing tattoos will aid in finding employment in Tijuana	56%	151	41%	34	62%	117	<0.01

Percentages may not sum to 100% due to rounding; comparisons which are significant at p < 0.05 are denoted in bold type.

 $^a\mathrm{Categories}$  are not mutually exclusive and may sum to >100%.

were uninterested in tattoo removal to report recent drug use (56 vs. 69%, respectively, p = 0.04) and recent injection drug use (32 vs. 45%, respectively, p = 0.04). Those interested in tattoo removal services were more likely to have a voter identification card (43 vs. 25%, respectively, p < 0.01) and be enrolled in Seguro Popular (37 vs. 25%, respectively, p = 0.04) than those uninterested in receiving tattoo removal. Those interested in tattoo removal were more likely to display symptoms of moderate/severe depression (38 vs. 24% among those uninterested in tattoo removal, p = 0.02).

## Characteristics of participants' tattoos and stratification by interest in tattoo removal

Participants were asked about the characteristics of their tattoos (Table 2). A minority of participants had only 1 tattoo (27%), 30% reported 2–3 tattoos, and 44% had 4+ tattoos. One-third of participants (37%) had visible tattoos. Tattoo imagery and content varied. Seventy percentage included names or text; animal or nature images (32%), religious (17%), death/skulls (12%), and gang/weapon (8%) tattoos were less commonly reported. Overall, 43% of participants reported disliking some or all of their tattoos; 31% reported experiencing barriers to

employment because of their tattoos, and 56% believed that removing their tattoos would help them find employment in Tijuana.

Participants' perceptions of their tattoos and their impact on their lives rather than the characteristics of the tattoos played an important role in participants' interest in removing their tattoos. Specifically, there number or visibility of tattoos or the imagery was not statistically associated with interest in removing the tattoos. Rather, those who reported an interest in tattoo removal were significantly more likely to dislike some or all of their tattoos (60 vs. 6% among those uninterested in tattoo removal, p < 0.01), to report barriers to securing employment due to their tattoos (35 vs. 20% of those uninterested in removal; p = 0.01), and to believe that tattoo removal would help them find employment (62 vs. 41% among those uninterested in removal, p < 0.01).

## Qualitative results: Motivations for seeking tattoo removal

Reasons for desiring tattoo removal varied across participants; themes and illustrative quotes are presented in Table 3. Participants most frequently reported experiencing Employment Barriers (31%): they described a local labor

	Spanish Language Quote	English Translation of Quote
Employment barriers ( $n = 48; 31\%$ )	4. [Porque] no me dan trabajo por tener tatuajes	4. [Because] they don't give [me] any work because I have
		tattoos
	20. Por dificultad para conseguir trabajo.	20. Due to difficulties in getting a job.
	77. Porque en muchos lugares no puede trabajar con los	77. Because in many places you can't work with tattoos
	tatuajes	
	43. Porque se me complica conseguir empleo y se miran mal	43. Because it becomes more difficult to get a job and they
		[tattoos] look bad
	30. Me siento orgulloso de él [tatuaje] porque es el nombre	30. I feel proud of it [the tattoo] because it is my daughter's
	de mi hija, pero me gustaría quitármelo porque me ocasiona	name, but I would like to remove it because it creates
	problemas para buscar trabajo	problems in finding a job
Do not like/regret their tattoos	9. Me arrepiento, eran momentos de mi juventud	9. I regret [it], they were moments of my youth
(n = 44; 28%)	23. Ya siento que no son apropiados, no me sirven para nada,	23. I now feel that they are not appropriate, they are useless
	ya no tienen un significado para mi	to me, they no longer have meaning to me
	114. Ya no me gustan, estoy arrepentido de habérmelos	114. I don't like them anymore, I regret having gotten them
	puesto	[tattoos]
Tattoos make a bad impression	15. Porque me marcaron como persona peligrosa por el	15. Because they labeled me as a dangerous person because
(n = 36; 23%)	tatuaje	of the tattoo
	24. Me dan mala imagen	24. They make a bad impression
	86. Porque tengo un niño chiquito–no me gusta que me lo	86. Because I have a little boy-I don't like him to see me with
	vea, no quisiera que él se hiciera un tatuaje, y para que me	it [tattoo], I would not want him to get a tattoo, and for me
	acepten en los trabajos	to be accepted for jobs
	113. Para tener mejor aspecto hacia la sociedad porque a	113. To make a better impression toward society, because at
	veces lo miran a uno feo por los tatuajes	times, they look at you badly because of the tattoos
	119. Porque no son buenos, no puede uno encontrar trabajo,	119. Because they [tattoos] are not good, one cannot find
	no son necesarios, discriminan a las personas con tatuajes,	work, they are not necessary, they discriminate against
	piensan que es ratero, pandillero	people with tattoos, they think he is a thief, gang member
	175. Porque ya se ven muy feos, y está uno muy grande y le	175. Because they look very ugly now, and when a person is
	da a uno vergüenza, y ninguno de mis hijos están rayados y	very old they are embarrassing, and none of my children are
	es como una [mala] carta de recomendación	inked and it's like a [bad] letter of recommendation
	187. La gente discrimina a los tatuajes, y se ve mal.	187. People discriminate against tattoos, and it looks bad.
Thinks tattoos are ugly ( $n = 29$ ; 19%)	5. Porque no me gusta como se me ve-fue un tatuaje casero	5. Because I don't like how it looks on me- it was a homemade tattoo
	20 No mo guetan	
	39. No me gustan	39. I don't like them [the tattoos]
	63. Porque no quedó bien	63. Because it didn't come out right
Think life would be better without	60. Porque me afectan en muchas maneras, no puedo	60. Because they affect me in many ways, I can't find jobs,
tattoos ( $n = 25; 16\%$ )	encontrar trabajos, me ocasionan problemas personales y familiares	they create personal and family problems for me
	79. Porque veo a las demás personas y se me hacen ridículos	79. Because I see other [tattooed] people and I think they
	y yo no me quiero ver así	look ridiculous, and I don't want to look like that
	124. Para vivir mejor y encontrar trabajo	124. To live better and find a job
	141. No me gusta como me trata la gente	141. I don't like how people treat me
Mental health impact ( $n = 25; 16\%$ )	25. No me siento a gusto con el	25. I don't feel comfortable with it [the tattoo]
	38. Por diferentes cosas, porque pienso que ya se miran mal,	38. For different things, because I think they look bad now, I
	me agüito cuando voy a mi cantón con mi familia	get sad when I go to my home with my family

TABLE 3 Reasons for interest in receiving tattoo removal expressed by Mexican tattooed adults (n = 156) receiving free medical care, Tijuana, Mexico, 2013.

(Continued)
#### TABLE 3 Continued

	Spanish Language Quote	English Translation of Quote
	<ul> <li>73. Me dan vergüenza porque me los hicieron sin que me diera cuenta a los 13 años</li> <li>103. Simplemente me gustaría estar limpio</li> <li>128. Uno se cansa de la discriminación</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>73. I am ashamed of them because they put them [tattoos]</li> <li>on me without my knowledge when I was 13 years old</li> <li>103. I would simply like to look clean</li> <li>128. One gets tired of discrimination</li> </ul>
	163. Pues porque me da pena saludar y se ven	163. Well, because I feel embarrassed to say hi [to people] and they [the tattoos] can be seen
Prevent police interactions ( $n = 11; 7\%$ )	16. Porque hay mucha molestia con la policía 57. Llama mala atención con la ley 65. Me identifican muy rápido los policías	<ul><li>16. Because there is a lot of trouble with the police</li><li>57. Attracts bad attention from law enforcement</li><li>65. The police identify me very quickly [because of the tattoos]</li></ul>

TABLE 4 Factors independently associated with interest in receiving free laser tattoo removal at the clinic among Mexican adult tattooed free clinic patients (*n* = 278), Tijuana, Mexico, 2013.

	Adjusted Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	<i>p</i> -value
Migrant status			
Never migrated to U.S.	Reference group	-	
Deported migrant	0.49	0.18, 1.36	0.17
Non-deported US migrant	0.45	0.15, 1.37	0.16
Possesses IFE Mexican voter identification card	2.01	1.04, 3.88	0.04
Seguro popular health insurance	1.41	0.71, 2.78	0.32
Moderate to severe depression	1.95	1.03, 3.70	0.04
Drug use in the past 6 months	0.49	0.26, 0.91	0.02
Has experienced barriers to employment because of tattoos	1.39	0.78, 2.49	0.27
Believes removing tattoos would reduce employment barriers	1.51	0.73, 3.13	0.27
Believes removing tattoos will aid in finding employment in Tijuana	2.34	1.24, 4.42	0.01

Estimates which are significant at p < 0.05 are denoted in bold type.

market which wholly rejected tattooed persons. A significant number of participants disliked their tattoos and regretted them (28%). Some participants obtained tattoos as youths or no longer identified with the tattoos or what they represented. Numerous participants felt that tattoos make a bad impression (23%) and contributed to labeling and stereotyping by others. Some participants felt that their tattoos are ugly (19%) and for some participants, this emotion was related to changes in the quality of the image over time. Some participants also believed that their lives would be better without tattoos (16%) and that they negatively impacted participants' mental health (16%), contributing to feelings of discomfort or shame. Other participants identified the toll of discrimination and negative interactions and anxiety/stress resulting from family interactions as motivators for interest in tattoo removal. Negative interactions with law enforcement (7%) were infrequently reported but acknowledged by some participants.

Participants who were uninterested in receiving tattoo removal were asked to explain their reasons and responses fell into three general categories: participants liked their tattoos, or felt that their tattoos are meaningful, or were not interested because they did not have confidence in the results of tattoo removal (Data not shown).

# Factors independently associated with interest in receiving free laser tattoo removal

Table 4 presents results from logistic regression analyses identifying factors independently associated with interest in free tattoo removal services at the study site. No demographic factors were associated with interest in receiving tattoo removal. Of Social Exclusion variables, possession of an IFE Mexican voter identification card was independently associated with being interested in receiving free tattoo removal services at the clinic [Adjusted Odds Ratio (AOR): 2.01; 95% Confidence Interval (CI): 1.04, 3.88; p = 0.04], as was reporting moderate to severe depression (AOR: 1.95; 95% CI: 1.03, 3.70; p = 0.04). Of Participants' Perceptions regarding the impact of tattoos, believing that tattoo removal would remove barriers to employment (AOR: 2.34; 95% CI: 1.24, 4.42; p = 0.01) was also associated with a greater interest in tattoo removal. From Risk Environment variables, drug use in the past 6 months was negatively associated with interest in tattoo removal (AOR: 0.49; 95% CI: 0.26, 0.91; p = 0.02).

## Discussion

Tattooing is a pervasive practice worldwide, however, to our knowledge, this study contributes previously unavailable data regarding the perceptions and experiences of a diverse sample of tattooed adults in Mexico. The popular press and several studies have identified tattoo-related stigma and discrimination, including among migrants returning to Mexico (16, 59, 60). Our mixed-methods study corroborates anecdotal evidence with quantitative and qualitative data from a large sample; key findings are contextualized below. This study has important public health implications: laser tattoo removal is desired and can assist tattooed adults engage more broadly with Mexican society and potentially overcome tattoo-related stigma and discrimination (17). Findings may have relevance for other migrant-receiving communities.

For many decades, Mexico has been a major migrant sending country to the U.S. due to diverse social and economic ties that have supported migrant flows between both countries (61, 62). Return migration is not uncommon and our research demonstrates that tattoos are pervasive among persons with histories of U.S. migration. Notably, recent changes to immigration enforcement policies have resulted in the forcible expulsion or voluntary return of Mexican nationals: for example, annually between 2013 and 2020, the United States deported between  $\sim$ 151,000 to  $\sim$ 307,000 migrants to Mexico (12). Consequently, innovative strategies are needed to reintegrate migrants into Mexican society. Moreover, by reducing social exclusion, stigma and discrimination, migrants returning to Mexico may be able to leverage skills and human capital developed in the U.S. for their benefit as well as that of receiving communities in Mexico (63).

In multivariate analyses, participants who believed that removing their tattoos would assist them in finding employment and those possessing a voter identification card were more likely to be interested in tattoo removal. We interpreted these findings to mean that those with a governmental identification card were more likely to be able to navigate the legal aspects associated with interacting with public and private institutions, including the labor market as a governmental identification is required to join workplaces in the formal economy. The qualitative data collected by this study indicated that tattoos often generated stigma and discrimination which contributed to the exclusion of study participants from the labor market. Thus, removal of unwanted tattoos was believed to support access to employment opportunities.

Individuals lacking a Mexican voter identification card are, in effect, undocumented. Studies examining the experiences of undocumented immigrants in the U.S. have demonstrated that lacking a legal status and identification is associated with social stigma, increased stress, anxiety and situations that create vulnerability (64). An undocumented status is also associated with social, economic and health disadvantages due to reduced access to legal, safe and well-paying employment opportunities (65) or public benefits programs (e.g., health insurance coverage) (64). In Mexico, only adults who also possess a birth or naturalization certificate can access the voter card (formerly IFE, now INE card), which serves as the nation's primary form of national identification (66). While Mexico is currently classified as a Upper Middle Income Country (67) it continues to experience economic and geographic disparities; rural communities especially may encounter challenges in providing timely access to birth certificates to their residents, resulting in an "undocumented" status among some individuals (68). Other nations have implemented diverse strategies to overcome challenges to birth certificate access, including birth registration campaigns, providing birth certificates free of charge, and expediting access to this document (68, 69). These strategies may be implemented more broadly to ensure that individuals' identity can be substantiated across the lifespan. Migrants can benefit from Mexico's "Programa de Repatriación" (Repatriation Program) and "Programa Somos Mexicanos" (We are Mexicans Program) which can help migrants reestablish their identity (via access to birth certificates, temporary identification cards and other documents) and obtain critical services early within the repatriation process (e.g., nutrition, health, housing, employment services, and others) (63, 70). To overcome barriers to legal identity among voluntary and forcibly returned migrants, access to the aforementioned programs should be expanded beyond the repatriation period or to other individuals in need of these services.

We observed that participants reporting mental health challenges (i.e., depression symptoms) were more likely to report an interest in tattoo removal while recent substance users were less likely to be interested in tattoo removal. Tattoos may include images that make the individual uncomfortable or embarrassed, hinder their participation in social or economic pro-social activities, or the images may contribute to personal harm due to interpersonal violence (e.g., gang-related motifs) (71). These findings are concordant with extant studies that report that tattoos can provoke adverse mental health impacts when personal identities evolve (e.g., older age) or social affiliations change (e.g., withdrawing from gangs) (14, 39, 72). Entities implementing tattoo removal programs should consider the mental health consequences of having unwanted tattoos when defining the eligibility criteria in order to provide the maximum benefit to persons seeking this service. For example, programs may consider removing all tattoos regardless of their source (e.g., prison; gang affiliation) or location on the body; there is precedent for such an approach in the U.S. and preliminary data indicate that this approach has yielded favorable results for participants (73).

## Limitations

Findings must be considered in light of the following factors. The study may not reflect the experiences of all migrant receiving communities or migrants from other regions. However, the study recruited a large convenience sample of migrants, including tattooed migrants, which are important strengths of this investigation as the research sheds light not only on the experience of tattoos among migrants but how they perceive these marks impact their integration into receiving communities such as Tijuana, Mexico. This study was conducted in 2013 and should be replicated to explore changes in policies, social views regarding tattoos, and changing migration flows from Central America, Eastern Europe and other countries to the US-Mexico border region. Undertaking a similar study in multiple deportee receiving countries would be helpful to understand the challenges faced by deportees seeking to resettle outside of the United States. While our study included a small sample of women, the experiences of tattooed women are generally under-represented in the literature, thus, this study suggests that additional research is needed to understand the challenges that tattooed women may face in Latin America. The data were based on selfreport and may be subject to social desirability bias or recall bias. Nevertheless, our study makes significant contributions to the study of social exclusion in the context of Latin America, including the challenges faced by migrants in the region.

## Conclusions

This study explored the issues of tattoo regret, motivations for seeking removal of unwanted tattoos and interest in receiving laser tattoo removal in the U.S.-Mexico border city of Tijuana. Our findings suggest that there is a substantial interest in receiving tattoo removal services, which are quite costly and may be a significant barrier to this service for low income and underserved persons in Mexico (74). A package of services (i.e., governmental identification, tattoo removal) which are publicly financed may assist disadvantaged persons, especially migrants, gain increased access to the labor market, which will aid other life domains (e.g., mental well-being, interactions with law enforcement, income, housing, food insecurity, interpersonal relationships with community members). Similar research should be undertaken elsewhere in order to shed light on the impact of tattoo related stigma across diverse communities and for population subgroups (e.g., forcibly returned migrants, voluntarily returned migrants, asylum seekers, refugees). Findings may shed light on the types of interventions that are needed to overcome tattoo regret and tattoo-related stigma in diverse social context. Longitudinal research is needed to understand whether the social, economic and mental health status of tattooed individuals improves as a result of eliminating unwanted tattoos.

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of California, San Diego, Human Research Protection Program; the Ethics Boards of the Health Frontiers in Tijuana Clinic and the Autonomous University of Baja California Medical School. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

VO, JB, and AV-O conceptualized the study and wrote the manuscript. CM and OS assisted with the analyses and preparation of manuscript. All authors prepared and reviewed the manuscript and approved it for submission.

## Funding

This work was supported by the UC GloCal Fellowship and the AIDS International Training Research Program funded by the Fogarty International Center of the National Institutes of Health under Award Numbers R25TW009343 and D43TW008633; the National Institutes of Health National Institute on Drug Abuse under Grant #K01DA025504 and #R37DA019829-S1; the National Institute on Mental Health under Grant #K01MH095680, and the University of California Global Health Institute. The views presented here do not represent the funders.

## Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the participants and for sharing their time with us; without them, this study would not have been possible.

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Demello M. The convict body: tattooing among male American prisoners. Anthropol Today. (1993) 9:10-3. doi: 10.2307/2783218

2. Kluger N. Epidemiology of tattoos in industrialized countries. Tattooed Skin and Health. (2015) 48:6-20. doi: 10.1159/000369175

3. Cruz O. Si Buscas Trabajo Y Tienes Tatuajes, Esto Te Interesa. Ciudad de México: UnoTVCom (2019).

4. Broussard KA, Harton HC. Tattoo or taboo? Tattoo stigma and negative attitudes toward tattooed individuals. *J Soc Psychol.* (2018) 158:521–40. doi: 10.1080/00224545.2017.1373622

5. The Harris Poll (2016). Available online at: https://theharrispoll.com/tattooscan-take-any-number-of-forms-from-animals-to-quotes-to-cryptic-symbolsand-appear-in-all-sorts-of-spots-on-our-bodies-some-visible-in-everyday-lifeothers-not-so-much-but-one-thi/

6. Larsen G, Patterson M, Markham L. A deviant art: tattoo-related stigma in an era of commodification. *Psychol Mark*. (2014) 31:670-81. doi: 10.1002/mar.20727

7. Zestcott CA, Tompkins TL, Kozak Williams M, Livesay K, Chan KL. What do you think about ink? An examination of implicit and explicit attitudes toward tattooed individuals. *J Soc Psychol.* (2018) 158:7–22. doi: 10.1080/00224545.2017.1297286

8. Zestcott CA, Bean MG, Stone J. Evidence of negative implicit attitudes toward individuals with a tattoo near the face. *Group Process Intergroup Relat.* (2017) 20:186–201. doi: 10.1177/1368430215603459

9. Anderson J. "Tagged as a criminal": narratives of deportation and return migration in a Mexico City call center. *Lat Stud.* (2015) 13:8–27. doi: 10.1057/lst.2014.72

10. Herrera E, Jones GA. Benítez STd. Bodies on the line: identity markers among Mexican street youth Children's Geographies. (2009) 7:67-81. doi: 10.1080/14733280802630932

11. Amuedo-Dorantes C, Puttitanun T, Martinez-Donate AP. Deporting "Bad Hombres"? the profile of deportees under widespread versus prioritized enforcement. *Int Migr Rev.* (2019) 53:518–47. doi: 10.1177/0197918318764901

12. United States Department of Homeland Security. Yearbook of Immigration Statistics 2020. Washington, DC (2020).

13. Horyniak D, Pinedo M, Burgos JL, Ojeda VD. Relationships between integration and drug use among deported migrants in Tijuana, Mexico. J Immigrant Minority Health. (2017) 19:1196–206. doi: 10.1007/s10903-016-0518-8

14. Bazan LE, Harris L, Lorentzen LA. Migrant gangs, religion and tattoo removal. *Peace Review*. (2002) 14:379–83. doi: 10.1080/1040265022000039150

15. Kremer P, Pinedo M, Ferraiolo N, Vargas-Ojeda AC, Burgos JL, Ojeda VD. Tattoo removal as a resettlement service to reduce incarceration among mexican migrants. *J Immigrant Minority Health.* (2019) 22:110–9. doi: 10.1007/s10903-019-00870-0

16. Pinedo M, Burgos JL, Ojeda AV, FitzGerald D, Ojeda VD. The role of visual markers in police victimization among structurally vulnerable persons in Tijuana, Mexico. *Int J Drug Policy*. (2015) 26:501–8. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.08.019

17. Dibble S. Deportees Learn Workforce and Life Skills at Tijuana Migrant Shelter. San Diego Union-Tribune (2018).

18. Infante C, Idrovo AJ, Sánchez-Domínguez MS, Vinhas S, González-Vázquez T. Violence committed against migrants in transit: experiences on the Northern Mexican Border. *J Immigrant Minority Health*. (2012) 14:449– 59. doi: 10.1007/s10903-011-9489-y

19. Pinedo M, Burgos JL, Ojeda VD. A critical review of social and structural conditions that influence HIV risk among Mexican deportees. *Microbes Infect.* (2014) 16:379–90. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2014. 02.006

20. Chavez LR. Mexicans of Mass Destruction:: National Security and Mexican Immigration in a Pre- and Post-9/11 World. In: MartÍNez S, editor. *International Migration and Human Rights. The Global Repercussions of U.S. Policy. 1 ed.* University of California Press (2009). p. 82–97.

21. Miller TA. Blurring the boundaries between immigration and crime control after september 11th immigration law and human rights: legal line drawing post-september 11-symposium article. *BC Third World LJ*. (2005) 25:81–124.

22. Macías-Rojas P. Immigration and the war on crime: law and order politics and the illegal immigration reform and immigrant responsibility act of 1996. *Journal on Migration and Human Security.* (2018) 6:25. doi: 10.1177/233150241800600101

23. Baker B, Marchevsky A. Gendering deportation, policy violence, and Latino/a family precarity. *Lat Stud.* (2019) 17:207–24. doi: 10.1057/s41276-019-00176-0

24. Wheatley C. Push Back: U.S Deportation Policy and the Reincorporation of Involuntary Return Migrants in Mexico\*. *The Latin Americanist.* (2011) 55:35–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1557-203X.2011.01135.x

25. Sarabia H. "Felons, not Families": Criminalized illegality, stigma, and membership of deported "criminal aliens". *Migration Letters*. (2018) 15:284–300. doi: 10.33182/ml.v15i2.374

26. Goffman E. Stigma: Notes on the Management of Spoiled Identity. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster (1963).

27. Link BG, Phelan JC. Conceptualizing Stigma. Annu Rev Sociol. (2001) 27:363–85. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363

28. Bos AE, Pryor JB, Reeder GD, Stutterheim SE. Stigma: advances in theory and research. *Basic Appl Soc Psych.* (2013) 35:1–9. doi: 10.1080/01973533.2012.746147

29. Corrigan PW, Watson AC, Barr L. The self-stigma of mental illness: implications for self-esteem and self-efficacy. J Soc Clin Psychol. (2006) 25:875. doi: 10.1521/jscp.2006.25.8.875

30. Hatzenbuehler ML, Phelan JC, Link BG. Stigma as a fundamental cause of population health inequalities. *Am J Public Health.* (2013) 103:813–21. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.301069

31. Adams J. Marked difference: tattooing and its association with deviance in the United States. *Deviant Behav.* (2009) 30:266–92. doi: 10.1080/01639620802168817

32. Lane DC. Tat's All folks: an analysis of tattoo literature. Sociology Compass. (2014) 8:398-410. doi: 10.1111/soc4.12142

33. Jennings WG, Fox BH, Farrington DP. Inked into crime? An examination of the causal relationship between tattoos and life-course offending among males from the cambridge study in delinquent development. *J Crim Justice*. (2014) 42:77–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jcrimjus.2013.12.006

34. Funk F, Todorov A. Criminal stereotypes in the courtroom: facial tattoos affect guilt and punishment differently. *Psychol. Public Policy, Law.* (2013) 19:466–78. doi: 10.1037/a0034736

35. Stuppy DJ, Armstrong ML, Casals-Ariet C. Attitudes of health care providers and students towards tattooed people. J Adv Nurs. (1998) 27:1165–70. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1998.00626.x

36. Bekhor PS, Bekhor L, Gandrabur M. Employer attitudes toward persons with visible tattoos. *Aust J Dermatol.* (1995) 36:75–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-0960.1995.tb00936.x

37. Pew Research Center. Pew Research Center's Social & Demographic Trends Project (2010). Available online at: https://www.pewsocialtrends.org/2010/02/24/ millennials-confident-connected-open-to-change/

38. Kluger N, Koljonen V. Chemical burn and hypertrophic scar due to misuse of a wart ointment for tattoo removal. *Int J Dermatol.* (2014) 53:e9-e11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-4632.2011.05314.x

39. Armstrong ML, Roberts AE, Koch JR, Saunders JC, Owen DC, Anderson RR. Motivation for contemporary tattoo removal: a shift in identity. *Arch Dermatol.* (2008) 144:879–84. doi: 10.1001/archderm.144.7.879

40. Madfis E, Arford T. The dilemmas of embodied symbolic representation: regret in contemporary American tattoo narratives. *Soc Sci J.* (2013) 50:547–56. doi: 10.1016/j.soscij.2013.07.012

41. Liszewski W, Kream E, Helland S, Cavigli A, Lavin BC, Murina A. The demographics and rates of tattoo complications, regret, and unsafe tattooing practices: a cross-sectional study. *Dermatol Surg.* (2015) 41:1283–9. doi:10.1097/DSS.00000000000500

42. Kent KM, Graber EM. Laser tattoo removal: a review. Dermatol Surg. (2012) 38:1–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4725.2011.02187.x

43. American Society for Dermatologic Surgery. Laser Therapy for Unwanted Tattoos (2015). Available online at: https://www.asds.net/\_PublicResources.aspx? id=6073

44. Poljac B, Burke T. Erasing the past: tattoo-removal programs for former gang members. *FBI Law Enforcement Bulletin.* (2008) 77:13–8. doi: 10.1037/e511472010-005

45. Yim GH, Hemington-Gorse SJ, Dickson WA. The perils of do it yourself chemical tattoo removal. *Eplasty*. (2010) 10:177–9.

46. Snelling A, Ball E, Adams T. Full thickness skin loss following chemical tattoo removal. *Burns.* (2006) 32:387–8. doi: 10.1016/j.burns.2005.07.011

47. Leap J, Franke TM, Christie CA, Bonis S. Nothing Stops a Bullet Like a Job: Homeboy Industries Gang Prevention and Intervention in Los Angeles. In: Serra Hoffman J, Knox L, Cohen R, editors. *Beyond Suppression: Global Perspectives on Youth Violence (Global Crime and Justice)*. Santa Barbara CA: Praeger (2011).

48. Deas A. Out Of The Darkness And Into The Light: Removing Gang Related and Offensive Tattoos - A Mixed Methods Study. San Jose State University (2008).

49. Beers K, Collins C, Sachez-Garcia M. Expanding Opportunity and Erasing Barriers: Tattoo Removal as a Gang Transition Strategy. Washington, USA: Whitman College (2014).

50. Golash-Boza T, Ceciliano-Navarro Y. Life after deportation. *Contexts.* (2019) 18:30–5. doi: 10.1177/1536504219854715

51. Pereira N. Pacific Island Nations, Criminal Deportees, and Reintegration Challenges. Migration Policy Institute (2014).

52. Bibler Coutin S. Exiled Home: Salvadoran Transnational Youth in the Aftermath of Violence. Duke University Press (2016). doi: 10.2307/j.ctv11g96sk

53. Wassink JT. Implications of mexican health care reform on the health coverage of nonmigrants and returning migrants. *Am J Public Health.* (2016) 106:848–50. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2016.303094

54. Cella D, Riley W, Stone A, Rothrock N, Reeve B, Yount S, et al. The patientreported outcomes measurement information system (PROMIS) developed and tested its first wave of adult self-reported health outcome item banks: 2005–2008. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2010) 63:1179–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.011

55. Teresi JA, Ocepek-Welikson K, Kleinman M, Eimicke JP, Crane PK, Jones RN, et al. Analysis of differential item functioning in the depression item bank from the Patient Reported Outcome Measurement Information System (PROMIS): an item response theory approach. *Psychol Sci Q.* (2009) 51:148–80.

56. Strauss A, Corbin J. Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage (1998).

57. Willms DG, Best JA, Taylor DW, Gilbert JR, Douglas MCW, Lindsay EA, et al. A systematic approach for using qualitative methods in primary prevention research. *Med Anthropol Q.* (1990) 4:391–409. doi: 10.1525/maq.1990.4.4.02a00020

58. Miles M, Huberman A. Qualitative Data Analysis: An Expanded Sourcebook. 2nd ed. Thousands Oak, CA: Sage (1994).

59. La Redaccion. Six Flags Prohibe la Entrada a Personas con "Tatuajes Vulgares". Proceso (2013).

60. Alonso Olivares E. Se ha incrementado la discriminación contra migrantes en México, indican ONG. *La jOrnada*. (2019). Available online at: https://www.jornada.com.mx/2019/07/29/politica/012n1pol

61. Cornelius WA, Salehyan I. Does border enforcement deter unauthorized immigration? The case of Mexican migration to the United States of America. *Regul Gov.* (2007) 1:139–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-5991.2007.00007.x

62. Kosack E. Guest worker programs and human capital investment the bracero program in mexico, 1942–1964. *J Hum Resour*. (2021) 56:570–99. doi: 10.3368/jhr.56.2.0616-8015R2

63. Instituto Nacional de Migracion: Gobierno de Mexico. En Mexico Hay Oportunidades Para Los Repatriados! Mexico, DF: Gobierno de Mexico (2016). Available online at: https://www.gob.mx/inm/articulos/en-mexico-hayoportunidades-para-los-repatriados?idiom=es

64. Sullivan MM, Rehm R. Mental health of undocumented Mexican immigrants: a review of the literature. *Adv Nurs Sci.* (2005) 28:240–51. doi: 10.1097/00012272-200507000-00006

65. Flynn MA, Eggerth DE, Jacobson Jr CJ. Undocumented status as a social determinant of occupational safety and health: the workers' perspective. *Am J Ind Med.* (2015) 58:1127–37. doi: 10.1002/ajim.22531

66. Instituto Nacional Electoral: Gobierno de Mexico. Detalles de la solicitud para la Credencial para Votar. Mexico, DF2019.

67. World Bank. World Band Country and Lending Groups Washington, DC2021. Available online at: https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups

68. Publimetro. 527 mil niños y adolescentes mexicanos sin acta de nacimiento: Inegi. Publimetro (2019).

69. Mexico U. *El Derecho a la Identidad Mexico DF: UNICEF Mexico.* (2019). Available online at: https://www.unicef.org/mexico/el-derecho-la-identidad

70. Insituto Nacional de Migracion: Gobierno de Mexico. Programa de Repatriacion Mexico, DF: Gobierno de Mexico (2019). Available online at: https://www.gob.mx/inm/acciones-y-programas/programa-de-repatriacion-12469

71. Ojeda VD, Romero L, Ortiz A. A model for sustainable laser tattoo removal services for adult probationers. *Int J Prison Health.* (2019). doi: 10.1108/IJPH-09-2018-0047

72. Diego Vigil J. Gang Redux: A Balanced Anti-Gang Strategy. Waveland Press (2010).

73. Ojeda VD, Magana C, Hiller-Venegas S, Romero LS, Ortiz A. Motivations for seeking laser tattoo removal and perceived outcomes as reported by justice involved adults. *Int sJ Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* 2022:0306624X221102807. doi: 10.1177/0306624X221102807

74. REMOVINK. Blog: Cuanto Cuesta Borrar Un Tatuaje (2017). Available online at: http://removink.mx/2017/04/18/cuanto-cuesta-borrar-un-tatuaje/

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Le Breton David, Université de Strasbourg, France

REVIEWED BY Zohreh Mahmoodi, Alborz University of Medical Sciences, Iran Yuanyuan Xiao, Kunming Medical University, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Hong Wang 100113@cqmu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 28 June 2022 ACCEPTED 05 September 2022 PUBLISHED 23 September 2022

#### CITATION

Tang Y, Ma Y, Zhang J and Wang H (2022) The relationship between negative life events and quality of life in adolescents: Mediated by resilience and social support. *Front. Public Health* 10:980104. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.980104

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Tang, Ma, Zhang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## The relationship between negative life events and quality of life in adolescents: Mediated by resilience and social support

Yinshuang Tang<sup>1</sup>, Yingjie Ma<sup>2</sup>, Jinglin Zhang<sup>1</sup> and Hong Wang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Maternal and Child Health and Adolescent Health, School of Public Health, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Epidemiology and Health Statistics, School of Public Health, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing, China

**Background:** Quality of life has become an important indicator for assessing the health care of adolescents. This study aimed to explore the relationship between negative life events and quality of life in adolescents and the potential mediating roles of resilience and social support.

**Methods:** A stratified cluster sampling technique was used to select 3,860 adolescents as study participants. The Adolescent Self-Rating Life Events Checklist, the Resilience Scale for Chinese Adolescents, the Social Support Rating Scale, and the Adolescent Quality of Life Scale were used by participants to rate their negative life events, resilience, social support, quality of life, respectively. The correlations between study variables were analyzed by the Pearson correlation analyses. The AMOS 26.0 software was used to explore the mediating roles of resilience and social support in negative life events and quality of life.

**Results:** There was a negative correlation between negative life events and quality of life ( $\beta$ =-0.745, *P* < 0.05); resilience and social support played an important mediating role in the relationship between negative life events and quality of life ( $\beta_{\text{Resilience}} = -0.287$ , *P* < 0.05;  $\beta_{\text{Social support}} = -0.124$ , *P* < 0.05). The emotional adjustment dimension of resilience ( $\beta$  = -0.285, *P* < 0.05) and the subjective support dimension of social support ( $\beta$  = -0.100, *P* < 0.05) played the largest mediating roles, respectively.

**Conclusion:** Negative life events were negatively correlated with adolescents' quality of life. Strengthening resilience and social support is expected to weaken and reduce the adverse effects of negative life events on adolescents and further maintain and improve their quality of life.

#### KEYWORDS

negative life events, resilience, social support, quality of life, adolescents

## Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines quality of life (QoL) criteria as an individual's perception of their place in life in the context of the culture and value system in which they live and their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns (1). It is generally considered to be a multidimensional structure and its evaluation usually depends on individuals' subjective evaluation of wellbeing and/or function in the different domains that make up the overall structure (2). Research on adolescents shows that QoL is about the positive cycles of life. To enter and maintain a positive cycle, a positive self-image, good friends, and strong family relationships are important. Consequently, adolescents' QoL is threatened when these factors are negative (3).

Adolescence is a critical period of transition from childhood to adulthood involving rapid physical, psychological, and social changes that shape adolescents' personality, behavior, and future health (2). Negative life events [NLEs; (4)], such as interpersonal strain and excessive pressure of study, are key risk factors for adolescent development and have a significant impact on the psychological and social outcomes of adolescents (5-7). Although personality characteristics play an important role in an individual's psychological and social development, environmental experience also influences these outcomes. Compared with adults, adolescents are more sensitive to the perception of the environment and more vulnerable to self-evaluation and external factors (8). The experience of NLEs in childhood can stimulate negative cognition and behaviors and become contributing factors to depression and other psychological problems in adulthood (9). The overall results of the current study suggest that NLEs are associated with increased psychological stress and reduced life satisfaction (10, 11). The occurrence of major NLEs directly predicts lower QoL (12, 13).

Resilience is defined as a personal quality that enables a person to thrive in the face of adversity. People with a higher level of resilience are typically characterized by optimism, positive coping, and hardiness, which may help them successfully cope with NLEs and maintain better mental and physical health outcomes (14). Previous studies have shown that NLEs impair resilience (15), and that resilience is a positive predictor of adolescents' QoL (16, 17). According to Kumpfer's mental resilience framework theory (18), people have different degrees of mental resilience due to different cognitive, emotional, and mental states. When feeling the pressures or challenges of the outside world, an individual's resilience will respond to the pressure from the outside world. High resilience individuals can adapt to these pressures but low resilience individuals fare less well. Resilience can also play an intermediary role (18). For example, resilience was found to be a mediator between NLEs and positive social adjustment (15), and between self-compassion and QoL (19). That is, resilience may act as a factor directly affecting health-related outcomes and also play a role as a mediator. Resilience is a multidimensional concept that has recently been identified as a potentially modifiable factor (20) that can be improved through intervention (21). It is our premise that resilience is the mediator between NLEs and QoL. Thus, when individuals experience NLEs, which are often unavoidable, resilience can help them maintain and promote their mental health and QoL (22).

Social support refers to external support from important others and society (23). According to the stress-buffering hypothesis, social support may help individuals redefine stressful situations so that they are no longer perceived as stress and/or supply resources, thereby reducing the severity of stressful events (24). The Convoy model of social relations (25) and Novena's conceptual model of meaning in life (26) further reveal the relationship between life satisfaction, living arrangements, social support, and meaning in life. The Convoy model suggests that social support from different social networks (such as living arrangements) plays an important role in determining individual subjective well-being and life satisfaction (25). According to Novena's conceptual model, conditions such as living arrangements can serve as a foundation for the components that give meaning to life. One study showed that social support plays an intermediary role between living arrangements and life satisfaction (27). Another study showed that social support mediates the relationship between NLEs and depression in adolescents (28). QoL is a response to life events and changes in the living environment; adolescents' social support is positively related to their QoL (29, 30). However, our understanding of the role of social support in NLEs and QoL is rather limited. Thus, our goal is to explore whether social support plays a mediating role in NLEs and QoL. If so, the introduction of social support for adolescents should improve their QoL.

Previous research has examined the relationship between NLEs and QoL, resilience and QoL, and social support and QoL. To the best of our knowledge, no study has investigated the mediating role of resilience and social support in NLEs and QoL, especially among adolescents. Therefore, in 2020, we conducted a population-based survey among primary and middle school students in Chongqing, China, to examine the relationship between NLEs and QoL in children and adolescents, and to explore the mediating role of resilience and social support. Based on previous studies, we hypothesized that (1) NLEs were negatively correlated with QoL in adolescents, (2) resilience and social support were negatively correlated with NLEs and positively correlated with QoL, and resilience and social support played a mediating role between NLEs and QoL. Our hypothesized model can be seen in Figure 1.

## Materials and methods

### Study design, participants, and process

The stratified cluster sampling method was used to select the study sample in Qijiang District, Chongqing. As per the stratification of urban and rural areas, two primary schools and two middle schools were randomly selected from urban and rural areas of the region, respectively. The study participants primary school students from grades 4–6 and junior middle

42



school students from grades 7 to 9—were selected from a total of eight schools. The formal survey was conducted in November 2020 with a sample size of 3,860 participants. The inclusion criterion was that students could understand and complete the questionnaire independently. The study was approved by the ethical committee of Chongqing Medical University and written informed consent was obtained from students and their parents before the research study began.

Participants were surveyed using a self-reported questionnaire, which included general demographic characteristics such as gender and grade, as well as scales related to NLEs, resilience, social support, and QoL. The questionnaire investigators were composed of two professors and six graduate students. Before the survey, the investigators were given standardized training by a professor to ensure that they had a clear understanding of the structure of the questionnaire and how to fill in the questionnaire. Under the supervision of the school leaders, the investigators entered each sample class in the school to conduct a field survey of the students. After they explained how the questionnaire should be filled out, the students completed the questionnaire in the classroom with the help of the investigators and the head teacher. Participants were assured that their responses would be confidential and anonymous. After the students completed the questionnaires, the investigators checked and collected the questionnaires one by one and timely returned the questionnaires with missing or logical errors to the participants for supplementary information and modification.

### Instruments

#### General questionnaire

According to the influencing factors of adolescents' QoL (31–33), the following sociodemographic characteristics were collected using the self-designed questionnaires: age (continuous variable); gender (male/female); grade (4–9); whether the individual is a left-behind child (yes/no); family economic status (low/moderate/high); academic stress (low/moderate/high).

Left-behind children refer to those who remain at home and are cared for by other family members or caregivers because one or both parents have migrated to jobs outside of their home region (34). All questions were self-reported by the participants.

### Negative life events

The Adolescent Self-Rating Life Events Checklist [ASLEC; 15] was used to assess the impact of NLEs on adolescents in the past 12 months. It consisted of 27 items that covered six dimensions-interpersonal relationships, learning pressure, punishment, bereavement and property loss, health and adaptation, and others. Each item was assessed with a 5-point Likert scale to rate the influence of NLEs on adolescents-no influence (1), mild influence (2), moderate influence (3), severe influence (4), and extremely severe influence (5). The higher the total score, the greater the impact of NLEs. The Cronbach's alpha of this measure was 0.889 (95% CI [0.884, 0.894]). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients of interpersonal relationships, learning pressure, punishment, bereavement and property loss, health and adaptation, and others were 0.735 (95% CI [0.721, 0.748]), 0.594 (95% CI [0.574, 0.614]), 0.678 (95% CI [0.663, 0.694]), 0.584 (95% CI [0.523, 0.572]), 0.414 (95% CI [0.383, 0.444]), and 0.581 (95% CI [0.559, 0.602]), respectively.

#### Quality of life

The Adolescent Quality of Life Scale (35) was used to measure QoL. The scale consisted of 39 items, divided into four dimensions, as follows: physical (8 items), psychological (11 items), pubertal (6 items), and social (14 items), which were used to measure the QoL of children and adolescents. Each item was scored on the 5-point Likert scale. If the item was related to the frequency of a certain phenomenon, it was scored from 5 to 1, that is, from "never" to "always". If the item was satisfactory for a certain situation, it was rated from 1 to 5 points, that is, from "very dissatisfied" to "very satisfied." The higher the score, the better the QoL. The overall Cronbach's alpha was 0.923 (95% *CI* [0.920, 0.927]). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients of physical, psychological, pubertal, and social were 0.869 (95% *CI* [0.863, 0.876]), 0.821 (95% *CI* [0.812, 0.829]), 0.878 (95% *CI* [0.872, 0.883]), and 0.606 (95% *CI* [0.586, 0.625]), respectively.

#### Resilience

The Resilience Scale for Chinese Adolescents (RSCA) (36) was used to measure resilience and included five factors, as follows: target focus, emotional adjustment, positive cognition, family support, and interpersonal assistance. This scale contained 27 items and was scored on a 5-point Likert scale. Positive items were rated on a scale of 1–5, from "completely inconsistent" to "completely consistent." Negative items were rated in reverse. The higher the score, the higher

the psychological resilience. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha value of the overall scale was 0.853 (95% *CI* [0.846, 0.859]). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients of target focus, emotional adjustment, positive cognition, family support, and interpersonal assistance were 0.794 (95% *CI* [0.784, 0.804]), 0.743 (95% *CI* [0.730, 0.755]), 0.747 (95% *CI* [0.733, 0.759]), 0.687 (95% *CI* [0.671, 0.702]), and 0.710 (95% *CI* [0.696, 0.724]), respectively.

#### Social support

The Social Support Rating Scale [SSRS; 37] was used to detect the degree of support received by participants in social life and their utilization of the support. This scale consisted of 10 items comprised of three dimensions, as follows: objective support, subjective support, and utilization of social support. Items 1-4 and 8-10 were scored on a four-point scale (1-4 points). Item 5 was divided into five sub-questions, and each sub-question was graded from "none" to "full support" on a 1-4 point scale. For items 6 and 7, points were given according to the number of sources in the "following sources." If the answer was "no source," the score was 0. The higher the total score, the higher the overall social support. The overall Cronbach's alpha was 0.717 (95% CI [0.704, 0.730]). The Cronbach's alpha coefficients of subjective support, objective support, and utilization of social support were 0.543 (95% CI [0.519, 0.566]), 0.497 (95% CI [0.468, 0.523]), and 0.600 (95% CI [0.578, 0.621]), respectively.

### Data analysis

SPSS 24.0 and AMOS 26.0 software were used to analyze the data. Descriptive analyses, including frequency and percentage or mean and standard deviation, were calculated for describing participants' sociodemographic characteristics. The Pearson correlation analysis was used for the correlation analysis of study variables-NLEs, resilience, social support, and QoL. The AMOS 26.0 software was used to explore the mediating roles of resilience and social support in NLEs and QoL. Due to the theoretical crossover between the dimensions of family support and interpersonal assistance in resilience and the three dimensions of social support, the mediating effect model of resilience and social support, directly constructed may lead to multicollinearity between resilience and social support. In this study, the influence of multicollinearity was eliminated by setting a constraint condition to connect the residual term of resilience and social support in the total dimensional analysis. In the dimensional analysis, the residual terms of the two dimensions of family support and interpersonal assistance in resilience and the three dimensions of social support were connected to eliminate the influence of multicollinearity. The 2,000 bias-corrected samples were extracted to calculate the path

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics of participants (n = 3,860).

Characteristics	Mean or <i>n</i>	SD or %	
Age (years)	12.51	1.66	
Gender			
Male	1,925	49.87	
Female	1,935	50.13	
Educational degree			
Primary school	1,756	45.49	
Middle school	2,104	54.51	
Left behind children			
Yes	1,579	40.91	
No	2,281	59.09	
Family economic status			
Low	425	11.01	
Moderate	2,138	55.39	
High	1,297	33.60	
Academic stress			
Low	538	13.94	
Moderate	2,027	52.51	
High	1,295	33.55	

Quantitative data were expressed by "mean" and "standard deviation (SD)", qualitative data were expressed by "n" and "percentage (%)".

coefficients and their significance. A confidence interval (CI) without 0 indicated a significant mediating effect. A P-value (two-tailed) <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Results

### Descriptive data and correlations

Descriptive statistics of the sociodemographic characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1. The sample consisted of 1,925 (49.87%) male and 1,935 (50.13%) female students with an average age of 12.51 years. There were 1,756 (45.49%) primary school students and 2,104 (54.51%) junior high school students, including 1,579 (40.91%) left-behind students. Among them, 2,138 (55.39%) students assessed their family economic status as "moderate", 1,297 (33.60%) students assessed their family economic status as "high," and 425 (11.01%) students assessed themselves as "low". The self-rated learning pressure of students was as follows: 2,027 (52.51%) students rated their learning pressure as "moderate", 538 (13.94%) students as "low", and 1,295 (33.55%) students as high.

The correlation analysis of each variable is shown in Table 2. As previously assumed, all variables were significantly correlated. The NLEs were negatively correlated with resilience, social support, and QoL. Resilience was positively correlated with social support and QoL. Social support was positively correlated with QoL.

TABLE 2 Correlations, means, and standards deviations of study variables.

	Mean	SD	NLEs	R	SS	QoL
NLEs	40.71	11.25	1			
R	91.67	17.01	$-0.480^{*}$	1		
SS	40.94	7.02	-0.393*	0.585*	1	
QoL	148.07	20.45	-0.636*	0.627*	0.527*	1

SD, standard deviation; NLEs, negative life events; R, resilience; SS, social support; QoL, quality of life.

 $^{*}P < 0.05.$ 

TABLE 3 The mediating effect of NLEs on QoL through R and SS.

Outcome Mediation Estimated 95% bias-corrected CI

	analysis			
	analysis paths		Lower	Upper
QoL	Total effect	-1.157	-1.219	-1.093
	Direct effect	-0.745	-0.805	-0.690
	Indirect effect	-0.411	-0.448	-0.381
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \ \text{R}$	-0.726	-0.777	-0.674
	$R \to \ QoL$	0.396	0.356	0.433
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \text{ SS}$	-0.246	-0.267	-0.225
	$\text{SS} \rightarrow \text{ QoL}$	0.504	0.413	0.598
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \text{ QoL}$	-0.745	-0.805	-0.690

NLEs, negative life events; R, resilience; QoL, quality of life; SS, social support; CI, confidence interval.

## Mediation analyses

As shown in Table 3, the mediating effect (indirect effect) of NLEs on QoL was significant ( $\beta = -0.411$ , 95% *CI* [-0.448, -0.381]). The direct effect of NLEs on QoL was also significant ( $\beta = -0.745$ , 95% *CI* [-0.805, -0.690]). Specifically, both resilience and social support mediated the relationship between NLEs and QoL. NLEs significantly predict decreased mental resilience ( $\beta = -0.726$ , 95% *CI* [-0.777, -0.674]), social support ( $\beta = -0.246$ , 95% *CI* [-0.805, -0.690]). The mediating effect of resilience ( $\beta = -0.287$ , 95% *CI* [-0.322, -0.255]) and social support ( $\beta = -0.124$ , 95% *CI* [-0.149, -0.100]) accounted for 24.85% and 10.72% of the total effect, respectively (Figure 2).

Table 4 further demonstrates the mediating effects of various dimensions of resilience and social support on the relationship between NLEs and QoL. Among them, emotional adjustment in resilience had the greatest mediating effect on the relationship between NLEs and QoL ( $\beta = -0.285$ , 95% *CI* [-0.317, -0.257]). In social support, the subjective support dimension had the largest mediating effect ( $\beta = -0.100$ , 95% *CI* [-0.123, -0.079]).



## Discussion

The purpose of this study was to explore the influence of NLEs on adolescent QoL and its potential mediating mechanism. As hypothesized, our results show a significant negative association between NLEs and adolescent QoL, which is consistent with previous studies (10, 11). Importantly, we found that resilience mediated the relationship between NLEs and QoL in adolescents. The mediating effect value was -0.287, accounting for 24.85% of the total effects. Most people will inevitably be exposed to traumatic experiences during their lives, which have been shown to negatively impact physical and mental health (37–39).

Resilience is becoming an increasingly popular concept for research and application in the field of prevention (18). Adolescence is the developmental period with the highest risk for experiencing multiple types of NLEs, such as academic stress, injuries, interpersonal violence, and chronic diseases (40-42). Studies have shown that frequent exposure to NLEs in childhood and adolescence is associated with poorer, health-related QoL (43, 44). With reduced funding for services to help children and families at risk, there is an urgent need for information on low-cost ways to increase children's resilience to negative life events. A better understanding of ways to increase the resilience of all children holds great promise for improving the effectiveness of prevention services in communities, schools, and families (18). Resilience is considered an important aspect of health and well-being and refers to the ability to cope with difficulties, stress, and trauma while maintaining or restoring normal function. It is regarded as a complex dynamic process (45) that is influenced by psychological, social, and biological factors (46). The higher the resilience, the lower the vulnerability and risk of disease (47).

The results of this study showed that resilience was positively correlated with QoL (16), and negatively correlated with NLEs

Outcome	Mediation analysis paths	Estimated	95% bias-corrected CI		
			Lower	Upper	
QoL	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \ \text{R}_1 \rightarrow \ \text{QoL}$	-0.040	-0.054	-0.029	
	$NLEs \rightarrow \ R_2 \rightarrow \ QoL$	-0.285	-0.317	-0.257	
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \ \text{R}_3 \rightarrow \ \text{QoL}$	0.006	-0.002	-0.011	
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \ \text{R}_4 \rightarrow \ \text{QoL}$	-0.049	-0.070	-0.029	
	$NLEs \rightarrow \ R_5 \rightarrow \ QoL$	0.016	0.035	0.002	
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \text{ SS}_1 \rightarrow \text{ QoL}$	-0.100	-0.123	-0.079	
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \text{ SS}_2 \rightarrow \text{ QoL}$	0.008	-0.001	0.016	
	$\text{NLEs} \rightarrow \text{ SS}_3 \rightarrow \text{ QoL}$	-0.054	-0.070	-0.039	

TABLE 4 The mediating effect of NLEs on quality of life through various dimensions of R and SS.

NLEs, negative life events; R<sub>1</sub>, target focus; R<sub>2</sub>, emotional adjustment; R<sub>3</sub>, positive cognition; R<sub>4</sub>, family support; R<sub>5</sub>, interpersonal assistance; QoL, quality of life; SS<sub>1</sub>, objective support; SS<sub>2</sub>, subjective support; SS<sub>3</sub>, utilization of social support; CI, confidence interval.

(17), which is consistent with the results of previous studies. Therefore, it is reasonable to infer that NLEs could reduce the level of resilience and further predict lower QoL. In addition, the results suggest that a targeted intervention for improving resilience can help individuals to resist the negative impact of NLEs on QoL and maintain and improve QoL. In this study, emotional control of resilience played the most important mediating role. Previous studies have found that the tendency to feel and share positive emotions, especially those related to pleasant events, has a strong interpersonal component that can improve QoL (48). In contrast, the negative emotions of sadness, anger, guilt, disgust, shame, and embarrassment affect the way stressors are assessed and can have a damaging effect on life satisfaction (49, 50). Thus, it is expected to reduce the negative impact of NLEs on QoL by improving the individual's ability to manage their emotions with respect to resilience.

Social support is described as "the support an individual receives through social networks with others" (51). In this study, we found that social support was not only significantly associated with NLEs and QoL but also mediated the effects on the relationship between NLEs and QoL in adolescents. The mediating effect value was -0.124 and accounted for 10.72% of the total effects. Adolescence is the main transitional period of an individual's life and is characterized by biological, behavioral, and psychological changes under the influence of social conditions and family characteristics (52). With the change and expansion of social relations among family members, teachers, and friends, the interdependence and influence between individuals and different social groups are increasing, and social support is closely related to the emotional and social development of adolescents (53). According to social support theory, the stronger a person's

social support network, the better able they are to cope with environmental challenges. Social support may influence adolescents' assessment of situations, improve their problemsolving skills, and promote adaptive behavior (54). Previous studies have demonstrated that social support can buffer the impact of NLEs on depression, anxiety, and other psychological problems (24, 28, 55). Social support from the school, family, and other environments is a positive predictor of adolescents' QoL (29, 56).

In this study, social support, as a protective factor of QoL, is a mediator between NLEs and QoL and can buffer the negative impact of NLEs on QoL in adolescents. Among them, the subjective support dimension plays the strongest intermediary role. Subjective support is also called perceived social support, that is, the emotional support experienced by individuals, and the emotional experience and satisfaction of individuals who are respected, supported, and understood in society. Perceived social support is closely related to the subjective feelings of individuals (57). Crockett et al. (58) found that having a strong family social support network can enable individuals to have better emotional regulation and protect them from external stress. Social work with a social support theory orientation emphasizes the intervention of an individual's social network to change its role in the individual's life. Individuals with insufficient social support resources or insufficient ability to use social network need social workers to work with them to reduce the negative impact of NLEs on QoL. Specifically, social workers can help these individuals to expand their social support resources, enhance their emotional support, and improve their ability to use social networking networks.

Adolescence is a time of many changes characterized by an increasing trend in exposure to NLEs (59), and a gradual decline in life satisfaction in terms of cognitive evaluation of overall life (60, 61). In 2015, the H6 agencies (United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS, United Nations Population Fund, United Nations Children's Fund, UN Women, WHO, and the World Bank Group) launched the Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescent's Health (2016-2030), which identifies adolescents as central to achieving the United Nation's Sustainable Development Goals [SDGs; (62)]. In 2019, China issued the Healthy China Action plan (2019-2030), which aims to promote the health and well-being of children and adolescents through a series of steps and programs (63). These policies emphasize the importance of adolescents' QoL. To better promote teenagers' QoL, it is urgent to find and use effective intervention approaches. Given that the NLEs experienced by adolescents are not always avoidable, traditional education alone may not be effective. Based on the results of this study, targeted interventions on resilience and social support may reduce the impact of NLEs on adolescents so they can enjoy a better QoL.

## Limitations of the study

This study has some limitations that need to be considered. Firstly, this study was based on participants' self-reports of data that may be more subjective than objective. Secondly, the sample was drawn only from Chongqing, China and most of the adolescents were in early adolescence. Thus, the representation of older adolescents and the generalizability of the result are limited. Thirdly, this study was a cross-sectional survey, so causal conclusions cannot be drawn. Future studies will need a longitudinal research design to verify our findings. In addition, the relationship between NLEs and QoL is complex and future research should explore additional variables such as the mediating variables between NLEs and QoL.

## Conclusion

There was a significant negative correlation between NLEs and adolescents' QoL. Resilience and social support played an important mediating role between NLEs and QoL. Schools and society should strengthen health interventions that enhance adolescents' resilience and social support that in turn can improve their QoL.

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## Ethics statement

The study the Ethical was approved bv Committee of Chongqing Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was the participants' provided by legal guardian/next of kin.

## Author contributions

HW and YT: conceptualization and writing-review and editing. HW, YT, and YM: methodology. HW, YT, YM, and JZ: formal analysis and investigation. YT: writing-original draft preparation. HW: funding acquisition. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## Funding

This study was supported by the Social Sciences Research Planning Fund Project from the Ministry of Education Humanities (17YJA840015).

## Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the primary and secondary school health centers in Qijiang District and teachers and leaders of selected schools for their support of data collection. At the same time, we would also like to thank the teachers of the Department of Statistics, Chongqing Medical University for their guidance on data analysis.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. The WHOQOL Group. The World Health Organization Quality of Life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. *Soc Sci Med.* (1995) 41:1403–9. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(95)00112-K

2. Solans M, Pane S, Estrada MD, Serra-Sutton V, Berra S, Herdman M, et al. Health-related quality of life measurement in children and adolescents: a systematic review of generic and disease-specific instruments. *Value Health.* (2008) 11:742–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-4733.2007.00293.x

3. Helseth S, Misvaer N. Adolescents' perceptions of quality of life: what it is and what matters. *J Clin Nurs.* (2010) 19:1454–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.03069.x

4. Hammen, C. Life events and depression: the plot thickens. Am J Community Psychol. (1992) 20:179–93. doi: 10.1007/BF00940835

5. Bannink R, Broeren S, van de Looij-Jansen PM, Raat H. Associations between parent-adolescent attachment relationship quality, negative life events and mental health. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e80812. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080812

6. Kelly TM, Soloff PH, Lynch KG, Haas GL, Mann JJ. Recent life events, social adjustment, and suicide attempts in patients with major depression and borderline personality disorder. *J Pers Disord.* (2000) 14:316–26. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2000.14.4.316

7. Liu WJ, Zhou L, Wang XQ, Yang BX, Wang Y, Jiang JF. Mediating role of resilience in relationship between negative life events and depression among Chinese adolescents. *Arch Psychiatr Nurs.* (2019) 33:116–22. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2019.10.004

8. Han L, Zhao SY, Pan XY, Liao CJ. The impact of students with leftbehind experiences on childhood: the relationship between negative life events and depression among college students in China. *Int J Soc Psychiatry.* (2018) 64:56–62. doi: 10.1177/0020764017739332

9. Beck AT. The evolution of the cognitive model of depression and its neurobiological correlates. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2008) 165:969– 77. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2008.08050721

10. Marum G, Clench-Aas J, Nes RB, Raanaas RK. The relationship between negative life events, psychological distress and life satisfaction: a population-based study. *Qual Life Res.* (2014) 23:601–11. doi: 10.1007/s11136-013-0512-8

11. Cohrdes C, Mauz E. Self-efficacy and emotional stability buffer negative effects of adverse childhood experiences on young adult health-related quality of life. *J Adolesc Health.* (2020) 67:93–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.01.005

12. Ferreira C, Barreto M, Oliveira S. The link between major life events and quality of life: the role of compassionate abilities. *Community Ment Health J.* (2021) 57:219–27. doi: 10.1007/s10597-020-00638-z

13. Pocnet C, Antonietti JP, Strippoli MF, Glaus J, Preisig M, Rossier J. Individuals' quality of life linked to major life events, perceived social support, and personality traits. *Qual Life Res.* (2016) 25:2897–908. doi: 10.1007/s11136-016-1296-4

14. Connor KM, Davidson JR. Development of a new resilience scale: the Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). *Depress Anxiety.* (2003) 18:76-82. doi: 10.1002/da.10113

15. Gao F, Yao Y, Yao C, Xiong Y, Ma H, Liu H. The mediating role of resilience and self-esteem between negative life events and positive social adjustment among left-behind adolescents in China: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2019) 19:239. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2219-z

16. Simón-Saiz MJ, Fuentes-Chacón RM, Garrido-Abejar M, Serrano-Parra MD, Larrañaga-Rubio E, Yubero-Jiménez S. Influence of resilience on health-related quality of life in adolescents. *Enferm Clin.* (2018) 28:283– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.enfcle.2018.06.004

17. Maheri M, Alipour M, Rohban A, Garmaroudi G. The association of resilience with health-related quality of life (HRQoL) in adolescent students. *Int J Adolesc Med Health*. (2019) 34. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2019-0050

18. Kumpfer KL. Factors and processes contributing to resilience: the resilience framework. In: Glantz MD, Johnson JL, editors. *Resiliency and Development: Positive Life Adaptations*. New York, NY: Kluwer (1999). p. 179–224.

19. Bottolfs M, Støa EM, Reinboth MS, Svendsen MV, Schmidt SK, Oellingrath IM, et al. Resilience and lifestyle-related factors as predictors for health-related quality of life among early adolescents: a cross-sectional study. *J Int Med Res.* (2020) 48:300060520903656. doi: 10.1177/0300060520903656

20. Hoge EA, Austin ED, Pollack MH. Resilience: research evidence and conceptual considerations for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2007) 24:139–52. doi: 10.1002/da.20175

21. Connor KM. Assessment of resilience in the aftermath of trauma. J Clin Psychiatry. (2006) 67:46–9.

22. Luthar SS, Cicchetti D. The construct of resilience: implications for interventions and social policies. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2000) 12:857–85. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400004156

23. House JS, Landis KR, Umberson D. Social relationships and health. *Science*. (1988) 241:540–5. doi: 10.1126/science.3399889

24. Thoits PA. Conceptual, methodological, and theoretical problems in studying social support as a buffer against life stress. *J Health Soc Behav.* (1982) 23:145–59. doi: 10.2307/2136511

25. Antonucci TC, Birditt KS, Akiyama H. Convoys of social relations: an interdisciplinary approach. In: Bengston VL, Gans D, Pulney NM, Silverstein M, editors. *Handbook of Theories of Aging*. New York, NY: Springer (2009). p. 247–60.

26. Noviana U, Miyazaki M, Ishimaru M. Meaning in life: a conceptual model for disaster nursing practice. *Int J Nurs Pract.* (2016) 22:65–75. doi: 10.1111/ijn.12441

27. Lin Y, Xiao H, Lan X, Wen S, Bao S. Living arrangements and life satisfaction: mediation by social support and meaning in life. *BMC Geriatr.* (2020) 20:136. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01541-8

28. Liu L, Liu C, Ke X, Li N. Mediating effect of social support on the association between life events and depression: a crosssectional study of adolescents in Chongqing China. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e22627. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000022627

29. Calmeiro L, Camacho I, de Matos MG. Life satisfaction in adolescents: the role of individual and social health assets. *Span J Psychol.* (2018) 21:E23. doi: 10.1017/sjp.2018.24

30. Gomes AC, Rebelo MAB, de Queiroz AC, de Queiroz Herkrath APC, Herkrath FJ, Rebelo Vieira JM, et al. Socioeconomic status, social support, oral health beliefs, psychosocial factors, health behaviours and health-related quality of life in adolescents. *Qual Life Res.* (2020) 29:141–51. doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-02279-6

31. Otto C, Haller AC, Klasen F, Hölling H, Bullinger M, Ravens-Sieberer U, et al. Risk and protective factors of health-related quality of life in children and adolescents: results of the longitudinal BELLA study. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0190363. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190363

32. Huang Y, Zhong XN Li QY, Xu D, Zhang XL, Feng C, et al. Healthrelated quality of life of the rural-China left-behind children or adolescents and influential factors: a cross-sectional study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes.* (2015) 13:29. doi: 10.1186/s12955-015-0220-x

33. Didsbury MS, Kim S, Medway MM, Tong A, McTaggart SJ, Walker AM, et al. Socio-economic status and quality of life in children with chronic disease: a systematic review. *J Paediatr Child Health.* (2016) 52:1062–9. doi: 10.1111/jpc.13407

34. Fellmeth G, Rose-Clarke K, Zhao C, Busert LK, Zheng Y, Massazza A, et al. Health impacts of parental migration on leftbehind children and adolescents: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:2567–82. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32 558-3

35. Diao H, Pu Y, Yang L, Li T, Jin F, Wang H. The impacts of peer education based on adolescent health education on the quality of life in adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. *Qual Life Res.* (2020) 29:153-61. doi:10.1007/s11136-019-02309-3

36. Tang Y, Diao H, Jin F, Pu Y, Wang H. The effect of peer education based on adolescent health education on the resilience of children and adolescents: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *PLoS ONE.* (2022) 17:e0263012. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0263012

37. Benjet C, Bromet E, Karam EG, Kessler RC, McLaughlin KA, Ruscio AM, et al. The epidemiology of traumatic event exposure worldwide: results from the World Mental Health Survey Consortium. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:327–43. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715001981

38. Hauffa R, Rief W, Brähler E, Martin A, Mewes R, Glaesmer H. Lifetime traumatic experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder in the German population: results of a representative population survey. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2011) 199:934–9. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182392c0d

39. Liu H, Petukhova MV, Sampson NA, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Andrade LH, et al. Association of DSM-IV posttraumatic stress disorder with traumatic experience type and history in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2017) 74:270-81. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3783

40. Jayanthi P, Thirunavukarasu M, Rajkumar R. Academic stress and depression among adolescents: a cross-sectional study. *Indian Pediatr.* (2015) 52:217–9. doi: 10.1007/s13312-015-0609-y

41. McLaughlin KA, Koenen KC, Hill ED, Petukhova M, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, et al. Trauma exposure and posttraumatic stress disorder in a national sample of adolescents. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2013) 52:815–30.e14. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2013.05.011

42. Roberts YH, Ferguson M, Crusto CA. Exposure to traumatic events and health-related quality of life in preschool-aged children. *Qual Life Res.* (2013) 22:2159–68. doi: 10.1007/s11136-012-0330-4

43. Howland LC, Storm DS, Crawford SL, Ma Y, Gortmaker SL, Oleske JM. Negative life events: risk to health-related quality of life in children and youth with HIV infection. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care. (2007) 18:3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jana.2006.11.008

44. Coker TR, Elliott MN, Wallander JL, Cuccaro P, Grunbaum JA, Corona R, et al. Association of family stressful life-change events and health-related quality of life in fifth-grade children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2011) 165:354–9. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.13

45. VanMeter F, Cicchetti D. Resilience. Handb Clin Neurol. (2020) 173:67-73. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-64150-2.00008-3

46. Feder A, Fred-Torres S, Southwick SM, Charney DS. The biology of human resilience: opportunities for enhancing resilience across the life span. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2019) 86:443–53. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.07.012

47. Babić R, Babić M, Rastović P, Curlin M, Šimić J, Mandić K, et al. Resilience in health and illness. *Psychiatr Danub.* (2020) 32:226–32.

48. McCrae, RR, Costa, PT. Personality in adulthood, a five-factor theory perspective. New York: Guilford Press. (2003). doi: 10.4324/9780203428412

49. Lucas RE, Fujita F. Factors influencing the relation between extraversion and pleasant affect. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2000) 79:1039–56. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.79.6.1039

50. Löckenhoff CE, Terracciano A, Patriciu NS, Eaton WW, Costa PT Jr. Selfreported extremely adverse life events and longitudinal changes in five-factor model personality traits in an urban sample. *J Trauma Stress.* (2009) 22:53– 9. doi: 10.1002/jts.20385

51. Lin N, Simeone RS, Ensel WM, Kuo W. Social support, stressful life events, and illness: a model and an empirical test. *J Health Soc Behav.* (1979) 20:108–19. doi: 10.2307/2136433

52. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, Blakemore SJ, Dick B, Ezeh AC, et al. Adolescence: a foundation for future health. *Lancet.* (2012) 379:1630-40. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5

53. Geng Y, Gu J, Zhu X, Yang M, Shi D, Shang J, et al. Negative emotions and quality of life among adolescents: a moderated mediation model. *Int J Clin Health Psychol.* (2020) 20:118–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2020.02.001

54. Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. Psychol Bull. (1985) 98:310-57. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310

55. Raknes S, Pallesen S, Bjaastad JF, Wergeland GJ, Hoffart A, Dyregrov K, et al. Negative life events, social support, and self-efficacy in anxious adolescents. *Psychol Rep.* (2017) 120:609–26. doi: 10.1177/0033294117699820

56. Jhang FH. Life satisfaction trajectories of junior high school students in poverty: Exploring the role of self-efficacy and social support. *J Adolesc.* (2019) 75:85–97. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.07.011

57. Cui X, Chi X. The relationship between social support and internet addiction among Chinese adolescents during the COVID-19 pandemic: a multiple mediation model of resilience and post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms. *Psychol Res Behav Manag.* (2021) 14:1665–74. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S305510

 Crockett LJ, Iturbide MI, Torres Stone RA, McGinley M, Raffaelli M, Carlo G. Acculturative stress, social support, and coping: relations to psychological adjustment among Mexican American college students. *Cultur Divers Ethnic Minor Psychol.* (2007) 13:347–55. doi: 10.1037/1099-9809.13.4.347

59. Mann MJ, Kristjansson AL, Sigfusdottir I, Smith ML. The impact of negative life events on young adolescents: comparing the relative vulnerability of middle level, high school, and college-age students. *RMLE Online*. (2014) 38:1–13.

60. Burger K, Samuel R. The role of perceived stress and self-efficacy in young people's life satisfaction: a longitudinal study. *J Youth Adolesc.* (2017) 46:78–90. doi: 10.1007/s10964-016-0608-x

61. Headey B, Muffels R, A. Theory of life satisfaction dynamics: stability, change and volatility in 25-year life trajectories in germany. *Soc Indic Res.* (2018) 140:837–66. doi: 10.1007/s11205-017-1785-z

62. Bao Y, Meng S, Sun Y, Jie S, Lu L. Healthy China Action plan empowers child and adolescent health and wellbeing. *Lancet Public Health*. (2019) 4:e448. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30164-1

63. Dong B, Zou Z, Song Y, Hu P, Luo D, Wen B, et al. Adolescent health and healthy china 2030: a review. *J Adolesc Health*. (2020) 67(5S):S24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.07.023

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### REVIEWED BY Giovanni Messina, University of Foggia, Italy Jonathan Mond.

University of Tasmania, Australia

Marco Cannavò marco.cannavo@studenti.unicz.it

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 05 June 2022 ACCEPTED 06 September 2022 PUBLISHED 05 October 2022

#### CITATION

Barberis N, Calaresi D, Cannavò M and Verrastro V (2022) Body mass index and quality of life in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome: Dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders as mediators. *Front. Public Health* 10:962083. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.962083

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Barberis, Calaresi, Cannavò and Verrastro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Body mass index and quality of life in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome: Dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders as mediators

Nadia Barberis<sup>1</sup>, Danilo Calaresi<sup>2</sup>, Marco Cannavò<sup>1\*</sup> and Valeria Verrastro<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Health Sciences, Magna Græcia University, Catanzaro, Italy, <sup>2</sup>Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

**Objective:** Weight issues, dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders are common among individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) and are linked to poor quality of life (QoL). The goal of the current study was to examine whether the association between body mass index (BMI) and QoL was mediated by dysmorphic concerns, examining also the relations with eating disorder symptomatology.

**Methods:** Questionnaires were administered to 435 individuals with PCOS aged between 18 and 40 years (M = 27.62; SD = 4.83) to measure dysmorphic concerns, eating disorder symptoms and QoL. Participants were also asked to report their height and weight to compute their BMI.

**Results:** Structural equation modeling was used to observe the relationship between the variables. The results revealed a direct relationship between QoL, BMI, dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptomatology. In addition, dysmorphic concerns were related to BMI and eating disorder symptomatology. Furthermore, the results showed the mediating role of dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptoms in the relationship between BMI and QoL.

**Conclusion:** The current results highlight the potential importance of harmful relationships with one's own body and food, explaining why weight issues may be linked to different levels of QoL in PCOS individuals. The implications of these findings are discussed.

#### KEYWORDS

body mass index, dysmorphic concerns, eating disorders, health-related quality of life, polycystic ovary syndrome

## Polycystic ovary syndrome

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) is a disabling endocrinopathy affecting approximately 6–10% of women of childbearing age (1). The condition is multifactorial and often difficult to diagnose due to the existence of different diagnostic criteria (2), mainly based on the presence of a combination of clinical signs of anovulation or menstrual irregularities, polycystic ovaries and androgen excess (3). Weight management issues exacerbate the clinical significance of the disease, leading to important clinical concerns such as diabetes and cardiovascular disease (4, 5). Not surprisingly, research has shown that weight problems are among the most burdening symptoms of this condition, whereas others, such as infertility or menstrual irregularity, have a moderately negative impact on individuals' quality of life (QoL) (6).

Past findings showed how patients with PCOS are more likely to be overweight compared to controls and that PCOS is common in obese women (7, 8). Likewise, previous research has found that the prevalence of PCOS in women with weight problems is about 25% and it is widespread in patients undergoing bariatric surgery (9, 10). The research emphasized how a problematic body mass index (BMI) may foster a negative self-view (11–13) and may negatively influence one's own perceived body image. For instance, past findings showed how BMI is related to dissatisfaction with one's own body in both normal (14–17) and clinical populations (12, 18); furthermore, longitudinal research (19) revealed that BMI was a risk factor for decreased body satisfaction at the time of initial assessment and 5 years later.

Adherence to a healthy lifestyle, namely, proper nutrition and adequate physical activity, is therefore an important part of optimal PCOS management (20). Thus, lifestyle interventions focused on weight and diet to reduce symptoms and improve health outcomes have been indicated as first-line treatment for individuals with PCOS (20). However, previous research observing these kinds of treatments suggested that they provide small or short-term effects (21). It is thus necessary to identify alternative target areas to improve their clinical efficacy.

Given that people with PCOS who have a high BMI are more likely to report poor health status (22, 23) and that having a problematic body weight can lead to fear of social evaluation and perceptions of flaws in appearance (24–26), it is reasonable to assume that dysmorphic concerns are likely to occur.

# The interplay between dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptomatology in PCOS

Dysmorphic concerns refer to perceived aesthetic flaws and the use of strategies to disguise them, withdrawal from

social events due to appearance concerns and also reassuranceseeking about one's own appearance from significant others (27). While body dissatisfaction refers to a negative subjective evaluation of a person's physical body size and/or shape (28-30), dysmorphic concern is a more specific concept that encapsulates not only behavioral, emotional, and cognitive components related with negative body image (27, 31) but also the presence of maladaptive behaviors aimed at altering one's body (32, 33). One of the components of dysmorphic concerns is in fact the presence of potentially harmful behaviors aimed at altering the body through excessive fasting and physical exercise, performance enhancing substances, engaging in excessive grooming, and undergoing cosmetic surgical treatments (34, 35). As such, dysmorphic concerns entail distorted beliefs that one's body is defective that lead to marked social withdrawal (32, 33) and they seem more recurrent in women (36). Previous findings showed a strong association between PCOS and dysmorphic concerns (37-39), and showed that patients with PCOS have worse dysmorphic concerns than individuals without this condition (37). In particular, concerns about weight have been identified as a major component of self-perceived impairment in patients with PCOS (20). In effect, negative thoughts and feelings, such as those associated with dysmorphic concerns, are closely related to impaired QoL (40). The nature of the relationship between dysmorphic concerns and QoL in individuals with PCOS was examined in a meta-analysis by Bazarganipour et al. (41), who found that QoL impairment was exerted by dysmorphic concerns through a significant link with the physical manifestations of hyperandrogenism. Furthermore, dysmorphic concerns have been correlated to a variety of risk factors for poor QoL in people with PCOS, including appearance evaluation, body area satisfaction, overweight preoccupation and higher self-classified weight (42, 43).

Of note, body image disturbances such as dysmorphic concerns are key components of eating disorders (44, 45). Eating disorders are a set of pathologies based on abnormal food intake and preoccupation with weight that can hinder a person's functioning (46). The burden of eating disorder symptomatology on many spheres of a person's life is well documented, with studies revealing diminished interpersonal functioning (47, 48) and increased morbidity and healthcare costs (49). It is thus reasonable to argue that more severe eating disorder symptoms may be positively related to worsened QoL. A connection between PCOS and eating disorders has been suggested by a few studies (50) and some insights have shown that individuals with PCOS display altered dietary intakes and higher odds of presenting with food cravings (42-45, 47-52). For instance, Bernadett and Szemán (53) underlined that the prevalence of clinical and subclinical bulimia nervosa is higher among individuals with PCOS compared to controls. In addition, those with PCOS appear to be more likely to report food restriction and weight concerns, which are also key factors in eating disorders, compared

with healthy individuals (50, 54, 55). The development of disordered eating in individuals with PCOS seems to be significantly linked to distorted perceptions and beliefs about one's own body image (56–58). In particular, body self-evaluation and drive for thinness appear to be among the most prominent components in the maintenance and development of eating disorders, even in individuals with PCOS (59, 60).

### The present study

The above studies underline how interactions between biopsychosocial factors may account for different levels of QoL in individuals with PCOS. There is, in fact, good evidence that body dissatisfaction and/or eating-disordered behavior mediate the association between (elevated) BMI and impairment in quality of life among both women and men in the general population and among both young people and adults (29, 61) and thus is reasonable to infer that said interactions are likely to occur in individuals with PCOS as well. Indeed, it has been highlighted that BMI is a biological dimension that is closely associated with lower body dissatisfaction (62, 63), thereby suggesting that problematic body fatness may constitute a plausible antecedent accounting for individual variation in the preoccupation with one's own physical characteristics (25, 64) and thus dysmorphic concerns. Dysmorphic concerns are in fact a constellation of preoccupations with perceived defects in one's own body that previous findings have shown to foster harmful relationships with food and weight management.

PCOS, as a chronic condition associated with unhealthy BMI and several psychosocial impairments (65–67), is thought to impair one's own QoL. For these reasons, the aim of the current study is to test the hypothesis that an association between BMI and QoL in women with PCOS would be mediated by dysmorphic concerns, examining also the relations with eating disorder symptomatology. Specifically, the goal of this research was to test a model in which higher BMI predicts higher levels of dysmorphic concerns, which in turn lead to higher levels of eating disorder symptomatology that consequently lowers the QoL. It is also expected that higher BMI and dysmorphic concerns predict lower QoL.

## Method

## Participants

Questionnaires were administered to 435 individuals with PCOS aged between 18 and 40 years (M = 27.62; SD = 4.83).

## Measures

#### Quality of life

Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Health-Related Quality of Life Questionnaire (PCOSQ; (68)). It is a self-report questionnaire designed to s assess specifically the QoL of individuals with PCOS. The questionnaire consists of 26 items that investigate the impact of the disease on several aspects of one's quality of life (e.g., "Concerned with infertility problems"). Individuals must respond on a seven-point Likert scale (7 = optimal function, 1 = poorest function). High scores indicate good HRQoL. In our study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.91.

#### Eating disorders

*Eating Attitudes Test* [EAT-26; (69)]. It is a 26-item self-report questionnaire designed to assess eating disorders symptomatology (e.g., "I am terrified about being overweight"). Participants are asked to respond using a six-point Likert scale ranging from zero (= "Never") to five (= "Always"). High scores indicate abnormal eating behaviors. In our study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.88.

#### Dysmorphic concerns

Italian Body Image Concern Inventory (I-BICI; (31)). It is a self-report questionnaire that evaluates dysmorphic concerns (e.g.: "I spend a significant amount of time checking my appearance in the mirror"). Participants are asked to respond on a five-point Likert-type scale ranging from one (= "Never") to five (= "Always"). Higher scores indicate greater dysmorphic concerns. This questionnaire was widely used to assess PCOS patients (70–72) and it was previously used in cross-sectional research in the Italian context to observe dysmorphic concerns (73, 74). In our study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.93.

## Procedures

The protocol was created using an online survey and participants were recruited through social networks by targeted posts on individuals suffering from PCOS in thematic groups from 21 December 2021 to 22 March 2022. Inclusion criteria were: having physician-diagnosed PCOS for at least 1 year, being  $\geq$ 18 years of age and being able to speak Italian. Participants were considered ineligible if the following were present: lack of a PCOS diagnosis from a health professional, the presence of gynecological or endocrinological comorbidities, pregnant at the moment of protocol administration, insufficient fluency in Italian or <18 years of age.

All participants declared that they voluntarily participated in the research and filled out the questionnaire anonymously, with consent implied by submission. The protocol took about 30 minutes to be completed. All questions in the survey were set as mandatory, hence there were no missing answers. The data were then analyzed using IBM SPSS and RStudio. This study was conducted in accordance with the recommendations of the ethical code of the Italian Association of Psychology (AIP) and the ethical standards described in the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki. The materials and procedures used in this study were approved by the Ethical Committee for Scientific Research at the authors' institution (Ethics Committee Num. 36360).

## Data analysis

A hybrid Structural Equation Modeling (SEM), with BMI as an observed variable and dysmorphic concerns, eating disorders, and QoL as latent variables was used to examine a model in which BMI is considered the predictor variable, dysmorphic concerns the first mediator, eating disorders the second mediator, and QoL the outcome.

A parceling approach to obtain the indicators of the latent variables present in the current model was used, which consists of the aggregation of items (randomly selected) from the questionnaires in three indicators of each latent variable (75). Parcels are more likely to meet the assumptions of normality and less likely to be influenced by method effects (75, 76). The lavaan Package for R with the integration of RStudio were used to carry out the analysis of the covariance matrices and solutions were generated on the basis of maximum-likelihood estimation.

## Results

## Demographics and sample characteristics

Fifty nine percentage of the sample was on medication and median duration of PCOS diagnosis was 7.43 (5.69) years. Most of the individuals had medium-high educational qualifications. Specifically, 39% had a high school diploma, 56% had a university degree, and 2% had a post-graduate degree, whilst the remaining 3%, had a middle school certification. Concerning occupational status, 45% were employed, 14% were self-employed, 33% were students, 7% were unemployed, and 1% were housewives. With regard to marital status, 31% of individuals were single, 27% were engaged, 25% were living with a partner, 16% of individuals were married, and 1% were divorced. Furthermore, the participants reported having the following symptoms associated with PCOS: 88% had an irregular cycle, 75% had hirsutism, 58% were overweight or had difficulty maintaining a healthy weight, 55% had acne, 32% had infertility problems, and 21% had alopecia. Finally, concerning BMI, 57% had normal weight, 23% were overweight, 11% had obesity class I, 6% had obesity class II, and 3% had obesity class III (Table 1).

TABLE 1 Demographics and sample characteristics.

Variables	Percentage (N subjects
Educational qualification	
Middle school certification	3% (12)
High school diploma	39% (172)
University degree	56% (242)
Post-graduate degree	2% (9)
Occupational status	
Student	33% (142)
Housewife	1% (7)
Unemployed	7% (30)
Employed	45% (196)
Self-employed	14% (60)
Marital status	
Single	31% (135)
Engaged	27% (117)
Cohabitating	25% (110)
Married	16% (72)
Divorced	1% (1)
Bmi	
Normal weight	57% (246)
Overweight	23% (101)
Obesity class I	11% (49)
Obesity class II	6% (28)
Obesity class III	3% (11)
Pcos symptoms	
Irregular cycle	88% (383)
Hirsutism	75% (327)
Overweight	58% (251)
Acne	55% (238)
Infertility	32% (138)
Alopecia	21% (91)

## Descriptive results and correlations

The values of skewness and kurtosis were examined to explore the distribution of the data (Table 2), suggesting that no problems were observed regarding the violation of the normal distribution. Furthermore, Table 2 shows the correlations among the dimensions of the questionnaires. Furthermore, Table 2 illustrates the correlations among the observed dimensions. BMI positively correlated with dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders, while negatively related with HRQoL. Furthermore, a positive association was found between dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders, while a negative correlation was observed between dysmorphic concerns and HRQoL. Finally, there was a negative correlation between eating disorders and HRQoL.

	α	М	SD	Skew	Kurt	1	2	3
1. Body mass index	_	25.62	5.93	1.12	0.96	_	_	_
2. Dysmorphic concerns	0.93	3.04	0.95	-0.05	-0.89	0.37*	-	-
3. Eating disorders	0.88	19.72	12.89	0.72	-0.24	0.24*	0.65*	-
4. Quality of life	0.91	3.59	1.23	0.23	-0.43	-0.36*	-0.58*	$-0.46^{*}$

#### TABLE 2 Descriptive analysis and correlations.

N = 435; \*p < 0.01.



## Mediation model

The model showed acceptable fit indices:  $\chi^2(30) = 167.93$ ; p < 0.001, CFI =0.95, RMSEA =0.10 (90% CI =0.09 -0.12), SRMR =0.04 (Figure 1).

Significant paths were found from BMI to dysmorphic concerns ( $\beta = 0.34$ ; p < 0.001) and HRQoL ( $\beta = -0.25$ ; p < 0.001). Furthermore, the results showed a significant path from dysmorphic concerns to eating disorders ( $\beta = 0.71$ ; p < 0.001) and HRQoL ( $\beta = -0.46$ ; p < 0.001). Finally, eating disorders was related to HRQoL ( $\beta = -0.20$ ; p < 0.001).

To explore the significance of the indirect effects that emerged (i.e., drop from the total to direct effect) we used the bootstrap-generated bias-corrected confidence interval approach (77, 78). A statistically significant indirect association was found from BMI to eating disorders by dysmorphic concerns ( $\beta = 0.24$ ; p < 0.001) and from BMI to HRQoL by dysmorphic concerns ( $\beta = -0.15$ ; p < 0.001). In addition, there was a significant indirect association from dysmorphic concerns to HRQoL by eating disorders ( $\beta = -0.14$ ; p < 0.001). Finally, a statistically significant indirect relationships was found from BMI to HRQoL by dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders ( $\beta = -0.05$ ; p = 0.002) (Table 3).

## Discussion

The current study tested a mediation model in which the relationship between BMI and QoL in individuals with PCOS is mediated by dysmorphic concerns, examining also the relations with eating disorders. In line with the expectations, the results showed that BMI was related to QoL not only directly but also indirectly through the mediation of dysmorphic concerns. In line with other studies supporting the relationship between body weight and body dissatisfaction (79, 80), the present findings corroborate the concept that excess body weight is one of the main factors contributing to impaired physical and mental functioning (81) and highlight how dissatisfaction with some aspect of one's own appearance contributes to shaping self-reported health status (82, 83). This may be due to the fact that a higher BMI fosters weight stigma and discrimination (84–86), which in turn may encourage

	β	p	SE	Lower bound (BC) 95% CI	Upper bound (BC) 95% CI
Direct effect					
$BMI \rightarrow dysmorphic \ concerns$	0.34	< 0.001	0.07	0.03	0.05
$BMI \rightarrow eating disorders$	0.02	0.67	0.00	-0.01	0.01
$BMI \rightarrow quality of Life$	-0.25	< 0.001	0.01	-0.09	-0.04
Dysmorphic concerns $\rightarrow$ eating disorders	0.71	< 0.001	0.04	0.38	0.52
Dysmorphic concerns $\rightarrow$ quality of life	-0.46	< 0.001	0.14	-1.26	-0.73
Eating Disorders $\rightarrow$ quality of life	-0.20	< 0.001	0.19	-1.07	-0.32
Indirect effect via dysmorphic concerns					
$BMI \rightarrow eating disorders$	0.24	< 0.001	0.01	0.01	0.02
$BMI \rightarrow quality of life$	-0.15	< 0.001	0.01	-0.06	-0.03
Indirect effect via eating disorders					
$BMI \rightarrow quality of life$	-0.01	0.69	0.00	-0.01	< 0.01
Dysmorphic concerns $\rightarrow$ quality of life	-0.14	< 0.001	0.09	-0.48	-0.14
Indirect effect via dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders					
$BMI \rightarrow quality of life$	-0.05	0.002	0.00	-0.02	-0.01

#### TABLE 3 Path estimates, SEs and 95% Cis.

SE, Standards errors; BC 95% CI, Bias Corrected-Confidence Interval; p, level of significance.

social alienation and loneliness and thus decreased psychosocial adjustment. It may also be that weight problems due to PCOS negatively influence thoughts about attractiveness (87) and thus concerns about one's own potential appearance flaws are likely to occur.

Moreover, the present findings showed that individuals with PCOS reported lower QoL when dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders were higher because greater dysmorphic concerns involve fear of others' evaluations and constant approval-seeking, predisposing the person to a sense of incompetence and diminished social functioning (88-92). At the same time, given that eating disorder symptomatology impairs several dimensions of one's own functioning (47, 48), a lowered QoL is likely to occur. These results confirmed a plausible role for both variables in defining different levels of QoL and deepened their effects in the context of a burdensome condition such as PCOS. Furthermore, these findings support the hypothesis that BMI is connected to one's own QoL via the mediation of both dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders. Women with PCOS are more likely to have problems losing weight due to the metabolic features of the disease (93) and to have other comorbidities, including acne and hirsutism, which can cause dysmorphic concerns (39). These may foster maladaptive compensatory strategies used as a means of controlling food intake and body size, such as eating disorders. In the long run, this may alter individuals' functioning and result in impaired social, physical and mental adjustment. Moreover, the results of this study

show that dysmorphic concerns, in addition to an indirect association with QoL by eating disorder symptomatology, have a direct link with this outcome dimension. Apprehensions of perceived defects in appearance may lead to increased dietary restriction and the use of compensatory strategies aimed at controlling body size and shape (73, 79, 94), contributing to an increased likelihood of disordered eating behaviors (79, 94). Consonant with previous findings revealing the direct link between body image dissatisfaction and disordered eating in women with PCOS (37, 57), the present study also found that dysmorphic concerns were related to eating disorder-related symptomatology. PCOS is often associated with a body shape that is culturally described as undesirable due to difficulties in weight management, which may lead individuals to undertake unhealthy dieting behaviors in an attempt to adhere to the idealized slim female figure, believed to be sexually attractive and healthy (63, 95, 96). In the long run, this may favor maladaptive eating habits used as a means for shaping one's own body (97). Overall, the results of the present study are consistent with the insights provided by Dokras et al. (98), who showed that health-related QoL scores are consistently reduced in PCOS, with difficulties in weight management playing a significant role in determining this condition. Interestingly, these results are consonant with recent advances that postulated from a biopsychosocial perspective that upregulated activation of the central HPG axis leading to PCOS may be epigenetically altered by abnormal eating patterns (55). Additionally, problematic body size, which typically denotes abnormal eating patterns, may

hinder normal appetite signaling regulated by leptin and ghrelin, two important hormones controlling hunger and fullness (55). The present research has some limitations. First, it is a crosssectional study, therefore future research could attempt to verify the findings and the direction of the hypothesized associations using a longitudinal design. Furthermore, the exclusive use of self-reports may introduce measurement bias and future studies may want to use a multi-informant approach to reduce this possibility. In addition, the research was conducted by reaching participants through social networks, so there may be problems with generalization in that only individuals with access to the Internet could be reached. It should be noted that the current results showed a higher number of women with problematic body sizes than those reported in a recent study based on the Italian population (99), which reported that the prevalence of obesity is about eight percent and 30 percent for overweight. PCOS often results in difficulties with weight management (7, 8), and this may partially explain the higher number of individuals with PCOS who reported overweight or obesity. Of note, the current study did not account for the different phenotypes of PCOS and focused only on the presence of dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptoms in this clinical population. Future studies should replicate this model for different PCOS phenotypes in order to provide a more nuanced description of the disease. Furthermore, although our study reported the number of participants currently on medication, it did not take into account important factors such as the type of medication used and adherence to the treatment plan. Future studies are needed in which the influence of drug treatment on individual quality of life is also observed. However, our study advances the current state of knowledge by explaining the relationships between BMI and QoL in individuals with PCOS. It would be thought-provoking to implement future studies in which a retrospective approach is used to observe the potential influence of the COVID-19 pandemic scenario (100, 101) because recent findings observed that during isolation due to the COVID-19 outbreak, weight gain was slightly more pronounced in individuals suffering from PCOS and this may be due to impaired sleep quality and eating habits rather than reduced physical activity (102). In a similar vein, future studies may assess how different eating patterns ad caloric restriction protocols like ketogenic diet (103, 104) may interact with individuals' perception of the condition of their own health. Similarly, future studies may benefit from the implementation of other biological variables, such as energy expenditure and fat mass (105), as they may influence adaptations of metabolism and body composition. More importantly, this study contributes to the evidence by investigating the role that dysmorphic concerns and eating disorder symptomatology may have in explaining the individual differences in the association between BMI and QoL in individuals with PCOS. In light of the findings of this study, there may be important clinical and research implications.

This study highlights how people with PCOS and problematic weight have a poorer QoL. Individuals suffering from PCOS would benefit from a multidisciplinary intervention aimed at managing weight and dealing with problematic thoughts concerning appearance and weight. In addition, our results show how both dysmorphic concerns and eating disorders are relevant in the context of PCOS. Individuals with PCOS may benefit from periodic assessments aimed at detecting disordered eating (98). Practitioners should therefore screen individuals with the condition for a problematic relationship with food or excessive concerns about their bodies. Intervention and prevention programmes may also want to include women's partners in order to improve their effectiveness, as the disease may negatively affect women's intimate relationships (67). From a public health perspective, these results emphasize the detrimental effects of dysmorphic concerns and eating pathology on PCOS patients and require the urgent implementation of health promotion interventions. Policy makers and health institutions should thus create health promotion interventions aimed at improving knowledge, communication, and beliefs about the impact of PCOS on quality of life. This is consonant with recent advances arguing that mental health literacy may help promote individuals' psychosocial functioning (106). In addition, these programmes should not only involve PCOS patients, but also socialization agents such as family, peers, and the media through the transmission of messages aimed at raising awareness about appearance-related pressures that may come from social sources to prevent the onset of unhealthy body image (28). Finally, this study provided a holistic approach to the understanding of complex conditions such as PCOS.

## Data availability statement

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author.

## Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Center for Research and Psychological Intervention of the University of Messina. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

NB assisted with manuscript preparation, study design, data analysis and interpretation and data were gathered on-line under her supervision. DC assisted with manuscript preparation and data interpretation. MC assisted with manuscript preparation and data interpretation and served as corresponding author. VV assisted with concept and study supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## References

1. Głowińska A, Zielona-Jenek M, Pawelczyk A. Determinants of emotional problems and mood disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Ginekol Pol.* (2016) 87:405–10. doi: 10.5603/GP.2016.0016

2. Bani Mohammad M, Majdi Seghinsara A. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS), diagnostic criteria, and AMH. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* (2017) 18:17–21. doi: 10.22034/APJCP.2017.18.1.17

3. Wekker V, Van Dammen L, Koning A, Heida KY, Painter RC, Limpens J, et al. Long-term cardiometabolic disease risk in women with PCOS: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2020) 26:942–60. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmaa029

4. Bayona A, Martínez-Vaello V, Zamora J, Nattero-Chávez L, Luque-Ramírez M, Escobar-Morreale HF, et al. *Prevalence of PCOS and related hyperandrogenic traits in premenopausal women with type 1* diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2022). doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmac011

5. Hart R, Doherty DA. The potential implications of a PCOS diagnosis on a woman's long-term health using data linkage. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2015) 100:911-9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-3886

6. Zangeneh FZ, Jafarabadi M, Naghizadeh MM, Abedinia N. Psychological distress in women with polycystic ovary syndrome from Imam Khomeini Hospital, Tehran. *J Reprod Infertil.* (2012) 13:111–5.

7. Barber TM, McCarthy MI, Wass JA, Franks S. Obesity and polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2006) 65:137–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2006.02587.x

8. Huang X, Wang Q, Liu T, Pei T, Liu D, Zhu H, et al. Body fat indices as effective predictors of insulin resistance in obese/non-obese polycystic ovary syndrome women in the Southwest of China. *Endocrine*. (2019) 65:81–5. doi: 10.1007/s12020-019-01912-1

9. Álvarez-Blasco F, Botella-Carretero JI, San Millán JL, Escobar-Morreale HF. Prevalence and characteristics of the polycystic ovary syndrome in overweight and obese women. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:2081. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.19.2081

10. Escobar-Morreale HF, Botella-Carretero JI, Alvarez-Blasco F, Sancho J, San Millán JL. The Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Associated with Morbid Obesity May Resolve after Weight Loss Induced by Bariatric Surgery. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2005) 90:6364–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2005-1490

11. Claes L, Hart TA, Smits D, Van den Eynde F, Mueller A, Mitchell JE, et al. Validation of the social appearance anxiety scale in female eating disorder patients. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2011) 20:406–9. doi: 10.1002/erv.1147

12. Kaminsky LA, Dewey D. The association between body mass index and physical activity, and body image, self esteem and social support in adolescents with type 1 diabetes. *Can J Diabetes*. (2014) 38:244–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.04.005

 Radwan H, Hasan HA, Ismat H, Hakim H, Khalid H, Al-Fityani L, et al. Body mass index perception, body image dissatisfaction and their relations with weightrelated behaviors among University students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2019) 16:1541. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16091541

14. Dalley SE, Buunk AP, Umit T. Female body dissatisfaction after exposure to overweight and thin media images: the role of body mass index and neuroticism. *Pers Individ Differ*. (2009) 47:47–51. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2009.01.044

15. Kantanista A, Król-Zielińska M, Borowiec J. Is underweight associated with more positive body image? Results of a cross-sectional study in adolescent girls and boys. *Span J Psychol.* (2017) 20:E8. doi: 10.1017/sjp.2017.4

16. Lynch E, Liu K, Wei GS, Spring B, Kiefe C, Greenland P, et al. The relation between body size perception and change in body mass index over 13 years:

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

The coronary artery risk development in young adults (CARDIA) study. Am J Epidemiol. (2009) 169:857-66. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwn412

17. Warren CS, Gleaves DH. Cepeda-Benito A, Fernandez MD, Rodriguez-Ruiz S. Ethnicity as a protective factor against internalization of a thin ideal and body dissatisfaction. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2005) 37:241–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.20102

18. Shloim N, Hetherington MM, Rudolf M, Feltbower RG. Relationship between body mass index and women's body image, self-esteem and eating behaviours in pregnancy: a cross-cultural study. *J Health Psychol.* (2013) 20:413–26. doi: 10.1177/1359105313502568

19. Paxton SJ, Eisenberg ME, Neumark-Sztainer D. Prospective predictors of body dissatisfaction in adolescent girls and boys: a five-year longitudinal study. *Dev Psychol.* (2006) 42:888–99. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.42.5.888

20. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L. Recommendations from the international evidence-based guideline for the assessment and management of polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2018) 110:364–79. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.05.004

21. Kataoka J, Tassone E, Misso M, Joham A, Stener-Victorin E, Teede H, et al. Weight management interventions in women with and without PCOS: a systematic review. *Nutrients.* (2017) 9:996. doi: 10.3390/nu9090996

22. Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L. The influence of body weight on sexual function and quality of life in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Arch Gynecol Obstet.* (2015) 291:451–5. doi: 10.1007/s00404-014-3423-1

23. Lim SS, Norman RJ, Davies MJ. The effect of obesity on polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Obes.* (2013) 14:95–109. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2012.01053.x

24. Ahadzadeh AS, Rafik-Galea S, Alavi M, Amini M. Relationship between body mass index, body image, and fear of negative evaluation: Moderating role of self-esteem. *Health Psychol Open*. (2018) 5:205510291877425. doi: 10.1177/2055102918774251

25. Porras-Garcia B, Ferrer-Garcia M, Yilmaz L, Sen YO, Olszewska A, Ghita A, et al. Body-related attentional bias as mediator of the relationship between body mass index and body dissatisfaction. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2020) 28:454–64. doi: 10.1002/erv.2730

26. Streeter VM, Milhausen RR, Buchholz AC. Body image, body mass index, and body composition: In young adults. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* (2012) 73:78–83. doi: 10.3148/73.2.2012.78

27. Littleton HL, Axsom D. Development of the body image concern inventory. *Behav Res Ther.* (2005) 43:229-41. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2003. 12.006

28. McLean SA. Body image in the context of eating disorders. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2019) 42:145–56. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2018.10.006

29. Gall K, Van Zutven K, Lindstrom J, Bentley C, Gratwick-Sarll K, Harrison C, et al. Obesity and emotional well-being in adolescents: roles of body dissatisfaction, loss of control eating, and self-rated health. *Obesity.* (2016) 24:837–42. doi: 10.1002/oby.21428

30. Goldschmidt AB, Aspen VP, Sinton MM, Tanofsky-Kraff M. Disordered eating attitudes and behaviors in overweight youth. *Obesity.* (2008) 16:257–64. doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.48

31. Luca M, Giannini M, Gori A, Littleton H. Measuring dysmorphic concern in Italy: psychometric properties of the Italian Body Image Concern Inventory (I-BICI). *Body Image*. (2011) 8:301-5. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2011. 04.007

32. Onden-Lim M. Intrusive imagery experiences in a high dysmorphic concern population. *J Psychopathol Behav Assess.* (2013) 35:99–105. doi: 10.1007/s10862-012-9318-1

33. Senín-Calderón C, Valdés-Díaz M, Benítez-Hernández MM, Núñez-Gaitán MC, Perona-Garcelán S, Martínez-Cervantes R, et al. Validation of Spanish language evaluation instruments for body dysmorphic disorder and the dysmorphic concern construct. *Front Psychol.* (2017). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01107. [Epub ahead of print].

34. Coelho GM, Gomes AI, Ribeiro BG, Soares E. Prevention of eating disorders in female athletes. *Open Access J Sports Med.* (2014) 5:105–13. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S36528

35. Monks H, Costello L, Dare J, Reid Boyd E. "We're continually comparing ourselves to something": navigating body image, media, and social media ideals at the nexus of appearance, health, and wellness. *Sex Roles.* (2021) 84:221–37. doi: 10.1007/s11199-020-01162-w

36. Senín-Calderón C, Gálvez-González J, Perona-Garcelán S, Camacho C, Rodríguez-Testal JF. Dysmorphic concern and behavioural impairment related to body image in adolescents. *Int J Psychol.* (2020) 55:832–41. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12646

37. Alur-Gupta S, Chemerinski A, Liu C, Lipson J, Allison K, Sammel MD, et al. Body-image distress is increased in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome and mediates depression and anxiety. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 112:930–8.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.06.018

38. Annagür BB, Tazegül A, Akbaba N. Body image, self-esteem and depressive symptomatology in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Noro psikiyatri arsivi.* (2014) 51:129–32. doi: 10.4274/npa.y6778

39. Bazarganipour F, Ziaei S, Montazeri A, Foroozanfard F, Kazemnejad A. Body image satisfaction and self-esteem status among the patients with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Iran J Reprod Med.* (2013) 11:829–36. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-11-141

40. Weinberger NA, Kersting A, Riedel-Heller SG. The relationship between weight status and depressive symptoms in a population sample with obesity: the mediating role of appearance evaluation. *Obes Facts.* (2018) 11:514–23. doi: 10.1159/000492000

41. Bazarganipour F, Taghavi SA, Montazeri A, Ahmadi F, Chaman R. The impact of polycystic ovary syndrome on the health-related quality of life: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Iran J Reprod Med.* (2015) 13:61–70.

42. Jeanes Y, Reeves S, Gibson E, Piggott C, May V, Hart K, et al. Binge eating behaviours and food cravings in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Appetite*. (2017) 109:24–32. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.11.010

43. Lee I, Dokras A. Mental health and body image in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Curr Opin Endocr Metab Res.* (2020) 12:85–90. doi: 10.1016/j.coemr.2020.04.004

44. Dingemans AE, van Rood YR, de Groot I, van Furth EF. Body dysmorphic disorder in patients with an eating disorder: prevalence and characteristics. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2012) 45:562–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.20972

45. Stice E, Shaw HE. Role of body dissatisfaction in the onset and maintenance of eating pathology: a synthesis of research findings. *J Psychosom Res.* (2002) 53:985–93. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00488-9

46. Anderson DK, Lord C, Risi S, DiLavore PS, Shulman C, Thurm A, American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th edition. (2013). p. 175. doi: 10.1176/appi.books.97808904 25596

47. Cardi V, Tchanturia K, Treasure J. Premorbid and illness-related social difficulties in eating disorders: an overview of the literature and treatment developments. *Curr Neuropharmacol.* (2018) 16:1122–30. doi: 10.2174/1570159X16666180118100028

48. Patel K, Tchanturia K, Harrison A. An exploration of social functioning in young people with eating disorders: a qualitative study. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0159910. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0159910

49. Van Hoeken D, Hoek HW. Review of the burden of eating disorders: mortality, disability, costs, quality of life, and family burden. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2020) 33:521–7. doi: 10.1097/YCO.00000000000641

50. Başar Gökcen B, Akdevelioglu Y, Canan S, Bozkurt N. Increased risk of eating disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome: a case-control study. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2020) 36:764–7. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2020.17 44554

51. Larsson I, Hulthén L, Landén M, Pålsson E, Janson P, Stener-Victorin E, et al. Dietary intake, resting energy expenditure, and eating behavior in women with and without polycystic ovary syndrome. *Clin Nutr.* (2016) 35:213–8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2015.02.006

52. Lee I, Cooney LG, Saini S, Smith ME, Sammel MD, Allison KC, et al. Increased risk of disordered eating in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 107:796–802. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.12.014 53. Bernadett M, Szemán NA. Evészavarok prevalenciája policisztás ováriumszindrómás nok körében [Prevalence of eating disorders among women with polycystic ovary syndrome]. *Psychiatr Hung.* (2016) 31:136–45.

54. Paganini C, Peterson G, Stavropoulos V, Krug I. The overlap between binge eating behaviors and polycystic ovarian syndrome: an etiological integrative model. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2018) 24:999–1006. doi: 10.2174/1381612824666171204151209

55. Steegers-Theunissen RP, Wiegel RE, Jansen PW, Laven JS, Sinclair KD. Polycystic ovary syndrome: a brain disorder characterized by eating problems originating during puberty and adolescence. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:8211. doi: 10.3390/ijms21218211

56. Azizi Kutenaee M, Amirjani S, Asemi Z, Taghavi S, Allan H, Kamalnadian S, et al. The impact of depression, self-esteem, and body image on sleep quality in patients with PCOS: a cross-sectional study. *Sleep Breath.* (2019) 24:1027–34. doi: 10.1007/s11325-019-01946-9

57. Kogure GS, Ribeiro VB, Lopes IP, Furtado CL, Kodato S, de Sá MF, et al. Body image and its relationships with sexual functioning, anxiety, and depression in individuals with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Affect Disord.* (2019) 253:385–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.05.006

58. Scaruffi E, Franzoi IG, Civilotti C, Guglielmucci F, La Marca L, Tomelini M, et al. Body image, personality profiles and alexithymia in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS). *J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol.* (2018) 40:294–303. doi: 10.1080/0167482X.2018.1530210

59. de Bruin AK, Oudejans RR. Athletes' body talk: the role of contextual body image in eating disorders as seen through the eyes of elite women athletes. *J Clin Sport Psychol.* (2018) 12:675–98. doi: 10.1123/jcsp.2018-0047

60. Wang FF, Wu Y, Zhu YH, Ding T, Batterham RL, Qu F, et al. Pharmacologic therapy to induce weight loss in women who have obesity/overweight with polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Obes Rev.* (2018) 19:1424–45. doi: 10.1111/obr.12720

61. Van Zutven K, Mond J, Latner J. Obesity and psychosocial impairment: mediating roles of health status, weight/shape concerns and binge eating in a community sample of women and men. *Int J Obes.* (2014) 39:346–52. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2014.100

62. Pastore LM, Patrie JT, Morris WL, Dalal P, Bray MJ. Depression symptoms and body dissatisfaction association among polycystic ovary syndrome women. J Psychosom Res. (2011) 71:270–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.02.005

63. Stapinska-Syniec A, Grabowska K, Szpotanska-Sikorska M, Pietrzak B. Depression, sexual satisfaction, and other psychological issues in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2018) 34:597–600. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2018.1427713

64. Jones CL, Fowle JL, Ilyumzhinova R, Berona J, Mbayiwa K, Goldschmidt AB, et al. The relationship between body mass index, body dissatisfaction, and eating pathology in sexual minority women. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2019) 52:730–4. doi: 10.1002/eat.23072

65. Riestenberg C, Jagasia A, Markovic D, Buyalos RP, Azziz R. Health carerelated economic burden of polycystic ovary syndrome in the United States: pregnancy-related and long-term health consequences. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 107:575–85. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab613

66. Sulaiman M, Al-Farsi Y, Al-Khaduri M, Waly M, Saleh J, Al-Adawi S, et al. Psychological burden among women with polycystic ovarian syndrome in Oman: a caseandndash;control study. *Int J Womens Health.* (2017) 9:897–904. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S145383

67. Thannickal A, Brutocao C, Alsawas M, Morrow A, Zaiem F, Murad MH, et al. Eating, sleeping and sexual function disorders in women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2020) 92:338–49. doi: 10.1111/cen.14153

68. Jones GL, Benes K, Clark TL, Denham R, Holder MG, Haynes TJ, et al. The Polycystic Ovary Syndrome Health-Related Quality of Life Questionnaire (PCOSQ): a validation. *Hum reprod.* (2004) 19:371-7. doi:10.1093/humrep/deh048

69. Garner DM, Olmsted MP, Bohr Y, Garfinkel PE. The eating attitudes test: psychometric features and clinical correlates. *Psychol Med.* (1982) 12:871–8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700049163

70. Bazarganipour F, Ziaei S, Montazeri A, Foroozanfard F, Kazemnejad A. Health-related quality of life in patients with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS): a model-based study of predictive factors. *J Sex Med.* (2014) 11:1023–32. doi: 10.1111/jsm.12405

71. Joshi RD, Sawant N. How common are depressive-anxiety states, body image concerns and low self-esteem in patients of PCOS? *J Obstet Gynaecol India*. (2021) 72:72–7. doi: 10.1007/s13224-021-01505-x

72. Moradi F, Ghadiri-Anari A, Dehghani A, Reza Vaziri S. The effectiveness of counseling based on acceptance and commitment therapy on body image and

self-esteem in polycystic ovary syndrome: an RCT. Int J Reprod Biomed. (2020) 18:243–52. doi: 10.18502/ijrm.v13i4.6887

73. Gori A, Topino E, Pucci C, Griffiths MD. The relationship between Alexithymia, dysmorphic concern, and exercise addiction: the moderating effect of self-esteem. *J Pers Med.* (2021) 11:1111. doi: 10.3390/jpm1111111

74. Piacentino D, Kotzalidis GD, Longo L, Pavan A, Stivali L, Stivali G, et al. Body image and eating disorders are common among professional and amateur athletes using performance and image enhancing drugs: a cross-sectional study. J Psychoactive Drugs. (2017) 49:373–84. doi: 10.1080/02791072.2017.1359708

75. Little TD, Cunningham WA, Shahar G, Widaman KF. To parcel or not to parcel: exploring the question, weighing the merits. *Struct Equ Model.* (2002) 9:151–73. doi: 10.1207/S15328007SEM0902\_1

76. Marsh HW, Hau KT, Balla JR, Grayson D. Is more ever too much? The number of indicators per factor in confirmatory factor analysis. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (1998) 33:181–220. doi: 10.1207/s15327906mbr3302\_1

77. Preacher KJ, Hayes AF, SPSS. and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput.* (2004) 36:717–31. doi: 10.3758/BF03206553

78. Shrout PE, Bolger N. Mediation in experimental and nonexperimental studies: new procedures and recommendations. *Psychol Methods*. (2002) 7:422–45. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.7.4.422

79. Tang C, Cooper M, Wang S, Song J, He J. The relationship between body weight and dietary restraint is explained by body dissatisfaction and body image inflexibility among young adults in China. *Eat Weight.* (2020) 26:1863–70. doi: 10.1007/s40519-020-01032-0

80. Wendell JW, Masuda A, Le JK. The role of body image flexibility in the relationship between disordered eating cognitions and disordered eating symptoms among non-clinical college students. *Eat Behav.* (2012) 13:240–5. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2012.03.006

81. Ul-Haq Z, Mackay DF, Fenwick E, Pell JP. Meta-analysis of the association between body mass index and health-related quality of life among adults, assessed by the SF-36. *Obesity*. (2013) 21:E322–7. doi: 10.1002/oby.20107

82. Purton T, Mond J, Cicero D, Wagner A, Stefano E, Rand-Giovannetti D, et al. Body dissatisfaction, internalized weight bias and quality of life in young men and women. *Qual Life Res.* (2019) 28:1825–33. doi: 10.1007/s11136-019-02140-w

83. Tod D, Edwards C. Relationships among muscle dysmorphia characteristics, body image quality of life, and coping in males. *J Sci Med Sport.* (2015) 18:585–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2014.07.015

84. Barberis N, Costa S, Gitto L, Larcan R, Buemi M. Role of emotional intelligence as a mediating factor between uncertainty and anxiety hospital in chronic renal patients. *Illn Crises Loss.* (2016) 27:71–86. doi: 10.1177/1054137316667595

85. Emmer C, Bosnjak M, Mata J. The association between weight stigma and mental health: a meta-analysis. *Obes Rev.* (2019) 21. doi: 10.1111/obr.12935

86. Hunger JM, Dodd DR, Smith AR. Weight discrimination, anticipated weight stigma, and disordered eating. *Eat Behav.* (2020) 37:101383. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2020.101383

87. Louwers YV. Characteristics of polycystic ovary syndrome throughout life. *Ther Adv Reprod Health.* (2020) 14:2633494120911038. doi: 10.1177/2633494120911038

88. Barberis N, Costa S, Cuzzocrea F, Quattropani MC. Trait EI in the relationship between needs fulfillment and symptoms and attitudes associated with EDs. *Ment Health Prev.* (2018) 10:50–5. doi: 10.1016/j.mhp.2018.01.003

89. Barberis N, Quattropani MC. Relationship between motivation, adherence to diet, anxiety symptoms, depression symptoms and quality of life in individuals with celiac disease. *J Psychosom Res.* (2019) 124:109787. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109787

90. Barberis N, Gugliandolo MC, Costa S, Cannavò M. Healthy and binge eating behaviours: The motivational processes underlying peer pressure. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 27:1144–53. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2021.1903054

91. Collison J, Barnier E. Eating disorders, body dysmorphic disorder, and body image pathology in female Australian models. *Clin Psychol.* (2020) 24:155–65. doi: 10.1111/cp.12208

92. Ritzert TR, Brodt M, Kelly MM, Menard W, Phillips KA. Social avoidance as a predictor of psychosocial functioning in body dysmorphic disorder: a prospective longitudinal analysis. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2019) 44:557–66. doi: 10.1007/s10608-019-10069-0

93. Ozgen Saydam B, Yildiz BO. Weight management strategies for patients with PCOS: current perspectives. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 16:49–62. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2021.1896966

94. Gori A, Topino E, Griffiths MD. Protective and risk factors in exercise addiction: a series of moderated mediation analyses. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:9706. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18189706

95. Costa S, Barberis N, Larcan R. The incremental role of trait emotional intelligence on perceived cervical screening barriers. *Psychol Health Med.* (2018) 23:880–90. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2018.1437278

96. Nasiri Amiri F, Ramezani Tehrani F, Simbar M, Montazeri A. The experience of women affected by polycystic ovary syndrome: a qualitative study from iran. *Int J Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 12:e13612. doi: 10.5812/ijem. 13612

97. Pedersen L, Hicks RE, Rosenrauch S. Sociocultural pressure as a mediator of eating disorder symptoms in a non-clinical Australian sample. *Cogent Psychol.* (2018) 5:1523347. doi: 10.1080/23311908.2018.15 23347

98. Dokras A, Stener-Victorin E, Yildiz BO Li R, Ottey S, Shah D, et al. Androgen excess- Polycystic ovary syndrome society: position statement on depression, anxiety, quality of life, and eating disorders in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril.* (2018) 109:888–99. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2018.01.038

99. Gallus S, Lugo A, Murisic B, Bosetti C, Boffetta P. Overweight and obesity in 16 European countries. *Eur J Nutr.* (2014) 54:679–89. doi: 10.1007/s00394-014-0746-4

100. Barberis N, Cannavò M, Cuzzocrea F, Verrastro V. Suicidal behaviours during COVID-19 pandemic: A review. *Clin Neuropsychiatry.* (2022) 19:84–96. doi: 10.36131/cnfioritieditore20220202

101. Devoe DJ, Han A, Anderson A, Katzman DK, Patten SB, Soumbasis A, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on eating disorders: A systematic review. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2022). doi: 10.1002/eat.23704. [Epub ahead of print].

102. Eyupoglu ND, Aksun S, Ozturk M. Impact of social isolation during COVID-19 pandemic on health behaviors and weight management in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2022). doi: 10.1007/s40519-022-01369-8. [Epub ahead of print].

103. Monda V, Polito R, Lovino A, Finaldi A, Valenzano A, Nigro E, et al. Short-term physiological effects of a very low-calorie ketogenic diet: effects on adiponectin levels and inflammatory states. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:3228. doi: 10.3390/ijms21093228

104. Paoli A, Mancin L, Giacona MC, Bianco A, Caprio M. Effects of a ketogenic diet in overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *J Transl Med.* (2020) 18. doi: 10.1186/s12967-020-02277-0

105. Monda M, Messina G, Mangoni CB. Resting energy expenditure and fatfree mass do not decline during aging in severely obese women. *Clin Nutr.* (2008) 27:657–9. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2008.04.005

106. Bullivant B, Rhydderch S, Griffiths S, Mitchison D, Mond JM. Eating disorders "mental health literacy": a scoping review. *J Ment Health*. (2020) 1–14. doi: 10.1080/09638237.2020.1713996

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

REVIEWED BY Shan Yu, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Harbin Medical University, China Paolo Cotrufo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Shicun Xu ⊠ xushicun@jlu.edu.cn Yuanyuan Wang ⊠ angelayuanyuanwang@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 14 September 2022 ACCEPTED 02 December 2022 PUBLISHED 22 December 2022

#### CITATION

Jin Y, Xu S, Chen C, Wilson A, Gao D, Ji Y, Sun X and Wang Y (2022) Symptom association between social anxiety disorder, appearance anxiety, and eating disorders among Chinese University students: A network analysis to conceptualize comorbidity. *Front. Public Health* 10:1044081. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1044081

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Jin, Xu, Chen, Wilson, Gao, Ji, Sun and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Symptom association between social anxiety disorder, appearance anxiety, and eating disorders among Chinese University students: A network analysis to conceptualize comorbidity

## Yu Jin<sup>1†</sup>, Shicun Xu<sup>2,3,4\*†</sup>, Chang Chen<sup>5,6</sup>, Amanda Wilson<sup>7</sup>, Desheng Gao<sup>8</sup>, Yan Ji<sup>8</sup>, Xi Sun<sup>3</sup> and Yuanyuan Wang<sup>5,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>College of Education for the Future, Beijing Normal University, Zhuhai, China, <sup>2</sup>Northeast Asian Research Center, Jilin University, Changchun, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Population, Resources and Environment, Northeast Asian Studies College, Jilin University, Changchun, China, <sup>4</sup>China Center for Aging Studies and Social-Economic Development, Jilin University, Changchun, China, <sup>5</sup>Key Laboratory of Brain, Cognition and Education Sciences, Ministry of Education, South China Normal University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>6</sup>Guangdong Key Laboratory of Mental Health and Cognitive Science, School of Psychology, Center for Studies of Psychological Application, South China Normal University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>7</sup>Division of Psychology, Faculty of Health and Life Sciences, De Montfort University, Leicester, United Kingdom, <sup>8</sup>School of Marxism, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin, China

**Background:** Incidences of social anxiety disorder (SAD), appearance anxiety, and eating disorders (ED) show an increased prevalence among young people. However, symptoms' associations between these disorders have not been investigated in depth. Network analysis is an approach that can be used to explain the relationship(s) between symptoms of different psychological disorders. Using network analysis, this study aimed to explore the association and potential interacting mechanisms between SAD, appearance anxiety, and ED.

**Methods:** This study included 96,218 University students from Jilin Province, China. SAD, appearance anxiety and ED were assessed using the Social Anxiety Subscale of the Self-Consciousness Scale (SASS), the Appearance Anxiety Scale Brief Version (AASBV), and the Sick, Control, One, Fat, Food questionnaire (SCOFF), Chinese versions. Network analysis was employed to investigate the symptom associations, while the stability of the network model was analyzed using statistical measures.

**Results:** The prevalence of ED among the total sample was 38% (95% CI: 38.1–38.8%), while this figure was 31.2% (95% CI: 30.7–31.6%) in males and 43.6% (95% CI: 43.2–44.0%) in females. Additionally, the total score of SAD was significantly higher in females (11.83  $\pm$  5.37) than it in males (10.02  $\pm$  5.46) (P < 0.001). While the total score of appearance anxiety was also different significantly in gender (39.21  $\pm$  9.49 in females vs. 38  $\pm$  9.42 in males) (P < 0.001). Results showed that ED was associated with

all three aspects of appearance anxiety, including "appearance concern," "appearance satisfaction," and "wish for good looks." Appearance anxiety and SAD were also associated; specifically, symptoms of "appearance satisfaction" were significantly associated with the symptoms "easily talk to strangers" and "appearance concern", which was also significantly associated with "embarrassed". Compared with males, females showed significantly stronger associations with appearance anxiety symptoms, while ED symptoms were associated with "troubled by being watched" and "appearance concern".

**Conclusion:** Appearance anxiety was associated with both ED and SAD symptoms. ED may have a potential relationship with SAD, affecting appearance anxiety indirectly. Significant differences were found among males and females in symptom associations between appearance anxiety and SAD. This study therefore clarified that young people should have body-positive interventions and challenge the normative body image discourse, which may help alleviate symptoms of SAD and ED.

#### KEYWORDS

social anxiety disorder, appearance anxiety, eating disorder, network analysis, young adults

## 1. Introduction

Social anxiety disorder (SAD), also known as social phobia, is a persistent fear of being exposed to strangers in one or more social or professional situations, where people might feel they are being observed by others, and is marked by a fear of engaging in embarrassing situations or behaviors (1, 2). SAD is common in young people and can severely impair their social functioning (3). The onset of SAD is around 15.5 years old, with the prevalence being between 4.0-8.7% among 14 and 24 years old (4, 5). Young people with SAD often experience excessive or unreasonable anxiety when exposed to social or performance-based stimuli (6). Studies have shown that SAD is often accompanied by extreme attention to appearance and frequently repeated observations of appearance (7). People with SAD have deficits of self-cognition and tend to criticize their own social abilities and physical appearance, resulting in problems such as appearance anxiety (8).

Individuals with SAD are prone to negative self-evaluation when it comes to their appearance; this deficit in perception of appearance can also exacerbate poor body image development (9–11). Appearance anxiety refers to individuals who pay excessive attention to their appearance due to perceived social standards and perceptions of other people's evaluations, which consequently generate insecurity, doubt, and anxiety about their appearance (12). Several studies have suggested that appearance anxiety can positively predict SAD among normal samples, and even among eating disorder samples (8, 13, 14). In turn, SAD symptoms also predict appearance anxiety and other body image disorders (13, 15). Furthermore,

appearance anxiety is highly correlated with eating disorders such as anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa (16), and appearance-related comments can increase appearance anxiety and directly or indirectly affect eating disorders (17-19). Eating disorders (ED) are a group of psychiatric disorders characterized by abnormal eating behaviors and emotional disturbances, accompanied by significant weight changes and symptoms of physiological dysfunction syndrome (20). Previous studies have proposed there is an association between appearance anxiety and ED. For example, Li found that appearance anxiety positively predicted ED in 2,509 high school students (21). Levinson and Rodebaugh demonstrated that appearance anxiety symptoms predicted ED symptoms up to 6 months later and vice versa (22). In addition, ED may be closely related to anxiety disorders and thus may lead to negative emotions and interpersonal difficulties among individuals (23). Fredrickson and Roberts (24) noted that individuals might pander to or resist social appearance comments, subsequently increasing their maladaptive ED behaviors. This suggests that those affected by the ideal body shape promoted within a society may display negative emotions related to social appearance anxiety, and then develop maladaptive reactions and restrictions, including EDs (25, 26).

Although appearance anxiety is a common risk factor for SAD and ED, the overall mechanism of action of the three remains to be explored. For instance, difficulty in public eating is a bridge symptom between ED and SAD, with appearance anxiety playing a transitional role (27). Thus, there is a potential association between SAD and ED symptoms as expressed through appearance anxiety. Research also indicates a high comorbidity between SAD and ED (8). According to the results from the literature reviewed, the comorbidity rate of SAD and ED is 68% (28). Moreover, appearance anxiety may increase the risk of ED and SAD (14, 29). Research further points to the increased risk of appearance anxiety in ED patients (16), and that appearance-related comments can increase appearance anxiety, directly or indirectly affecting ED (17–19). However, the potential symptoms' associations between ED, SAD and appearance anxiety still require additional exploration.

Network analysis is an approach that can explain the symptoms individuals experience as part of their diagnosis. The method can explore the complexity of psychological symptoms and focus on the adjustment of dynamic feedback between different symptom items on a scale (30-32). In the network model, symptoms of the disorders are defined as nodes, while associations between symptoms are defined as edges (33). When there are significantly strong associations between symptoms in two disorders, these specific symptoms would be described as bridge symptoms. These bridge symptoms result in a transformation from one disorder to another, playing an essential role in maintaining the network model, which occurs simultaneously. Therefore, as a visualized method, network analysis can identify strong links between symptoms of different psychological disorders and provide evidence for pathogenesis research (34, 35). For example, among young people with childhood sexual abuse experience, associations between psychosis and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) symptoms include hypervigilance, intrusive thoughts, and physiological and emotional reactivity (36). Other studies also found connections between depression and anxiety (37), anxiety and insomnia (38), and other mental health disorder symptoms (39, 40). The discovery of bridge (joining) symptoms can improve the efficiency of monitoring young people and help provide targeted interventions among young people with psychological disorders (40, 41).

Thus, network analysis is applied to investigate the following complexities: first, to explore the symptom association between appearance anxiety, SAD, and ED as three separate groups. Second, to explore the potential relationship between ED and SAD, and the role of appearance anxiety as the mechanism of action. More comprehensive guidance and targeted interventions need to provide for patients with appearance anxiety, SAD, and ED to improve their quality of life.

## 2. Methods

## 2.1. Study design

From October to November 2021, an online questionnaire was distributed to students in 63 Universities in Jilin province, China. Cross-sectional questionnaires were collected from 117,248 students. All participants signed an online informed consent form before answering the online questionnaire. The Ethics Committee of Jilin University approved this study.

## 2.2. Measurements

#### 2.2.1. Appearance anxiety

Appearance anxiety was measured by the Appearance Anxiety Scale Brief Version (AASBV). The Appearance Anxiety Scale has 14 items in the abbreviated version (12). Items are scored on a Likert scale of 1 (not at all) to 5 (very good)—the total score of this subscale ranges from 14 to 70 points. The three factors of the scale include: "appearance concern," "appearance satisfaction," and "wish for good looks" (42, 43). The Chinese version of the Appearance Anxiety Scale Brief Version (AASBV) has reliable internal consistency, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.83 in females and 0.78 in males (44).

#### 2.2.2. Social anxiety disorder

The Social Anxiety Subscale of the Self-Consciousness Scale (SASS) has six items and uses a 5-point Likert scale. The total score ranges from 0 to 24 points (45). The higher the total score, the more severe the level of social anxiety. This scale measures subjective anxiety, verbal, and behavioral difficulties. The Chinese version has good reliability and validity, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.72 (46).

#### 2.2.3. Eating disorder

The Sick, Control, One, Fat, Food (SCOFF) questionnaire contains five characteristics of eating disorders: Sick, Control, One, Fat, and Food (47). A score of 0 means no, and 1 means yes. The total score of this subscale ranges from 0 to 5 points. The scale had a sensitivity of 73.1% and a specificity of 77.7% for ED (47). Scale scores with more than two points were considered as displaying ED tendencies.

#### 2.3. Statistical analysis

#### 2.3.1. Network estimation

Partial correlation networks were used to assess the association between appearance anxiety, SAD, and ED among participants. The Graphical Gaussian Model (GGM) was applied to build the network model. Then the graphic least absolute shrinkage and selection operator (LASSO) algorithm was used to perform a sparse network model by deleting unimportant associations. This approach was performed using the R package "qgraph" (48, 49). For each node, excepted influence (EI) represents the summed weight of all its edges,

positive and negative, with its immediate neighbor nodes in the network (53). Predictability indicates how much variation in a node can be predicted by variation in the nodes connected to it. If a node has a high degree of centrality and predictability, this lends credence to the interpretation of its network importance.

#### 2.3.2. Network accuracy and stability

To examine the robustness of results, three procedures were performed. First, the accuracy of edge-weights was determined using the non-parametric bootstrapping approach to compute confidence intervals (CIs) (51). The main dataset was then randomly re-sampled to generate additional data points from which the 95% CIs were determined. Second, using subset bootstraps, the correlation stability coefficient (CS-C) was determined to examine the stability of the EI centrality (48, 52). Finally, bootstrapped difference tests were used to assess differences in the attributes of the network (53).

#### 2.3.3. Network comparison

The Network Comparison Test (NCT) was performed to examine statistical differences among the networks between the males and females. This methodology assesses differences in network structure, global strength and each edge between the two networks using Holm-Bonferroni correction (50). The significant edge differences for each pair of the groups were plotted after statistical testing. These tests were analyzed using the R-package "NetworkComparisonTest" (54).

## 3. Results

#### 3.1. Study sample

A total of 96,218 young people met the inclusion criteria and answered all the required questions included in the analysis to be included in the data set; more than half of them were young females (58.4%) and lived in urban cities (50.9%). The prevalence of ED among the total sample was 38% (95% CI: 38.1–38.8%), this figure was 31.2% (95% CI: 30.7–31.6%) in males and 43.6% (95% CI: 43.2–44.0%) in females. Additionally, the total score of SAD was significantly higher in females (11.83  $\pm$  5.37) than in males (10.02  $\pm$  5.46) (P < 0.001). While the total score of appearance anxiety was also different significantly in sex (39.21  $\pm$  9.49 in females vs. 38  $\pm$  9.42 in males) (P < 0.001). Significant differences in sociodemographic variables between males and females are shown in Table 1. The items of the three scales are displayed in Supplementary Table S1.

# 3.2. Network estimation between symptoms of ED, appearance anxiety, and social anxiety

The network models among the total sample, as well as the network models for both male and female participants, are presented in Figures 1, 2. As shown in Figures 2, 3, network structures in males and females were similar to the structure of the total population. In the total sample, as seen in Figure 1, several items in the same scale were connected strongly, such as "fear of the crowds" connected to "fear of talking to group", and "troubled by being watched" connected to "embarrassed", among those with SAD. The SAD items were significantly associated with appearance anxiety, for example, "appearance satisfaction" was significantly associated with "easily talk to strangers", and "appearance concern" was significantly associated with "embarrassed". "Appearance satisfaction" and "appearance concern" were connected to appearance anxiety. ED was associated with all three aspects of appearance anxiety including "appearance concern," "appearance satisfaction," and "wish for good looks." ED was also connected with SAD indirectly by affecting appearance anxiety symptoms. Predictability estimations are displayed in the network analysis (Supplementary Table S2). "Fear of talking to group," "fear of the crowds," and the "appearance concern" nodes were best explained by the associated nodes in the three groups. This result indicated that the three symptoms were therefore more likely affected by other connected symptoms.

## 3.3. Network accuracy and centrality

As measured by non-parametric CIs, the precision of edges was found to be satisfactory, with lower CIs suggesting more accurate edge estimates (Supplementary Figure S1). A considerable number of edge weight comparisons were statistically significant, according to the bootstrapped difference tests (Supplementary Figure S3). Even when a large portion of the sample was dropped, the betweenness, closeness, and strength values remained steady using the case-dropping subset bootstrap approach (Supplementary Figure S2). Strength, betweenness, and closeness showed an excellent level of stability (CS-C = 0.75) among the three groups (SAD, appearance anxiety, ED).

## 3.4. Network comparison results

The comparison of network models between males and females was conducted. There was no significant difference in network global strength (p = 0.45) between the sexes. However, there was a significant difference between males and females

63

Variables	Total ( <i>N</i> = 96,218)	Male ( <i>N</i> = 40,065)	Female ( <i>N</i> = 56,153)	x <sup>2</sup> /T	<i>P</i> -value
Residence					
City	48,932 (50.9)	19,804 (49.4)	29,128 (51.9)	55.83	< 0.001
Town and county	47,286 (49.1)	20,261 (50.6)	27,026 (48.1)		
Ethnic					
Han	86,111 (89.5)	36,257 (90.5)	49,855 (88.8)	72.99	< 0.001
Others	10,107 (10.5)	3,808 (9.5)	6,299 (11.2)		
Family type					
Nuclear family	66,888 (69.5)	27,259 (68.0)	39,630 (70.6)	300.2	< 0.001
More than three generation	17,622 (18.3)	8,320 (20.8)	9,302 (16.6)		
Others	11,708 (12.2)	4,486 (11.2)	7,222 (12.8)		
Current annual income					
Under ¥6,000	28,624 (29.8)	11,284 (28.2)	17,341 (30.9)	233	< 0.001
¥6,000-13,999	31,212 (32.4)	12,677 (31.6)	18,535 (33)		
¥14,000-22,999	16,061 (16.7)	6,752 (16.9)	9,309 (16.6)		
¥23,000 and above	20,321 (21.1)	9,352 (23.3)	11,069 (19.7)		
Only-child					
Yes	45,660 (47.5)	22,349 (55.8)	23,311 (41.5)	1,909	< 0.001
No	50,558 (52.6)	17,716 (44.2)	32,843 (58.5)		
Age	$19.59 \pm 1.74$	$19.64 \pm 1.80$	$19.56\pm1.70$	6.52	< 0.001
SCOFF	$1.31 \pm 1.33$	$1.1 \pm 1.29$	$1.46 \pm 1.33$	-42.3	< 0.001
SASS	$11.08\pm5.48$	$10.02\pm5.46$	$11.83 \pm 5.37$	-51.3	< 0.001
AASBV	$38.71 \pm 9.42$	$38 \pm 9.28$	$39.21 \pm 9.49$	-19.6	< 0.001

#### TABLE 1 Descriptive statistical analysis.

SCOFF, the Sick, Control, One, Fat, Food questionnaire; SASS, the Social Anxiety Subscale of the Self-Consciousness Scale; AASBV, Appearance Anxiety Scale Brief Version.

in edge weights (p < 0.001). Figure 4 shows the significant differences in edge weights between males and females and the significant differences are described as follows. Compared with males, females showed stronger associations between "troubled by being watched" and "appearance concern", between "wish for good looks" and "easily talk to strangers", and finally between ED and "troubled by being watched". Compared with females, males showed stronger associations between "easily talk to strangers" and "appearance concern", between "easily talk to strangers" and "appearance concern", between "easily talk to strangers" and "appearance satisfaction", and between ED and "easily talk to strangers".

## 4. Discussion

This is the first study to use network analysis to explore symptom associations and potential mechanisms between SAD, ED, and appearance anxiety in a large sample of 96,218 in Jilin Province, China. The results among the three groups (total population, male, and female participants) showed that appearance anxiety was associated with both ED and SAD. The result indicates that there might be a potential relationship between ED and SAD by affecting the mechanism of appearance anxiety indirectly in young people. Furthermore, there are significant differences between the total scores of these three disorders, as well as the symptom associations between appearance anxiety, ED, and SAD in male and female participants.

The results of this study showed that ED was associated with all three aspects of appearance anxiety, including "appearance concern," "appearance satisfaction," and "wish for good looks." These results were consistent with previous studies. For example, a study demonstrated a moderate correlation between appearance anxiety and ED, and the mediating effect of appearance anxiety on body esteem and ED in a structural equation model (21). Another study found that among 518 American University students, which measured sociocultural attitudes toward appearance, these attitudes significantly predicted ED in male students (55). Levinson and Rodebaugh examined the interaction between appearance anxiety and ED using follow-up studies 6 months apart,



finding that appearance anxiety positively predicted ED and vice versa (22). These results could be explained by various other studies. First, University students were found to be more susceptible to social media perfection/pressures. This might lead them to develop a tendency to compare their appearance to others' perfect appearance, with negative self-appearance perceptions and appearance anxiety arising as a result of the comparison. They are more likely to develop ED to conform to social perfection (56). Second, fear of negative evaluation(s) may also be one of the reasons for the close relationship between appearance anxiety and ED symptoms (57). Third, studies have also suggested that individualized social ideals of appearance aggravate the link between appearance anxiety and ED (58). Similarly, and finally, negative emotions resulting from the comparison of actual and the perceived socially ideal appearance would increase the individual's negative perceptions of appearance and somatic disgust, thereby inducing ED-based symptoms. Since in our study appearance anxiety symptoms were closely related to ED symptoms, improving appearance anxiety might effectively reduce ED symptoms. Therefore, these results would help researchers develop interventions for ED patients to reduce appearance anxiety. Furthermore, positive emotions such as increased bodily appreciation might improve intuitive eating and promote relief of ED symptoms (59).

Symptom associations of appearance anxiety and SAD included connections between "appearance satisfaction" and "easily talk to strangers", "appearance concern" and "embarrassed", and "wish for good looks" and "easily talk to strangers". These findings were also consistent with previous studies. In a 2-year follow-up study, it was reported that SAD was associated with the frequency of appearance comparisons, self-perceived attractiveness, and social media comparisons. Furthermore, appearance comparison behavior significantly predicted SAD 1 year later (60). Another study showed that self-expression, willingness to communicate and non-verbal communication were all significantly related to appearance anxiety (61). This significant relationship was also supported in the results of the current study. Moreover, a study further confirmed that negative evaluation of appearance is closely related to SAD symptoms and confirmed the positive mutual prediction between the two disorders (8).

On the other hand, the results showed that individuals who do not value appearance might be more likely to converse with strangers. Actually, if an individual worries too much about their appearance, it is possible to cause embarrassment in interpersonal communication. This phenomenon could be explained from the following perspectives. University is a prominent time of increased attention to appearance while the



individual develops across the life course (62). Young adults with SAD are more likely to make inappropriate appearance comparisons, such as comparing themselves to a socially perfect image, which might exacerbate negative perceptions of appearance (63). In addition, individuals with SAD might have a vaguer self-concept, more negative cognitions about selfappearance, and quickly form the belief that others are more attractive than themselves (64, 65). This might also explain the results in this study, where symptoms of concern about appearance were more likely to be associated with symptoms of social embarrassment. A study also pointed out that positive peer relationships can negatively predict an individual's appearance comparison behaviors (64). Peer relationships are particularly important in the process of individual adolescent cognition and the formation of the basic social system; it is also one of the critical factors in the development of SAD (66). Difficulties with peer relationships might maintain and further develop negative appearance perceptions in individuals with SAD (67). The results of the present study further clarified the association between appearance anxiety symptoms and SAD symptoms. This is significant for guiding young people to establish a positive appearance that is not based on comparison. University students might rebuild their peers' social confidence if they develop a body positive perception

discourse of self-appearance. All of these factors contributed to the prevention and intervention of SAD among young adults. The results of this study confirmed that ED might have a potential relationship with SAD by affecting appearance anxiety indirectly. Appearance anxiety was a common risk factor for SAD and ED. Previous studies also confirmed this result. For example, Levinson et al. (22, 27) found that appearance anxiety was a bridge symptom between SAD and ED. Positive prediction of appearance anxiety in SAD and ED also have been suggested in a previous study (8). The findings could also help patients with SAD and ED comorbidities by conducting cognitive behavioral therapy or virtual reality exposure therapy (9, 68).

There were also significant differences in the total scores, as well as the symptom associations between appearance anxiety, ED, and SAD in male and female participants. Compared with males, females showed significantly stronger associations between appearance anxiety symptoms, as well as ED with "troubled by being watched" and "appearance concern". Previous studies also have reported that females are more likely to be concerned with the importance of their appearance than males (55, 60, 69). For instance, a study found that SAD and appearance anxiety were significantly higher in females than in males (60). Women also tend to make more physical comparisons than men (70). When individuals suffers from



appearance anxiety, including body image dissatisfaction and concerns about shape and weight, they are prone to have ED symptoms concurrently (29). Moreover, the associations between body dissatisfaction, having positive feeling about thinness, and ED have also been established (71, 72). In actuality, both males and females are under significant pressure from sociocultural factors, including messages from family, peers, the media, and the general public. These factors may be crucial in determining how males and females perceive themselves in terms of their physical attractiveness and beauty. Furthermore, because of the social acceptability signals that are shown in society and the media to form the ideal body image, women also consequently equate physical appearance-often in the form of thinness-with success, power, and pleasure (73). In order to maintain a certain social standing and to compete for societal advantages, it is therefore believed that the propensity for dieting and the desire to reduce weight are important values for females (74, 75). On the other hand, dissatisfaction in appearance anxiety is not merely the result of an individual's personal dissatisfaction with their body image, but is also influenced by the fear of negative evaluation by others. University women are the most susceptible population to negative evaluation by others. For example, in comparison to University males, University females are more affected by parental comments on their body image (76). Slater and Tiggemann (42, 77) also found that appearancerelated comments can lead to appearance anxiety in females. Significant gaps between actual and ideal types could lead to negative emotions, body shame, and anxiety in women, all of which are risk factors for psychiatric disorders such as ED (78– 80). All these factors might explain the more serious symptoms of appearance anxiety and ED in females compared with males.

This study explored the association of symptoms between SAD, ED, and appearance anxiety through network analysis. It was determined that ED might have a potential relationship with SAD by affecting appearance anxiety indirectly. Moreover, the dynamic relationship between SAD and appearance anxiety symptoms also revealed the maintenance and development of ED symptomology. Our results also provide more detailed information for interventions for the related psychological disorders. The possible development of interventions and symptoms of the disorders discussed, provide the basis for the mechanism of action in this research. This study has limitations to note. First, the study design was a cross-sectional study. Therefore, the causal relationship between ED, SAD, and appearance anxiety may not be representative. Second, this study mainly focuses on the interaction between SAD, ED, and appearance anxiety. The researchers did not measure all the potential variables that may affect these disorders, such



as depression and self-loathing as found by Szymanski and Henning (81), as well as appearance anxiety also affecting an individual's level of depression. While appearance anxiety was found to be associated with more incredible self-loathing in individuals (14), other variables, such as differences between urban and rural China and being an only child, could be examined in future research. Third, ED, SAD, and appearance anxiety were measured using self-report scales online, which may have resulted in recall bias. However, in order to avoid the impact of the pandemic, sending questionnaires online allowed for health and safety measures, and has been proven to be an effective method of recruitment (40). Moreover, while the Jilin Province was not in lockdown during the period of study, there still could have been an effect of COVID-19, particularly symptoms of anxiety which might bias the results of this study, inflating the resulting symptomology. Fourth, appearance anxiety can also exacerbate neurological symptoms (82). Therefore, in future research, neurological measurement should be added to explore relationships between appearance anxiety and neurological functioning. Finally, measures of body positivity should be used in the future to begin understanding the feasibility of creating an intervention for appearance anxiety.

## 5. Conclusion

Appearance anxiety was associated with both ED and SAD. ED may have a potential relationship with SAD by affecting appearance anxiety indirectly. Significant differences in symptom associations between appearance anxiety and SAD were further found among males and females. Females showed stronger associations between when being watched, worrying about their appearance, and symptoms of ED, and they tended to expect to be more attractive to reduce anxiety when talking to other people. The results of this study can help to guide the formation of body-positive interventions for young people and also provide additional ideas for intervening with SAD and ED.

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

## **Ethics statement**

The study involving human participants was reviewed and approved by Jilin University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

YaJ, YW, and SX: study design. SX, DG, YaJ, and XS: data collection and methodology. YuJ, YW, SX, AW, and CC: manuscript writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## Funding

This study was funded by the National Natural Science Foundation of China Program (NSFC), Grant number: 82201708.

## Acknowledgments

We thank all participants and staff who participated in this study.

## References

1. Kogan CS, Stein DJ, Maj M, First MB, Emmelkamp PM, Reed GM. The classification of anxiety and fear-related disorders in the ICD-11. *Depress Anxiety*. (2016) 33:1141–54. doi: 10.1002/da.22530

2. Bogels SM, Alden L, Beidel DC, Clark LA, Pine DS, Stein MB, et al. Social anxiety disorder: questions and answers for the DSM-V. *Depress Anxiety.* (2010) 27:168–89. doi: 10.1002/da.20670

3. Otto MW, Mark H, Pollack, M.aki KM, Gould RA, Iii JJW, Smoller JW, et al. Childhood history of anxiety disorders among adults with social phobia: Rates, correlates, and comparisons with patients with panic disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2001) 14:209–13. doi: 10.1002/da.1068

4. Hitchcock CA, Chavira DA, Stein MB. Recent findings in social phobia among children and adolescents. *Isr J Psychiatry Relat Sci.* (2009) 46:34–44.

5. Boer JAD. Social anxiety disorder/social phobia: epidemiology, diagnosis, neurobiology, and treatment. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2000) 41:405–15. doi: 10.1053/comp.2000.16564

6. Ollendick TH, Hirshfeld-Becker DR. The developmental psychopathology of social anxiety disorder. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2002) 51:44–58. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01305-1

7. Koyuncu A, Ince E, Ertekin E, Tukel R. Comorbidity in social anxiety disorder: diagnostic and therapeutic challenges. *Drugs Context.* (2019) 8:212573. doi: 10.7573/dic.212573

8. Williams BM, Levinson CA. Negative beliefs about the self prospectively predict eating disorder severity among undergraduate women. *Eat Behav.* (2020) 37:101384. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2020.101384

9. Moscovitch DA, Rowa K, Paulitzki JR, Ierullo MD, Chiang B, Antony MM, et al. Self-portrayal concerns and their relation to safety behaviors and negative affect in social anxiety disorder. *Behav Res Ther.* (2013) 51:476-86. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2013.05.002

10. Moscovitch DA, Huyder V. The negative self-portrayal scale: development, validation, and application to social anxiety. *Behav Ther.* (2011) 42:183–96. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2010.04.007

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh. 2022.1044081/full#supplementary-material

11. Moscovitch DA. What is the core fear in social phobia? A new model to facilitate individualized case conceptualization and treatment. *Cogn Behav Pract.* (2009) 16:123–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2008.04.002

12. Dion KL, Keelan JP. Appearance anxiety as a dimension of social-evaluative anxiety: exploring the ugly duckling syndrome. *Contemp Soc Psychol.* (1990) 14:220–4.

13. Aderka IM, Gutner CA, Lazarov A, Hermesh H, Hofmann SG, Marom S. Body image in social anxiety disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and panic disorder. *Body Image*. (2014) 11:51–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.09.002

14. Levinson CA, Rodebaugh TL, White EK, Menatti AR, Weeks JW, Iacovino JM, et al. Social appearance anxiety, perfectionism, and fear of negative evaluation: distinct or shared risk factors for social anxiety and eating disorders? *Appetite.* (2013) 67:125–33. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2013.04.002

15. Dietel FA, Möllmann A, Bürkner P-C, Wilhelm S, Buhlmann U. Interpretation bias across body dysmorphic, social anxiety and generalized anxiety disorder—A multilevel, diffusion model account. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2021) 45:715–29. doi: 10.1007/s10608-020-10180-7

16. Claes L, Hart TA, Smits D, Van Den Eynde F, Mueller A, Mitchell JE. Validation of the social appearance anxiety scale in female eating disorder patients. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2012) 20:406–9. doi: 10.1002/erv.1147

17. Carr ER, Szymanski DM. Sexual objectification and substance abuse in young adult women. *Couns Psychol.* (2010) 39:39–66. doi: 10.1177/0011000010378449

18. Calogero RM. Objectification processes and disordered eating in British women and men. *J Health Psychol.* (2009) 14:394– 402. doi: 10.1177/1359105309102192

19. Aubrey JS, Henson JR, Hopper KM, Smith SE. A picture is worth twenty words (about the self): testing the priming influence of visual sexual objectification on women's self-objectification. *Commun Res Rep.* (2009) 26:271–84. doi: 10.1080/08824090903293551

20. American Psychiatric Association (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

21. Li Y. Linking body esteem to eating disorders among adolescents: a moderated mediation model. *J Health Psychol.* (2019) 25:1755–70. doi: 10.1177/1359105319886048

22. Levinson CA, Rodebaugh TL. Clarifying the prospective relationships between social anxiety and eating disorder symptoms and underlying vulnerabilities. *Appetite.* (2016) 107:38–46. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2016.07.024

23. Milos G, Spindler A, Schnyder U. Psychiatric comorbidity and Eating Disorder Inventory (EDI) profiles in eating disorder patients. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2004) 49:179–84. doi: 10.1177/070674370404900305

24. Fredrickson BL, Roberts T-A. Towers understanding women's lived experience and mental health risk. *Psychol Women Q.* (1997) 21:173–20+6. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.1997.tb00108.x

25. Fitzsimmons-Craft EE, Bardone-Cone AM, Kelly KA. Objectified body consciousness in relation to recovery from an eating disorder. *Eat Behav.* (2011) 12:302–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2011.09.001

26. Burney J, Irwin HJ. Shame and guilt in women with eating-disorder symptomatology. *J Clin Psychol.* (2000) 56:51-61. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-4679(200001)56:1<51::aid-jclp5>3.0.co;2-w

27. Levinson CA, Brosof LC, Vanzhula I, Christian C, Jones P, Rodebaugh TL, et al. Social anxiety and eating disorder comorbidity and underlying vulnerabilities: Using network analysis to conceptualize comorbidity. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2018) 51:693–709. doi: 10.1002/eat.22890

28. Pallister E, Waller G. Anxiety in the eating disorders: understanding the overlap. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2008) 28:366–86. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2007.07.001

29. Levinson CA, Rodebaugh TL. Social anxiety and eating disorder comorbidity: the role of negative social evaluation fears. *Eat Behav.* (2012) 13:27–35. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2011.11.006

30. Hardy A, O'driscoll C, Steel C, Gaag MVD, Berg DVD. A network analysis of post-traumatic stress and psychosis symptoms. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:2485–92. doi: 10.1017/S0033291720001300

31. Fried EI, Boschloo L, Borkulo CDV, Cramer ALOJ, Schoevers RA, Borsboom D. Mental disorders as networks of problems: a review of recent insights. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2017) 52:1–10. doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1319-z

32. Borsboom D. A network theory of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:5–13. doi: 10.1002/wps.20375

33. Borsboom D, Cramer AOJ. Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology. *Ann Rev Clin Psychol.* (2013) 9:91–121. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185608

34. Wang Y, Ma Z, Wilson A, Hu Z, Ying X, Han M, et al. Psychopathological symptom network structure in transgender and gender queer youth reporting parental psychological abuse: a network analysis. *BMC Med.* (2021) 19:215. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02091-5

35. Gay NG, Wisco BE, Jones EC, Murphy AD. Posttraumatic stress disorder symptom network structures: a comparison between men and women. *J Trauma Stress.* (2020) 33:96–105. doi: 10.1002/jts.22470

36. Jin Y, Xu S, Wang Y, Li H, Wang X, Sun X, et al. Associations between PTSD symptoms and other psychiatric symptoms among college students exposed to childhood sexual abuse: a network analysis. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2022) 13:2141508. doi: 10.1080/20008066.2022.2141508

37. Park SC, Kim D. The centrality of depression and anxiety symptoms in major depressive disorder determined using a network analysis. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 271:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.078

38. Ma Z, Wang D, Chen XY, Tao Y, Yang Z, Zhang Y, et al. Network structure of insomnia and depressive symptoms among shift workers in China. *Sleep Med.* (2022) 100:150–6. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2022.08.010

39. Van Rooijen G, Isvoranu AM, Kruijt OH, Van Borkulo CD, Meijer CJ, Wigman JTW, et al. A state-independent network of depressive, negative and positive symptoms in male patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 193:232–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2017.07.035

40. Wang Y, Hu Z, Feng Y, Wilson A, Chen R. Changes in network centrality of psychopathology symptoms between the COVID-19 outbreak and after peak. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020) 25:3140–9. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-00881-6

41. Jones PJ, Ma R, McNally RJ. Bridge centrality: a network approach to understanding comorbidity. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2021) 56:353–67. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2019.1614898

42. Slater A, Tiggemann M. Body image and disordered eating in adolescent girls and boys: a test of objectification theory. *Sex Roles.* (2010) 63:42–9. doi: 10.1007/s11199-010-9794-2

43. Keelan JPR, Dion KK, Dion KL. Correlates of appearance anxiety in late adolescence and early adulthood among young women. *J Adolesc.* (1992) 15:193–205. doi: 10.1016/0140-1971(92)90047-9

44. Zheng Y, Sun Q. Testing objectification theory with Chinese undergraduate women and men. *Soc Behav Person.* (2017) 45:629–39. doi: 10.2224/sbp.5892

45. Fenigstein A, Scheier MF, Buss AH. Public and private selfconsciousness: assessment and theory. *J Consult Clin Psychol.* (1975) 43:522–7. doi: 10.1037/h0076760

46. Ren Y, Yang J, Liu L. Social anxiety and internet addiction among rural left-behind children: the mediating effect of loneliness. *Iran J Public Health.* (2017) 46:1659–68.

47. Morgan JF, Reid F, Lacey JH. The SCOFF questionnaire. West J Med. (2000) 172:164. doi: 10.1136/ewjm.172.3.164

48. Epskamp S, Borsboom D, Fried EI. Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav Res Methods*. (2018) 50:195–212. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0862-1

49. Epskamp S, Cramer AO, Waldorp LJ, Schmittmann VD, Borsboom D. qgraph: network visualizations of relationships in psychometric data. *J Stat Softw.* (2012) 48:1–18. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i04

50. Borkulo CV, Bork RV, Tio P, Schoevers R. Comparing network structures on three aspects: a permutation test. *Psychol Methods.* (2022). doi: 10.1037/met0000476

51. Chernick MR. Bootstrap Methods: A Guide for Practitioners and Researchers. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons (2011).

52. Costenbader E, Valente TW. The stability of centrality measures when networks are sampled. *Soc Netw.* (2003) 25:283–307. doi: 10.1016/S0378-8733(03)00012-1

53. Epskamp S, Fried EI. A tutorial on regularized partial correlation networks. *Psychol Methods*. (2018) 23:617. doi: 10.1037/met0000167

54. Borkulo CV, Epskamp S, Jones P, Haslbeck J, Millner A. Package 'NetworkComparisonTest'. (2015). Available online at: https://cran.r-project.org/ web/packages/NetworkComparisonTest/index.html

55. Turel T, Jameson M, Gitimu P, Rowlands Z, Mincher J, Pohle-Krauza R. Disordered eating: Influence of body image, sociocultural attitudes, appearance anxiety and depression—A focus on college males and a gender comparison. *Cogent Psychol.* (2018) 5. doi: 10.1080/23311908.2018.1483062

56. Shisslak CM, Crago M. Risk and Protective Factors in the Development of Eating Disorders. Body Image, Eating Disorders, and Obesity in Youth: Assessment, Prevention, and Treatment. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2001).

57. Lundgren JD, Anderson DA, Thompson JK. Fear of negative appearance evaluation: development and evaluation of a new construct for risk factor work in the field of eating disorders. *Eat Behav.* (2004) 5:75–84. doi: 10.1016/S1471-0153(03)00055-2

58. Cotter EW, Kelly NR, Mitchell KS, Mazzeo SE. An investigation of body appreciation, ethnic identity, and eating disorder symptoms in black women. J Black Psychol. (2013) 41:3–25. doi: 10.1177/0095798413502671

59. Koller KA, Thompson KA, Miller AJ, Walsh EC, Bardone-Cone AM. Body appreciation and intuitive eating in eating disorder recovery. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2020) 53:1261–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.23238

60. Rapee RM, Magson NR, Forbes MK, Richardson CE, Johnco CJ, Oar EL, et al. Risk for social anxiety in early adolescence: longitudinal impact of pubertal development, appearance comparisons, and peer connections. *Behav Res Ther.* (2022) 154:104126. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2022.104126

61. Öcal T, Metin SN. Examination of the relationship between social appearance anxiety and communication skills of faculty of sport sciences students. *Educ Q Rev.* (2022) 5. doi: 10.31014/aior.1993.05.01.438

62. Kingery JN, Erdley CA, Marshall KC, Whitaker KG, Reuter TR. Peer experiences of anxious and socially withdrawn youth: an integrative review of the developmental and clinical literature. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* (2010) 13:91–128. doi: 10.1007/s10567-009-0 063-2

63. Webb HJ, Zimmer-Gembeck MJ, Donovan CL. The appearance culture between friends and adolescent appearance-based rejection sensitivity. *J Adolesc.* (2014) 37:347–58. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2014. 02.008

64. Rapee RM, Forbes MK, Oar EL, Richardson CE, Johnco CJ, Magson NR, et al. Testing a concurrent model of social anxiety in preadolescence. *Int J Behav Dev.* (2020) 44:505–14. doi: 10.1177/0165025420912014

65. Ranta K, Tuomisto MT, Kaltiala-Heino R, Rantanen P, Marttunen M. Cognition, imagery and coping among adolescents with social anxiety and phobia: testing the Clark and Wells model in the population. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2014) 21:252–63. doi: 10.1002/cpp.1833

66. Rapee RM, Oar EL, Johnco CJ, Forbes MK, Fardouly J, Magson NR, et al. Adolescent development and risk for the onset of socialemotional disorders: a review and conceptual model. *Behav Res Ther.* (2019) 123:103501. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.103501

67. Wong QJJ, Rapee RM. The aetiology and maintenance of social anxiety disorder: a synthesis of complimentary theoretical models and formulation of a new integrated model. *J Affect Disord.* (2016) 203:84–100. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.069

68. Hildebrand AS, Roesmann K, Planert J, Machulska A, Otto E, Klucken T. Self-guided virtual reality therapy for social anxiety disorder: a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials.* (2022) 23:395. doi: 10.1186/s13063-022-06320-x

69. Quittkat HL, Hartmann AS, Düsing R, Buhlmann U, Vocks S. Body dissatisfaction, importance of appearance, and body appreciation in men and women over the lifespan. *Front Psychiatry.* (2019) 10:864. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00864

70. Blumenthal H, Leen-Feldner EW, Babson KA, Gahr JL, Trainor CD, Frala JL. Elevated social anxiety among early maturing girls. *Dev Psychol.* (2011) 47:1133–40. doi: 10.1037/a0024008

71. Fairburn CG, Cooper Z, Shafran R. Cognitive behaviour therapy for eating disorders: a "transdiagnostic" theory and treatment. *Behav Res Ther.* (2003) 41:509–28. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7967(02)00088-8

72. Ahern AL, Bennett KM, Hetherington MM. Internalization of the ultrathin ideal: positive implicit associations with underweight fashion models are associated with drive for thinness in young women. *Eat Disord.* (2008) 16:294– 307. doi: 10.1080/10640260802115852

73. Strahan EJ, Wilson AE, Cressman KE, Buote VM. Comparing to perfection: how cultural norms for appearance affect social comparisons and self-image. *Body Image*. (2006) 3:211–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2006.07.004

74. Conley A, Boardman JD. Weight overestimation as an indicator of disordered eating behaviors among young women in the United States. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2007) 40:441–5. doi: 10.1002/eat.20383

75. Gatward N. Anorexia nervosa: an evolutionary puzzle. *Eur Eat Disord Rev.* (2007) 15:1–12. doi: 10.1002/erv.718

76. Schwartz DJ, Phares V, Tantleff-Dunn S, Thompson JK. Body image, psychological functioning, and parental feedback regarding physical appearance. *Int J Eat Disord.* (1999) 25:339–43. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-108X(199904)25:3<39::AID-EAT13>3.0. CO;2-V

77. Slater A, Tiggemann M. A test of objectification theory in adolescent girls. Sex Roles. (2002) 46:343–9. doi: 10.1023/A:1020232714705

78. Jones BA, Griffiths KM. Self-objectification and depression: an integrative systematic review. *J Affect Disord.* (2015) 171:22-32. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014. 09.011

79. Tiggemann M, Williams E. The role of self-objectification in disordered eating, depressed mood, and sexual functioning among women. *Psychol Women Q.* (2011) 36:66–75. doi: 10.1177/036168431 1420250

80. Moradi B, Huang Y-P. Objectification theory and psychology of women: A decade of advances and future directions. *Psychol Women Q*. (2008) 32:377–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.00452.x

81. Szymanski DM, Henning SL. The role of self-objectification in women's depression: a test of objectification theory. *Sex Roles.* (2006) 56:45–53. doi: 10.1007/s11199-006-9147-3

82. Koskina A, Van Den Eynde F, Meisel S, Campbell IC, Schmidt U. Social appearance anxiety and bulimia nervosa. *Eat Weight Disord.* (2011) 16:e142–5. doi: 10.1007/BF03325321

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Paolo Cotrufo, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

#### REVIEWED BY Juan Manuel Acuna,

Khalifa University, United Arab Emirates Stefania Cella, University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Takeo Fujiwara ⊠ fujiwara.hlth@tmd.ac.jp

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Children and Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pediatrics

RECEIVED 07 May 2022 ACCEPTED 05 December 2022 PUBLISHED 09 January 2023

#### CITATION

Ishikawa N, Koyama Y, Doi S, Isumi A and Fujiwara T (2023) Association between subjective degree of influence in class and thinness among adolescents in Japan. Front. Pediatr. 10:938139. doi: 10.3389/fped.2022.938139

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Ishikawa, Koyama, Doi, Isumi and Fujiwara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Association between subjective degree of influence in class and thinness among adolescents in Japan

Nanako Ishikawa<sup>1</sup>, Yuna Koyama<sup>1</sup>, Satomi Doi<sup>1,2</sup>, Aya Isumi<sup>1,2</sup> and Takeo Fujiwara<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Global Health Promotion, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Tokyo, Japan, <sup>2</sup>Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS), Tokyo, Japan

Social status in school, measured by subjective degree of influence in class (DOI), may influence thinness among adolescents. This study examined the association between subjective degree of influence in class and thinness among Japanese adolescents. Data were obtained from the Kochi Child Health Impact of Living Difficulty (K-CHILD) study in 2016, which Was a population-based study targeting 5th, 8th and 11th grade adolescents living in Kochi Prefecture, Japan (N = 9,998). DOI was assessed by adolescents *via* guestionnaire. Weight and height were given by caregivers for 5th grade adolescents, whilst they were self-reported for 8th and 11th grade adolescents. Collected data on weight and height were used to calculate body mass index z-scores of WHO standards. Models included grade, gender, number of friends, household income, location of school and depressive symptoms as covariates. The results showed that both high and low DOI were positively associated with thinness after adjustment for other individual covariates (high DOI, OR = 1.59, 95% CI 1.05-2.43; low DOI, OR = 2.04, 95% CI 1.36-3.06). Further stratification by gender revealed that low DOI was positively associated with thinness (OR = 2.14, 95% Cl 1.34-3.44) among boys, but there was no association among girls. Both high and low DOI were associated with the risk of being thin in adolescents. Focusing on DOI for adolescents may be important to address thinness among adolescents. Further studies are needed to examine the causality between DOI and thinness in adolescents.

KEYWORDS

degree of influence, thinness, social comparison, adolescence, school

## Introduction

Thinness in adolescence can affect health in many aspects; it can affect individual's physical health (1) and mental health, including eating disorder (2–5), which increases the risk of anxiety disorders and depressive disorders (1). Thinness could also affect the health of the future generation through various mechanisms; one of which is small-for-gestational age (SGA) (6). That is, low maternal pregravid BMI increases the incidence of SGA (6, 7), and SGA is associated with childhood poor neurological development including poor school performance as well as adulthood physical and psychological health (6, 8–10). Although further studies are required, paternal thinness may also

affect SGA (11, 12). Thus, thinness in adolescence is not only a problem for adolescents themselves but also for the future generation.

To prevent thinness, it is needed to elucidate its determinants. Well-known determinants of thinness include socioeconomic status and subjective social status. For example, one study has shown a positive association between high subjective social status and thinness among South Korean women (13). Other studies in developed countries such as England (14) and Scotland (14, 15) reported that children living in more deprived areas were more likely to be thin than those living in the least deprived areas. Furthermore, number of studies in developing countries showed association between low socioeconomic status and thinness (14, 16).

However, there is no previous study exploring the association between thinness and social status unique to adolescents in developed countries. We propose the use of subjective degree of influence in class (DOI), an indicator of social status within school classroom, to determine its relationship with thinness in adolescence. DOI can measure social status of adolescents, which is largely influenced by social comparison between peers at school. According to social comparison theory, social comparison is the tendency to compare oneself to others to understand where and how one fits in society and it can possibly cause changes in individuals (17-19). As peers can be extremely important targets of social comparison for adolescents (19, 20), peers shape many behaviors and cognitions of adolescents, including setting norms and expectations related to appearance concerns (19, 21).

We hypothesize that both low and high DOI would be associated with thinness for girls and muscularity for boys, albeit with different mechanisms. Adolescents with low DOI may have a higher risk of being thin, compared to those with moderate DOI. This is because women tend to evaluate their appearance against women who they perceive to be superior to themselves (18), (i.e., peers with higher DOI) and past studies reported that common ideal regarding appearance is thinness for women and muscularity for men (22, 23). From these findings, social comparison targets of adolescents with low DOI are likely to be peers who are thinner or muscular than themselves, and they may take extreme measures to lose weight, eventually becoming thin.

Adolescents with high DOI, on the other hand, could compare their appearances to peers in the same social groups, such as within friendship groups (i.e., peers with same DOI). Previous study suggested that in high-income countries, school friends tend to have similar Body Mass Index (BMI), and an individual belonging to a friendship group with a high frequency of reported dieting and weight loss reported the following more frequently on average: dieting and peer pressure to lose weight to become thin (24). Additionally, girls are more prone to peers' dieting and weight control behaviors (25). Therefore, girls in the high DOI group could be pressured heavily to be thin through comparison with other slim members of the same DOI group as well as to maintain peer likeability (26). For boys with high DOI, although there are scarce literature on boys' thinness and body image (26), a preceding study revealed that among boys there were significant associations between friends' muscle-enhancing behaviors (25). Thus, we hypothesize that girls with high DOI will have a higher prevalence of being thin, and boys with high DOI will gain muscle whilst losing fat, resulting in a higher prevalence of being thin compared to those with moderate DOI.

To summarize, we hypothesize that adolescents with higher or lower DOI than average will have a higher risk of being thin. It is important to elucidate the association between DOI and thinness in adolescents for the following reasons. First, DOI is a measure that can be easily measured by adolescents themselves (21), allowing them to monitor the risk of thinness by themselves. Second, if DOI is modifiable through internvention at school, it will be possible to prevent thinness among adolescents. Third, DOI is a measure applicable to children from elementary to high school. Thus, it allows an early intervention of thinness at the start of puberty, minimizing the negative effects of thinness on development.

To investigate the association between DOI and thinness, Japan is one of the most appropriate countries, because, among the OECD countries, its proportion of thinness is one of the highest (5, 6), which results in the second-highest prevalence of low-birth-weight infants (27, 28). In addition, self-esteem of adolescents is low, possibly due to high peer pressure (29), which is strongly related with DOI. Thus, this study aimed to examine the association between DOI and thinness amongst adolescents, for both boys and girls, in Japan.

## Materials and methods

## Study designs and subjects

We used cross-sectional data collected in 2016 in the Kochi Child Health Impact of Living Difficulty (K-CHILD) study, which was a population-based study established to evaluate the determinants of health among children and their caregivers in Kochi Prefecture, Japan (30). Self-report questionnaires were distributed to adolescents enrolled in 5th, 8th and 11th grade in Kochi prefecture except for those enrolled in correspondence high schools and special needs schools. In total, 18,290 adolescents received the questionnaires. In Kochi City, the questionnaires were returned via mail, and outside of Kochi City, they were collected and returned via school. A total of 11,200 returned the questionnaires (participation rate: 61.2%) and 11,184 of them contained a valid response (valid response rate: 61.1%). Among these valid responses, 1,902 responses were excluded as the outcome of interests and exposure (i.e., data on thinness and DOI) were missing, and 4 responses of adolescents in 11th grade with invalid birth year values were excluded, resulting in the analytic sample size of 9,278 (see Figure 1).

## Measurements

## Thinness

Weight and height were reported by caregivers for 5th grade adolescents, whilst they were self-reported for 8th and 11th grade adolescents. BMI was calculated according to the WHO Child Growth Standards and was expressed as z-scores, representing the deviations in standard deviation units from the mean of a standard normal distribution of BMI specific to age and sex (31, 32). Following the cut-off point recommended by the WHO, BMI-for-age z-score < -2SD was defined as thinness among adolescents (33, 34). To see the components of BMI, height was also used as a secondary outcome, converting z-scores specific to age and sex according to the WHO Child Growth Standards (33). For analysis, as we are interested in thinness, i.e., taller height, height-for-age zscore >=1SD was defined as tallness among adolescents.

## Degree of influence (DOI)

DOI was assessed by adolescents *via* a questionnaire, which was used in the previous study (30). We asked the question "How influential are your opinions and behaviors on your classmates?" and the answer choices were "1 = not at all", "2 = a little", "3 = to some extent", "4 = very much". For analysis, we categorized them into three divisions: high, moderate, and low. In the current study, "4 = very much" was categorized as high, "3 = to some extent" and "2 = a little" as moderate, and "1 = not at all" as low.

## Covariates

Covariates in the models included grade (5th, 8th, 11th), gender (boy, girl), number of friends one can share their worries with, household income, location of school (within Kochi City, outside Kochi City), and depressive symptoms. The rationale of these covariates is as follows. First, a previous study showed that the distribution of DOI was different for each grade (30), and in a different study conducted in Japan the prevalence of thinness differed with age in adolescents (35). Second, there was a difference in



DOI distribution between boys and girls (30), and women tend to have a drive for thinness whilst men have a greater drive for muscularity, suggesting that pathways leading to thinness vary by gender (22, 23). Third, self-reported number of friends is positively associated with DOI (30), and weight status was also associated with the number of confidants in adolescents (36). Fourth, although inconsistent, previous studies reported that thinness is associated with household income (37-39). Household income also impacts one's perceived social rank (40), which is one's perceptions of the degree to which one feels inferior to others and looked down on (41). The link between household income and social rank may be weak in adolescents (30); nonetheless, awareness of one's economic status in class could influence DOI especially for adolescents of older age. Fifth, DOI distribution differed by location of school in the previous study (30), and many studies have shown that distribution of body weight in adolescents was associated with urban/rural difference (42). Lastly, females with thinness were more likely to show depressive symptoms (43), and adolescents with low self-reported social status were at higher risk of depression compared to those reporting medium or high social status (44). Thus, depression can be a confounder in this study. To assess depressive symptoms, we used the Japanese version of the Depression Self-Rating Scale (DSRS), modified from the English version (45). The total score ranged from 0 to 30, and a higher score indicated more severe depressive symptoms.

## Statistical analyses

To examine the association between DOI and thinness among adolescents, multiple logistic regression analyses were used. For Model 1, the following covariates were included: grade, gender, number of friends, household income, and location of the school. In addition to covariates in Model 1, depressive symptoms were added in Model 2. Further stratification by gender was conducted for both analyses on the associations between DOI and thinness and DOI and height, as these associations may differ by gender due to the following reasons. Women tend to have a drive for thinness, whilst men tend to have a drive for muscularity (22, 23). Analyses were performed with STATA SE statistical package, version 15 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, USA).

## Result

Demographic characteristics of the analytical sample are shown in **Table 1**. The percentages of boys and girls were similar (49.9% to 50.2%). More than half of the households reported a household income of JPY3.00–8.99 million

(USD1= JPY110, as of Oct 2016). The percentage of children attending schools within Kochi City, the capital city of Kochi prefecture, and those attending schools outside Kochi City were 47.5% and 52.6%, respectively. More than half (58.5%) of the children reported that the number of friends one can share their worries with was above 3. Thinness was observed in 290 (3.1%) of the sample (boys 185 (2.0%), girls 105 (1.1%)). Around one-tenth reported that their DOI was "high" or "low". There were no major differences in the distribution of DOI for boys and girls. DOI progressively decreased with age; in the high DOI group, proportion of 5th grade children was the highest (41.6%), and 11th grade children was the lowest (28.5%). On the other hand, proportion of low DOI group was the highest in the 11th grade children (49.9%). Furthermore, urban/rural difference in DOI distribution was observed. High DOI was more likely found among children outside Kochi City (61.5%) compared to children in Kochi City (38.5%). High DOI children had larger number of friends, that is, 50.6% of the high DOI group reported that they have more than 5 friends one can share their worries with, which was higher than moderate DOI group (38.5%) and low DOI group (15.8%). Moreover, depressive symptoms were higher among children in low DOI group compared to moderate DOI group, and moderate DOI children showed higher depressive symptoms than high DOI group.

Table 2 shows the association between DOI and thinness among all children and stratified by gender. Interestingly, we found a U-shaped association between DOI and thinness; both children with high and low DOI showed significant association with thinness (high DOI, odds ratio (OR) = 1.65, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.16-2.35; low DOI, OR = 2.32, 95% CI 1.68-3.18) in comparison with children with moderate DOI in the crude model. After covariate adjustment, both high and low DOI remained significantly associated with thinness (high DOI, OR = 1.59, 95% CI 1.05-2.43; low DOI, OR = 2.04, 95% CI 1.36-3.06). As for gender stratification, we found different associations between DOI and thinness; among boys, low DOI was positively associated with thinness (OR = 2.13, 95% CI 1.34-3.43), while high DOI did not show significant association with thinness (OR = 1.55, 95% CI 0.89-2.70). Among girls, high and low DOI were not statistically significantly associated with thinness in adjusted model (high DOI, OR = 1.63, 95% CI 0.85-3.13; low DOI, OR = 1.58, 95% CI 0.69-3.64).

**Table 3** shows the association between DOI and height. High DOI was positively associated with greater height (OR = 1.55, 95% CI 1.14–2.12), whilst low DOI was not associated with greater height (OR = 0.89, 95% CI 0.57–1.40). High DOI was positively associated with greater height for boys (OR = 1.94, 95% CI 1.42–2.66). No significant association was seen between DOI and greater height for girls (high DOI, OR = 1.05, 95% CI 0.60–1.86; low DOI, OR = 0.97, 95% CI 0.47–2.00).

Variables		Degree of influence						Total ( <i>N</i> = 9,278)	
		High ( <i>N</i> = 8	378) 9.5%	Mode ( <i>N</i> = 7,563		Low ( <i>N</i> = 8	37) 9.0%		
		N or Mean	% or SD	N or Mean	% or SD	N or Mean	% or SD	N or Mean	% or SD
School Grade	5th	365	41.6	2,155	28.5	152	18.2	2,672	28.8
	8th	263	30.0	2,476	32.7	267	31.9	3,006	32.4
	11th	250	28.5	2,932	38.8	418	49.9	3,600	38.8
Gender	Воу	496	56.5	3,706	49.0	423	50.5	4,625	49.9
	Girl	382	43.5	3,857	51.0	414	49.5	4,653	50.2
Household Income	0 JPY	13	1.5	105	1.4	19	2.3	137	1.5
	1-2.99M JPY	146	16.6	1,311	17.3	189	22.6	1,646	17.7
	3.00–5.99 M JPY	256	29.2	2,402	31.8	252	30.1	2,910	31.4
	6.00–8.99 M JPY	213	24.3	1,558	20.6	134	16.0	1,905	20.5
	≧9.00 M JPY	88	10.0	767	10.1	69	8.2	924	10.0
	Unknown/missing	162	18.5	1,420	18.8	174	20.8	1,756	18.9
Location of School	Within Kochi City	338	38.5	3,594	47.5	470	56.2	4,402	47.5
	Outside Kochi City	540	61.5	3,969	52.5	367	43.9	4,876	52.6
No. of friends you can	0	63	7.2	813	10.8	283	33.8	1,159	12.5
share your worries with	1-2	172	19.6	1,896	25.1	255	30.5	2,323	25.0
	3-4	156	17.8	1,642	21.7	140	16.7	1,938	20.9
	≧5	444	50.6	2,915	38.5	132	15.8	3,491	37.6
	Missing	43	4.9	297	3.9	27	3.2	367	4.0
Depressive symptoms (0-30)		6.57	5.2	9.37	5.2	14.03	6.1	9.53	5.5
Thinness <sup>a</sup>	+	38	4.3	202	2.7	50	6.0	290	3.1
	-	840	95.7	7,361	97.3	787	94.0	8,988	96.9
Tallness <sup>b</sup>	+	70	8.0	345	4.6	33	3.9	448	4.8
	-	808	92.0	7,217	95.4	804	96.1	8,829	95.2

#### TABLE 1 Sample characteristics (N = 9,278).

<sup>a</sup>Thinness was defined as BMI-for-age z-score WHO Growth reference 5-19 years < -2SD.

<sup>b</sup>Tallness was defined as height-for-age z-score WHO Growth reference 5–19 years>= 1SD. Abbreviation: JPY, Japanese Yen.

## Discussion

In the current study, adolescents with both high and low DOI were more likely to be thin compared to moderate DOI. Furthermore, when stratified by gender, low DOI showed a significant positive association with thinness among boys. In addition, high DOI showed a positive association with greater height, and when stratified by gender, high DOI showed a positive association with greater height among boys, whilst no association was seen among girls. Our findings on the positive association between high DOI and thinness accorded with the previous studies examining associations between social status and thinness in adults, such as the positive association between high subjective social status and thinness among South Korean women (13).

However, we could not deny the existence of unmeasured confounders, such as personality traits unique to high DOI children. A previous study has shown that in early adolescents, having energy and openness, both measured by the Big Five Personality Test, positively influence one's

#### TABLE 2 The association between degree of influence and thinness.

		Thinness <sup>a</sup>						
		(	Crude	N	1odel 1	N	lodel 2	
		OR	95% Cl	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	
Total (N = 9,278)								
Degree of influence	High	1.65	(1.16–2.35)	1.57	(1.03-2.38)	1.59	(1.05-2.43)	
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.		
	Low	2.32	(1.68-3.18)	2.12	(1.44-3.13)	2.04	(1.35-3.06)	
Boy ( <i>N</i> = 4,625)								
Degree of influence	High	1.43	(0.91-2.25)	1.45	(0.84-2.51)	1.55	(0.89-2.70)	
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.		
	Low	3.07	(2.11-4.45)	2.36	(1.50-3.71)	2.13	(1.34-3.43)	
Girl ( <i>N</i> = 4,653)								
Degree of influence	High	1.93	(1.10-3.38)	1.73	(0.91-3.29)	1.63	(0.85-3.13)	
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.		
	Low	1.17	(0.60-2.27)	1.42	(0.63-3.20)	1.58	(0.69-3.64)	

Bold indicates p < 0.05.

<sup>a</sup>Thinness was defined as BMI-for-age z-score WHO Growth reference 5–19 years < -2SD.

Model 1 adjusted for grade, gender, no. of friends, income, location of school.

Model 2 adjusted for depressive symptoms in addition to Model 1.

#### TABLE 3 The association between degree of influence and tallness.

		Tallness <sup>a</sup>					
		Crude		Model 1		Model 2	
		OR	95% CI	OR	95% Cl	OR	95% CI
Total ( <i>N</i> = 9,278)							
Degree of influence	High	1.80	(1.37–0.59)	1.61	(1.19–2.18)	1.55	(1.14-2.12)
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.	
	Low	0.85	(0.59–1.22)	0.92	(0.60-1.43)	0.89	(0.57-1.40)
Boy ( <i>N</i> = 4,625)							
Degree of influence	High	1.94	(1.42-2.66)	1.90	(1.31–2.73)	1.83	(1.25-2.68)
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.	
	Low	0.95	(0.62–1.47)	0.86	(0.49–1.51)	0.78	(0.43-1.40)
Girl ( <i>N</i> = 4,653)			_		_		
Degree of influence	High	1.24	(0.73-2.09)	1.04	(0.59–1.82)	1.05	(0.60-1.86)
	Moderate	ref.		ref.		ref.	
	Low	0.66	(0.35–1.27)	0.97	(0.48–1.97)	0.97	(0.47-2.00)

Bold indicates p < 0.05.

<sup>a</sup>Tallness was defined as height-for-age z-score WHO Growth reference 5–19 years >= 1SD.

Model 1 adjusted for grade, gender, no. of friends, income, location of school.

Model 2 adjusted for depressive symptoms in addition to Model 1.

perceived social acceptance (46). In other words, early adolescents who are social and have high intellectual curiosity are likely to regard themselves as being socially accepted by their schoolmates. Due to these traits, children with high DOI could gather information related to weight loss and beauty standards from media and friends. Frequent exposure to such topics along with their high intellectual curiosity may result in them attributing their popularity to their physical appearances, i.e., being thin, as extraversion is related to thinideal internalization (47). Thus, they are likely to lose weight to maintain their social position. Furthermore, there could be reverse causation. As friendship groups tend to mimic weightrelated behaviors (25), comparing one's weight to the thin group members will induce thinness in those who were not thin before.

The positive association between low DOI and thinness was also in line with the previous findings, such as the positive association between low economic status and thinness among children in England (14) and Scotland (14, 15), and can be explained by low self-esteem and psychological distress. Low DOI children may have low self-esteem, and it is known that compared to peers with high self-esteem, those with low selfesteem perceive more pressure from the media and peers regarding physical appearances, such as losing weight (48). However, these children will likely remain in the low DOI group even after losing weight, as their social standing in the classroom is already set. Similarly, psychological distress from being in the low DOI group could lead to thinness. Those with low social rank will have mental health problems such as depression and social anxiety (25, 44), and a recent study has revealed that chemogenetic inhibition of the same neurons induces anxiety, depression, and reduced feeding (49). Furthermore, neglect is a possible confounder which was unexplored in this study. Prior studies have shown that child neglect resulted in failure to thrive in infants and children (50). It is also reported that children who were victims of neglect reported lower self-esteem (51), limited peer interactions (51, 52), and unpopularity from peers (51, 53), which may lead to low DOI. Although current study to examine the association between DOI and thinness, an adolescent-unique measurement of social status, and thinness in adolescents, future studies including further assessments of potential confounders as well as longitudinal design were warranted.

We also found that the positive association between low DOI and thinness for boys remained significant when stratified by gender, whilst no association was seen between thinness and the following: high DOI for boys, high DOI for girls, and low DOI for girls. The positive association between low DOI and thinness for boys was in accordance with our hypothesis that boys with low DOI were driven to extreme musclebuilding behavior, which resulted in thinness. We noted the potential reverse causation related to the

sociocultural ideal body of boys, known as a V-shaped muscular build (26, 54, 55). That is, boys who are thin and not muscular, could report low DOI as they do not meet the sociocultural ideal. No statistically significant association between high or low DOI and thinness for girls may be an indication that social status may not be heavily influenced by body type for girls. However, as point estimates of the other associations were similar to all children samples, small sample size matters for non-significant associations. In addition, high DOI was positively associated with greater height for boys. This result was supported by past studies reporting that men who were taller often took on leadership roles within groups (56), and were often perceived as competent and talented by others (49, 56). Considering that there was no association between high DOI and thinness for boys, this result indicates boys may have a greater drive to be tall than to be thin.

There are several limitations to this study. First, due to a cross-sectional study, the causality of DOI and thinness could not be examined. Further longitudinal study is warranted to evaluate this causality. Second, the questionnaire was self-reported; measures such as weight and height used to calculate BMI were either reported by the parents or children themselves. However, the validity of self-reported BMI values of children has been proven previously (57). Third, there was no measurement of personality, such as the use of Big 5 personality test, needed to understand the pathway of DOI and thinness.

Despite these limitations, this is the first study to report the importance of the subjective social rank of children on their health using DOI, with both high and low levels of DOI positively associated with thinness among adolescents, suggesting that both high and low levels of DOI could be a precursor of thinness for adolescents. This study has several key implications. First, DOI could be a measure of social rank within classroom for adolescents, as the result of this study is consistent with previous studies which reported positive association between high subjective social status among adults and thinness (13), as well as low socioeconomic status among children and thinness (14, 15). Therefore, further investigation of the causal association between DOI and thinness can be conducted. Second, because DOI can be easily measured by adolescents themselves (21), measuring DOI will lead to prompt intervention and evaluation of the risk population. Lastly, it will be possible to prevent thinness among adolescents on a wide scale using DOI, a measure applicable to teenagers. DOI is a concept that is understandable for elementary school children, allowing prevention of thinness before the growth spurt. Furthermore, DOI will be an important measure not only for Japan but also for other countries, where students spend majority of their school life with their classmates.

In conclusion, both high and low DOI were associated with the risk of being thin in adolescents, which is one of the important risk factors of eating disorders. Focusing on DOI for adolescents may be important to address thinness among adolescents, and further studies are needed to examine the causality between DOI and thinness in adolescents.

## Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because it is the part of population-based study conducted by the corresponding author. However, upon a reasonable request, the datasets would be available from the corresponding author. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to TF, fujiwara.hlth@tmd.ac.jp.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Tokyo Medical and Dental University (M2017-243). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## Author contributions

NI: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Writing – Original Draft. YK: Writing – Review and Editing.

## References

1. Johnson JG, Cohen P, Kasen S, Brook JS. Eating disorders during adolescence and the risk for physical and mental disorders during early adulthood. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2002) 59(6):545–52. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.59.6.545

2. Russell JD, Mira M, Allen BJ, Stewart PM, Vizzard J, Arthur B, et al. Protein repletion and treatment in anorexia nervosa. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1994) 59(1):98–102. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/59.1.98

3. Turner JM, Bulsara MK, McDermott BM, Byrne GC, Prince RL, Forbes DA. Predictors of low bone density in young adolescent females with anorexia nervosa and other dieting disorders. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2001) 30(3):245–51. doi: 10.1002/eat.1081

4. Selzer R, Caust J, Hibbert M, Bowes G, Patton G. The association between secondary amenorrhea and common eating disordered weight control practices in an adolescent population. *J Adolesc Health*. (1996) 19(1):56–61. doi: 10.1016/1054-139X(95)00229-L

5. Takimoto H, Yoshiike N, Kaneda F, Yoshita K. Thinness among young Japanese women. *Am J Public Health.* (2004) 94(9):1592–5. doi: 10.2105/AJPH. 94.9.1592

6. Tsukamoto H, Fukuoka H, Koyasu M, Nagai Y, Takimoto H. Risk factors for small for gestational age. *Pediatr Int.* (2007) 49(6):985–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200X.2007.02494.x

7. Watanabe H, Inoue K, Doi M, Matsumoto M, Ogasawara K, Fukuoka H, et al. Risk factors for term small for gestational age infants in women with low prepregnancy body mass index. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* (2010) 36(3):506–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1447-0756.2010.01170.x

8. Barker DJP. The origins of the developmental origins theory. J Intern Med. (2007) 261(5):412-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2007.01809.x

SD: Investigation, Resources, Data Curation. AI: Investigation, Resources, Data Curation. TF: Supervision.

## Funding

This study was supported by Grants-in-Aid for Scientific Research and Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 16H03276, 19H04879, 22H05103).

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Lagerström M, Bremme K, Eneroth P, Magnusson D. School performance and IQ-test scores at age 13 as related to birth weight and gestational age. *Scand J Psychol.* (1991) 32(4):316–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450. 1991.tb00882.x

10. Wiles NJ, Peters TJ, Leon DA, Lewis G. Birth weight and psychological distress at age 45–51 years: results from the Aberdeen children of the 1950s cohort study. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2005) 187(1):21–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.187.1.21

11. Shah PS. Paternal factors and low birthweight, preterm, and small for gestational age births: a systematic review. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2010) 202 (2):103–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2009.08.026

12. Li J, Qiu J, Lv L, Mao B, Huang L, Yang T, et al. Paternal factors and adverse birth outcomes in Lanzhou, China. *BMC Pregnancy Childbirth*. (2021) 21(1):19. doi: 10.1186/s12884-020-03492-9

13. Park B, Cho HN, Choi E, Seo DH, Kim S, Park YR, et al. Self-perceptions of body weight status according to age-groups among Korean women: a nationwide population-based survey. *PLoS One*. (2019) 14(1):e0210486. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0210486

14. Pearce A, Rougeaux E, Law C. Disadvantaged children at greater relative risk of thinness (as well as obesity): a secondary data analysis of the England national child measurement programme and the UK millennium cohort study. *Int J Equity Health*. (2015) 14:61. doi: 10.1186/s12939-015-0187-6

15. Armstrong J, Dorosty AR, Reilly JJ, Emmett PM. Child health information T. Coexistence of social inequalities in undernutrition and obesity in preschool children: population based cross sectional study. *Arch Dis Child.* (2003) 88 (8):671–5. doi: 10.1136/adc.88.8.671

16. Moore S, Hall JN, Harper S, Lynch JW. Global and national socioeconomic disparities in obesity, overweight, and underweight status. *J Obes.* (2010) 2010:514674. doi: 10.1155/2010/514674

17. Festinger L. A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*. (1954) 7:117-40. doi: 10.1177/001872675400700202

18. Vartanian LR, Dey S. Self-concept clarity, thin-ideal internalization, and appearance-related social comparison as predictors of body dissatisfaction. *Body Image*. (2013) 10(4):495–500. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.05.004

19. Hildebrandt T, Shiovitz R, Alfano L, Greif R. Defining body deception and its role in peer based social comparison theories of body dissatisfaction. *Body Image*. (2008) 5(3):299–306. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2008.04.007

20. Berndt TJ. Transitions in friendship and friends' influence. In: Graber JA, Brooks-Gunn J, Petersen AC, editors. *Transitions through adolescence*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum (2018). p. 57–84.

21. Paxton SJ, Schutz HK, Wertheim EH, Muir SL. Friendship clique and peer influences on body image concerns, dietary restraint, extreme weight-loss behaviors, and binge eating in adolescent girls. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (1999) 108 (2):255–66. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.108.2.255

22. McCabe MP, Mavoa H, Ricciardelli LA, Schultz JT, Waqa G, Fotu KF. Sociocultural agents and their impact on body image and body change strategies among adolescents in Fiji, Tonga, tongans in New Zealand and Australia. *Obes Rev.* (2011) 12(Suppl 2):61–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00922.x

23. Holubcikova J, Kolarcik P, Madarasova Geckova A, Van Dijk JP, Reijneveld SA. Is subjective perception of negative body image among adolescents associated with bullying? *Eur J Pediatr.* (2015) 174(8):1035–41. doi: 10.1007/s00431-015-2507-7

24. Fletcher A, Bonell C, Sorhaindo A. You are what your friends eat: systematic review of social network analyses of young people's Eating behaviours and bodyweight. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2011) 65(6):548–55. doi: 10.1136/ jech.2010.113936

25. Eisenberg ME, Wall M, Shim JJ, Bruening M, Loth K, Neumark-Sztainer D. Associations between friends' disordered eating and muscle-enhancing behaviors. *Soc Sci Med.* (2012) 75(12):2242–9. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.08.024

26. McCabe MP, Ricciardelli LA. Body image dissatisfaction among males across the lifespan: a review of past literature. *J Psychosom Res.* (2004) 56(6):675–85. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(03)00129-6

27. Jaddoe VW, Troe EJ, Hofman A, Mackenbach JP, Moll HA, Steegers EA, et al. Active and passive maternal smoking during pregnancy and the risks of low birthweight and preterm birth: the generation R study. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* (2008) 22(2):162–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3016.2007.00916.x

28. Tamura N, Hanaoka T, Ito K, Araki A, Miyashita C, Ito S, et al. Different risk factors for very low birth weight, term-small-for-gestational-age, or preterm birth in Japan. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2018) 15(2):369. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15020369

29. Fujiwara T, Doi S, Isumi A, Ochi M. Association of existence of third places and role model on suicide risk among adolescent in Japan: results from A-CHILD study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:529818. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.529818.

30. Koyama Y, Fujiwara T, Isumi A, Doi S. Degree of influence in class modifies the association between social network diversity and well-being: results from a large population-based study in Japan. *Soc Sci Med.* (2020) 260:113170. doi: 10. 1016/j.socscimed.2020.113170

31. Cole TJ. The LMS method for constructing normalized growth standards. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1990) 44(1):45–60. PMID: 2354692

32. Koyama Y, Fujiwara T, Isumi A, Doi S. Is Japan's Child allowance effective for the well-being of children? A statistical evaluation using data from K-CHILD study. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20(1):1503–1503. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09367-0

33. Md O, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull W H O*. (2007) 85:660–7. doi: 10.2471/BLT.07.043497

34. World Health Organization. Growth reference data for 5–19 years: BMI-forage (5–19 years). https://www.who.int/tools/growth-reference-data-for-5to19years/indicators/bmi-for-age.

35. 2020 Annual Report of School Health Statistics Research. In: Ministry of Education C, Sports, Science and Technology, (2021).

36. Nishida A, Foo JC, Shimodera S, Nishida A, Okazaki Y, Togo F, et al. The association of weight status and weight perception with number of confidants in adolescents. *PLOS ONE*. (2019) 14(12):e0225908. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0225908

37. Noh J-W, Kim Y-e, Park J, Oh I-H, Kwon YD. Impact of parental socioeconomic status on childhood and adolescent overweight and underweight in Korea. J Epidemiol. (2014) 24(3):221–9. doi: 10.2188/jea.JE20130056

38. Mikolajczyk RT, Richter M. Associations of behavioural, psychosocial and socioeconomic factors with over- and underweight among German adolescents. *Int J Public Health*. (2008) 53(4):214–20. doi: 10.1007/s00038-008-7123-0

39. Ueda P, Kondo N, Fujiwara T. The global economic crisis, household income and pre-adolescent overweight and underweight: a nationwide birth cohort study in Japan. Int J Obes. (2015) 39(9):1414–20. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.90

40. Korndörfer M, Egloff B, Schmukle SC. A large scale test of the effect of social class on prosocial behavior. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10(7):e0133193. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0133193

41. Gilbert P. The relationship of shame, social anxiety and depression: the role of the evaluation of social rank. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2000) 7(3):174–89. doi: 10.1002/1099-0879(200007)7:3<174::AID-CPP236>3.0.CO;2-U

42. Johnson 3rd JA, Johnson AM. Urban-rural differences in childhood and adolescent obesity in the United States: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Obes.* (2015) 11(3):233–41. doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0085.

43. Cortese S, Falissard B, Angriman M, Pigaiani Y, Banzato C, Bogoni G, et al. The relationship between body size and depression symptoms in adolescents. *J Pediatr.* (2009) 154(1):86–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.07.040

44. Åslund C, Leppert J, Starrin B, Nilsson KW. Subjective social Status and shaming experiences in relation to adolescent depression. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2009) 163(1):55–60. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.163.1.55

45. Sato H, Arai K. The investigation of factor structure and normative data for depression self-rating scale for children (DSRS) Japanese version. *Bull Tsukuba Dev Clin Psychol.* (2002) 14:85–91.

46. Andrei F, Mancini G, Mazzoni E, Russo PM, Baldaro B. Social status and its link with personality dimensions, trait emotional intelligence, and scholastic achievement in children and early adolescents. *Learn Individ Differ*. (2015) 42:97–105. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2015.07.014

47. Martin SJ, Racine SE. Personality traits and appearance-ideal internalization: differential associations with body dissatisfaction and compulsive exercise. *Eat Behav.* (2017) 27:39–44. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2017.11.001

48. Ata RN, Ludden AB, Lally MM. The effects of gender and family, friend, and media influences on eating behaviors and body image during adolescence. *J Youth Adolesc.* (2007) 36(8):1024–37. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9159-x

49. Hensley WE, Cooper R. Height and occupational success: a review and critique. *Psychol Rep.* (1987) 60(3 Pt 1):843-9. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1987.60.3.843

50. Block RW, Krebs NF. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Child Abuse and Neglect, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Nutrition. Failure to thrive as a manifestation of child neglect. *Pediatrics*. (2005) 116(5):1234–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2032

51. Hildyard KL, Wolfe DA. Child neglect: developmental issues and outcomes. Child Abuse Negl. (2002) 26(6-7):679-95. doi: 10.1016/s0145-2134(02)00341-1

52. Kaufman J, Cicchetti D. Effects of maltreatment on school-age children's socioemotional development: Assessments in a day-camp setting. *Developmental Psychology*. (1989) 25(4):516–24. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.25.4.516

53. Erickson MF, Egeland B. Child neglect. In: Myers JEB, Berliner L, Briere , Hendrix CT, Jenny C, Reid TA, editors. *The APSAC Handbook on Child Maltreatment*. Sage Publications, Inc. (2002). p. 3–20.

54. Lawler M, Nixon E. Body dissatisfaction among adolescent boys and girls: the effects of body mass, peer appearance culture and internalization of appearance ideals. *J Youth Adolesc.* (2011) 40(1):59–71. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9500-2

55. Brunet J, Sabiston CM, Dorsch KD, McCreary DR. Exploring a model linking social physique anxiety, drive for muscularity, drive for thinness and self-esteem among adolescent boys and girls. *Body Image.* 2010;7(2):137–42. doi: 10.1016/j.bodyim.2009.11.004

56. Sorokowski P. Politicians' estimated height as an indicator of their popularity. Eur J Soc Psychol. (2010) 40(7):1302-9. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.710

57. Yoshitake N, Okuda M, Sasaki S, Kunitsugu I, Hobara T. Validity of self-reported body mass index of Japanese children and adolescents. *Pediatr Int.* (2012) 54(3):397–401. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-200X.2011.03541.x

## Frontiers in **Public Health**

## Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

## **Discover the latest Research Topics**



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

## Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



